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CORPORATE PROFILE
AFBEN

China Modern Dairy Holdings Limited (the "Company” or
"Modern Dairy” together with its subsidiaries, the "Group”) is
the leading dairy farming operator and fresh raw milk producer
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). Modern Dairy
operates 26 dairy farms in the PRC with dairy cows over 247
thousand heads and annual milk yield approximately 1.49 million
tons. The Company initiated the production model of “Zero-
distance Integration of Forage Grass Planting, Cows Breeding
and Milk Processing within Two Hours”, which is the first and
the only enterprise at present in the PRC that applies integrated
production model with SGS certification. Modern Dairy's
products have been awarded the Gold Prize of Monde Selection
which is generally regarded as the “Nobel Prize” in the food
industry, for the past seven consecutive years.
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“Farming diligently only for purity,
genuineness, freshness and vitality”
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China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. * HEIRAKEZERBRAF

HIGHLIGHTS
S

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

BZE12A31MBLEE

2020 2019 Change
20204 20194F 2%
(All amounts in Renminbi (“RMB”) (BR4EBIZIBASN » FrE S XELL
million unless otherwise stated) ARBTAREDEETIR)
Highlights BE
Revenue A 6,020.2 5,514.2 +9.2%
Gross profit before raw milk JREHD A EF AT EFR
fair value adjustments 2,458.7 2,101.9 +17.0%
Earnings before tax IR 784.4 350.4 +123.9%
Cash EBITDAM IR £ EBITDAM 2,264.9 2,045.5 +10.7%
Net gearing ratio®? SRIEIR RO 53.4% 77.0% (23.6) ppt
B
Profit attributable to owners of the AN RIEA A FE(G & T
Company 770.0 341.3 +125.6%
Free cash flow® BHRIBEERY 1.172.9 1,023.2 +14.6%
KEY PERFORMANCE DATA FEXEEFER
Earnings per share (RMB cents) BRENARED)
Basic HAK 12.07 5.54 +117.9%
Diluted e 12.04 5.52 +118.1%
Annualised milk yield in total FRENS(EM)
(ten thousand tons) 149 139 +7.2%
Herd scale (heads) ERIRE(EE) 247,371 233,618 +13,753
Notes: B5E -

m Cash EBITDA is defined as earnings before finance costs and tax
having added back: i) depreciation for property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets charged to profit or loss; i) other gains and
losses, net; iii) impairment losses under expected credit loss model,
net of reversal; and iv) loss arising from changes in fair value less costs

to sell of dairy cows.

@ The net gearing ratio was calculated on the basis of the amount of
total borrowings less cash and deposit assets as a percentage of the
total equity.

@ Free cash flow is defined as net cash from operating activities less net

cash used in investing activities.
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DIVIDEND

The Board recommended the payment of final dividend of
RMBO0.02 per ordinary share (2019: nil).

HIGHLIGHTS:

Historical Best Financial Performance: The Group's profitability
kept uplifting. For the year ended 31 December 2020, the profit
attributable to the owners of the Company recorded RMB770
million, representing a year-on-year (“yoy"”) growth of 126%.
Excluding the one-off gains from current year and last year,
profit for the year increased substantially by 277% yoy, marking a
historical best record;

Significant Increase in Free Cash Flow: The cash flow of the
Group was robust, with free cash flow increased significantly to
RMB1,173 million during the year, representing a yoy growth of
15%. Excluding the one-off items from current year and last year,
the free cash flow of the year increased substantially by 67% yoy;

Unit Yield and Total Production Breaking Record High: The
main operating indicators of the Group exceeded historical record.
During the year, the average annualized unit yield of each milkable
cow reached 11.1 tons, representing a yoy increase of 5%; the
total milk production during the year reached 1.49 million tons, an
increase of 7% yoy. Both the unit yield and total production have
outperformed and reached a record high;

Pragmatic Herd Expansion with Sound Scale: The Group
adopted a pragmatic herd expansion strategy. At the end of
current year, the Group had about 247.4 thousand dairy cows, a
steady yoy increase of 6% (or 13.8 thousand dairy cows), and the
herd achieved sustainable and healthy growth; and

Significant Reduction in Indebtedness: The Group has
implemented the strategy of reducing debts in an orderly manner
and has achieved remarkable results. The debt-to-asset ratio
dropped from 54% as at 31 December 2019 to 48% as of 31
December 2020. The interest-bearing borrowings decreased by
nearly RMB1 billion to RMB5.6 billion, or 14% yoy.
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China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. * HEIRAKEZERBRAF

HIGHLIGHTS
S

Production Volume (‘0,000 tons) Raw Milk Sales™ (Million)
RpEEZ (BW) RIGHEE (BERT)

2018 2019 2020 2018 2019 2020
Debt-to-asset Ratio (%) Interest-bearing Debt Ratio (%)
EEAMELE BRAME=E
58.9% 54.2% 52.2%
48.4% 47.8%
41.2%
2018 2019 2020 2018 2019 2020

Unit Yield of Milkable Cows Reached a Record High

RIS EERIBEEHS ¢
- °
Ton/head/year «®
W/ y 4

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Note: (1) Sales includes external sales and internal sales MEEE - (1) RINBIEE RIIA sHIRA
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FARM MAP
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China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. * HEIRAKEZERBRAF

PRODUCTS OF THE GROUP AND ASSOCIATES
SELRBENFEmM

FRESH RAW MILK

4 B R R

We operate a total of 26 dairy farms
with 247,371 dairy cows in total across
seven provinces in mainland China. Each
milkable cow on average can produce
11.1 tons of fresh pasture milk each year.
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PURE MILK WITH GOLD AWARD

B RALF 1

The pure milk is awarded gold prize at
Monde Selection for seven consecutive
years, produced by self-owned farms
with high-quality milk sources.
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HIGH CALCIUM MILK

B4

High in calcium from good dairy farms,
Modern Dairy High Calcium Milk contain
125mg of calcium per 100ml. Vitamin D
is specially added to facilitate calcium
absorption. The milk is nutritious, pure
and rich in taste.

SHEREHHSE  BRBEESSDHE
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PRODUCTS OF THE GROUP AND ASSOCIATES
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SKIMMED MILK

8 B 4473

Zero fat, light with nutrimental value,
zero lactose, easy to absorb. Getting
nutrition, being healthy, feeling the
sweetness, and stay fresh.
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WALNUT MILK

BBk 1

Made of finely-selected walnuts and
fresh quality raw milk, the mixed

walnut milk leave the consumers a rich
aftertaste.
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China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.  FEIRRMEZRBERDE

CEO’S STATEMENT
IWLI\ ﬁ $ﬁ th E

In 2020, faced with dual pressure arising from the pandemic
and international trade frictions, Modern Dairy achieved brilliant
performance by improving operational efficiency and focusing
on the upstream. As a pioneer in large-scale dairy industry, the
Company had not only been able to maintain its strength during
difficult times in the industry, but also demonstrated its advantages
during the upward cycle of the industry, significantly improving its
profitability and putting its business operations on a healthy track
of sustainable development. On behalf of the board of directors
of China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd., | am pleased to present the
annual results of Modern Dairy for the year ended 31 December
2020 to the shareholders.

As the leading dairy farming enterprise in the PRC, Modern Dairy,
on the 15th anniversary of its establishment, adhered to the original
intention of “fifteen-year persistence on exclusively producing
pasture milk”, ensuring the quality of raw milk from the source,
maintaining the glory of the dairy industry, and achieving a full-
scale, quality leap in performance during the reporting period.

“While producing milk, we are
more attentive to ecology,
environmental protection and
sustainable development.
Committed to providing high-
quality, high-nutrition fresh milk
for our country and the society.”

[EETERF  EHFEER
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GAO Lina,
SR
CEO of the Company
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During the year, our “Premium Pure Milk” product won the Gold
Award at the Monde Selection for seven consecutive years. Making
a grand appearance at the 11th China Dairy Congress and the
2020 China Dairy Exhibition and the 2020 China Dairy Top 20 (D20)
Summit, our new skimmed product demonstrated an innovative
production model of “Zero-distance Integration of Forage Grass
Planting, Cow Breeding and Milk Processing within Two Hours”,
which received high attention and unanimous praise from the
public. We actively fulfilled our social responsibility during the
epidemic prevention and control period and in the face of natural
disasters, demonstrating our significant responsibility as a leading
enterprise. We also fully implemented pandemic prevention and
control measures and strengthened safety management to ensure
zero infection among employees.
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CEO’S STATEMENT
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We made strenuous effort to focus on our performance. Our
core indicators reached new highs during the year, with both unit
production and total production reaching steady growth year
after year. We fully implemented cost reduction and production
increase measure, which resulted in a significant drop of cash cost
per kilogram of raw milk to RMB2.29 and an increase of annual cash
gross profit per lactating cow to RMB20,500, recording the highest
level since our establishment. We had been highly recognized by
the capital market, and our share price had increased by more than
60% in 2020 as compared with that in the beginning of the year,
with a total of 650 million shares under private placement.
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China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.  FEIRRMEZRBERDE

Modern Dairy has always promoted quality management and
creative culture, making continuous breakthroughs in operation,
management and farm planning, and has been widely recognized
by the industry. During the year, the Company became the host
of “Ke Niu Le (A]4T)", a high-end finished low-temperature milk
project jointly invested by China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited
("Mengniu”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Mengniu Group”)
and Coca-Cola. We focused on management innovation, centered
on the strategic plan of “cost reduction and production increase”,
launched projects covering the “Precision 1, Reduction 2, Minus
3" and the Cultivation Project, in an attempt to build a digital farm
and become a “fresh” practitioner of precision management in the
dairy industry.

In 2020, we remained confident and captured business
opportunities. Under the leadership of the Communist Party
Committee of COFCO and the Communist Party Committee of the
Mengniu Group, we successfully upgraded the Communist Party
Committee, created the Niuren (4~ A) party building brand, and
became the first enterprise Party Committee approved since the
establishment of the non-public integrated Party Committee in
Maanshan Economic Development Zone. We actively participated
in the formulation of industry standards and assisted China Dairy
Association in drafting the “Rating and Evaluation of Dairy Farms
in the Modern Dairy Industry GRRINZEFE 435 7 AR ELFT(E)"
group standard, and became the first batch of modern dairy farm
rating and evaluation center.

It is believed that, under the new development pattern of “taking
the domestic large cycle as the main body and promoting
with domestic and international double cycles” and the new
development requirement of “strengthening and improving the
dairy industry”, Modern Dairy will continue to be in line with the
cycle, enhance the efficiency of internal growth, and create another
peak of production.

GAO Lina
CEO of the Company
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China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. * HEIRAKEZERBRAF

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWE DN

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of China Modern Dairy
Holdings Limited (“Modern Dairy” or the “Company”) is pleased
to present the audited annual results of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “"Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2020 (the “Reporting Year”).

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

In 2020, the global economy was severely impacted by the
COVID-19 pandemic (the “"Pandemic Outbreak”). The trade
flows between industry chains had been disrupted. In China,
the economy realized relatively speedy and steady recovery due
to proper control of the Pandemic Outbreak, with a 2.3% gross
domestic product growth yoy, which was above expectation, and
makes it the only country in the world with positive growth. China’s
economy has begun to move towards a new “dual circulation”,
gradually shifting to the domestic consumer market and driving
strong growth in domestic demand. In 2020, residents’ income
growth basically kept pace with the economic growth and urban-
rural per-capita income disparities continued to decrease. The
per-capita income of urban and rural residents in China has been
doubled comparing to 2010, and the increase of residents’ income
is beneficial to the overall consumption market.

In the dairy sector, consumer demand for dairy products in China
grew at its fastest pace for 15 years in 2020. The milk production
in China was 34.4 million tonnes, representing an annual growth
of 7.5%, and raw and fresh milk price continued to rise, with the
average price for the year increasing by 3.8% yoy. The profitability
of dairy farming improved significantly, with an average annual
gross profit margin of the industry of 13.4%. Total dairy imports for
the year was 3.281 million tonnes, an increase of 10.4% yoy. Net
dairy imports equated to 18.872 million tonnes of raw milk and
the milk sufficiency rate was 65.3%, and has been decreasing five
consecutive years.

The medium-and small-scaled farms have been phasing out the
market and the herd size has been shrinking since 2015 due to
the strict environmental regulations. Although the herd size has
bottomed out since 2019, the production capacity generated from
the growth of herd in 2020 will not be released until a few years
later. As such, the supply is still insufficient. On the contrary, stable
growth of domestic resident income has driven the prosperity of
the consumer market, and the consumption structure continues
to upgrade. The sustained growth of dairy products in 2020 was
benefited from the vigorous development of UHT and fresh milk
products. Domestic demand for high quality raw milk has been
growing, continuing to exceed supply for the next few years.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Corn, soybean and soybean meal prices are all on an upward
trend due to strong growth in feed demand with the recovery of
domestic breeding industry. According to monitoring data from
the Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Affairs, corn price rose from
RMB2.09/kg to RMB2.62/kg during the year, an increase of 25.4%,
while soybean meal price rose from RMB3.25/kg to RMB3.46/kg, an
increase of 6.5%.

BUSINESS REVIEW

2020 marked the Company’s 15th anniversary since its founding.
By increasing unit milk yield, reducing production cost to uplift
operation efficiency, the financial indicators of the Group have
been improved continuously during the Reporting Year, and the
financial performance was the best in history.

During the Reporting Year, the Company was mainly engaged in
the dairy farming (primarily the production and sales of raw milk to
clients for processing into dairy products) and also profit sharing
initiatives by the associates established for the business of our
self-branded liquid milk products with Mengniu. The Company
has all along focused on the upstream dairy farming business,
and is devoted to producing high quality raw milk products for

consumers.

During the Reporting Year, the Group has achieved significant
improvement in major operating indicators. The average selling
price (“ASP") of raw milk stood at RMB4.13/kg (2019: RMB4.04/
kg), representing a yoy growth of 2.2%. The annual milk yield
("AMY") per milkable cow amounted to 11.1 tons (2019: 10.6 tons),
representing a yoy growth of 4.7%. With the uplift of milk yield
and the number of milkable cows, the total annual milk production
hit 1.49 million tons (2019: 1.39 million tons), representing a yoy
growth of 7.2%. The Group has achieved 9.2% revenue growth
yoy up to RMB6,020 million (2019: RMB5,514 million). Benefiting
from an increase in ASP of raw milk and higher milk yield, the gross
profit margin (before raw milk fair value adjustment) increased by 2.7
percentage points (“ppt”) to 40.8% in 2020 (2019: 38.1%) yoy.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE W LD

The feed prices had significantly increased, globally and
domestically as a result of a basket of factors, including the
Pandemic Outbreak, the recovery of the domestic farming industry
and the Sino-US trade war. During the Reporting Year, the Group
was dedicated to the fulfillment of the objectives of “increase
output, reduce cost and upgrade quality”, and implemented
various measures to enhance and streamline the procurement
process so as to reduce purchasing costs. The Company has
lowered operating costs through improving the formula, adjusting
the feed mix, enhancing the health of cows, raising unit production,
broadening sources of income and reducing expenditure. During
the Reporting Year, the Group successfully kept the unit cost of
(excluding depreciation of property, plant and equipment) one
kilogram of raw milk (“UCM") at RMB2.29/kg (2019: RMB2.32/kg),
representing a yoy decrease of 1.2%. Out of which, the feed cost
per kg of raw milk amounted to RMB1.77/kg (2019: RMB1.77/kg),
the same with last year.

During the Pandemic Outbreak, the Group stringently adopted
various response measures to minimize the potential impact of
the Pandemic QOutbreak. Since the Pandemic Outbreak, except
for a mild impact inflicted on transportation and logistics during
the early stage thereof, the overall operation of the Group's farms
has remained normal and production and sales volume of raw milk
have been stable, and neither of the Group's cows nor employees
have been substantially affected. During the Reporting Year, the
Company’s management adjusted operation strategies in time
and allocated resources flexibly when facing external uncertainties.
While increasing AMY, reducing operating costs, improving
efficiency and conducting appropriate herd expansion, we were
able to enhance the quality of our raw milk. The Group will continue
to adhere to the fundamental principles of safe and quality
production, provide each of its dairy cows with the best living
environment, utilize the most natural scientific breeding methods
and feeding techniques to allow our dairy cows to produce the
highest quality pasture milk, and give back to consumers.
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DAIRY FARMS

As at 31 December 2020, the Group operated a total of 26 dairy
farms (herd size of each close to or over 10,000 dairy cows) with
contracted forage planting land amounting to 1.07 million mu and
247,371 dairy cows (2019: 233,618 heads) spreading across seven
provinces in mainland China. The proportion of milkable cows to
the total number of dairy cows decreased by 2.8 ppt to 55.1% in
2020 (2019: 57.9%) yoy, mainly due to the increase in the number
of the Group's heifers and calves, resulting in the decrease of
the proportion of milkable cows. Total sales volume of raw milk
amounted to approximately 1.46 million tons (2019: 1.37 million
tons) for the downstream dairy enterprises to produce high-end
milk products, representing a yoy growth of 6.6%. Leveraging on
the world’s first model of “integration of forage planting, cow
breeding and milk processing”, Modern Dairy is one of the leading
dairy farming companies in the world in terms of the herd scale. As
a nationwide farm, the Group is endowed with unique geographical
advantages that most of our farms are located in regions with fine
climate and ample supply of feed, in the proximity of processing
plants of dairy products.
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Herd Scale BEERE

As at As at
31 December 31 December
2020 2019
720205 20194
12A31H 12H31H
Head Head
G| 58

Dairy cows LA
Milkable cows RELA 136,203 135,185
Heifers and calves ANSES YIS 111,168 98,433
Total number of dairy cows LA 485t 247,371 233,618

The Company'’s financial performance is highly correlated with
market prices and costs of raw milk and also affected by the milk
yield of each milkable cow. In general, when milk prices increase,
the Company'’s profitability will increase correspondingly under
normal operation condition. When milk yield improves, the UCM
will correspondingly decrease relatively. Milk yield is affected
by a number of factors, including the frequency of lactation,
breed, comfort level, genetics and feed mix. The Company has
continuously been conducting research on each factor, inviting
foreign and domestic cow experts to regularly station and give
guidance at the farms, and, through exchange amongst industry
experts and staff training, improving milk yield and cow health.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Milk Yield

During the Reporting Year, the Group recorded AMY of 11.1 tons
per milkable cow (2019: 10.6 tons), up by 4.7% yoy. The total annual
milk production of the Group grew 7.2% yoy to 1.49 million tons
(2019: 1.39 million tons). The increase in milk yield was attributable
to effective herd management, genetic improvement over
generations and generations, and increase in the number of cows
reaching peak stage of lactation.

Quality of Raw Milk

Modern Dairy ensured the quality management and control
were scientifically controllable and adhered to the principle of
high starting point, high positioning and high standard, keeping
consumers to be informed with quantitative data of milk. We
produced our own dairy products using our own raw milk. Every
procedure in the production of raw milk e.g. milking, refrigeration
and transportation was completed with monitoring measures and
the strictest standard in the world adopted, the quality of raw milk
was therefore guaranteed.

BARFESE
Standard of the Number of Somatic Cell

No. of soma/1 ml
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The standard of the number of somatic cell per 1 milliliter (ml) of
raw milk is no more than 600 thousand cells according to the PRC
relevant guidelines, 400 thousand cells per 1 ml in the European
Union, and less than 150 thousand cells per 1 ml in Modern Dairy.
The standard of Modern Dairy is stringent than those of the PRC
and European Union.

ElE

RAERFE  AEESSEEXIAFFTEDNE
A1 (20194 : 10.6M8) + RIELIEAN4.7% ° M%
B G 48 EE N 2 E 1498 W (20194F © 1398 1E)
m%MIM,E%EMkﬂMAWﬁ&mZﬁE
B —RARRZAFERAREZNFENLS
g 5 o

RIEE

RRAMERREEETERSNE  BEESRE -
BELM - BIZE - EF DRGNS EIE Y
BERER BMT2MABERNEEABME
SMER FMERDEED RS REBEH - £&
BIESREIRENE B IR T Tk - WA R &

BIEWRERRRNEE -

Standard of the Number of Microorganism

cfu/1 ml

BRI BAL 12T

2,000,000
500,000
400,000
300,000
200,000

100,000

0 I .

BRME ®BA
Modern European
Dairy Union

FE
China

R rBARMERER LS lifﬁ ZR ]

DREFIZHTZRO0EME - ED’" F12FH
TNZRA0EE - MABMEMIZSE %ﬂ’/ﬁ(‘

1581 - tt%?ﬂ%”@¢%+%£%3§



Annual Report 2020 « ZZZEFFH

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

With respect to the number of microorganism, the standard of the
European Union is no more than 100 thousand colony-forming
unit (cfu) per 1 ml of raw milk, and that of the PRC is no more than
2 million cfu per 1 ml, and that of Modern Dairy is less than 10
thousand cfu per 1 ml of raw milk.

OPERATION STRATEGIES

Raise Unit Output and Raw Milk Quality by Scientific
Breeding and Feeding Techniques Improvement

We keep improving our operation efficiency and average AMY. At
present, our average AMY per milkable cow is among the highest
of all dairy companies in the mainland China. We believe that both
the unit production and quality of raw milk of our milkable cows
will continue to rise as we keep improving the genetic mix of herd
across generations, and increase the proportion of milkable cows
to total herd size. In addition, we are committed to continuous
research so as to alleviate the heat damage to UHT milk, and
further reduce the content of furosine in milk, subject to eligibility
of various indicators such as micro-organisms in the products.

Enhance Feed Nutrients and Optimize the Feed Mix

We will continue to collaborate with local farmers and agricultural
research institutions in pursuing research and planting high
quality feed suitable for our dairy cows. Moreover, according to
the locations of our farms, we collaborate with local farmers of
particular regions to jointly build customized and efficient feed
supply chains with the objective to reduce transportation cost
of feed and to ensure the quality, nutrition content and a stable
supply of feed.

Heat Stress Alleviation Measures

Heat stress as a result of high temperature in summer has become
a seasonal problem for milkable cows. The yield of each milkable
cow is generally slightly reduced due to the impact caused by
heat stress. To minimize the impact, the Group has implemented
alleviation plans. The Group equipped cowshed with efficient
ventilation system, such as powerful fans, upgraded the facilities in
barns and enhanced the health of each dairy cow.

Quality Management

The overall execution of the quality management of Modern Dairy
is based on the principle of “Four Don'ts”: don't cooperate with
unqualified client, don't stock unqualified raw feed materials, don't
feed unqualified inventory of raw feed materials, don't release raw
milk from farms that fail inspection.
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For the quality control of raw feed materials, the Group ensures
the source control by inspecting suppliers on-site and establishing
a database of suppliers; ensures feed arrival control by having
a stricter standard of testing than that of the national standard;
ensures the process control by sampling the inventory of raw
feed materials and controlling indicators on daily basis; ensures
that the feed in cows’ mouth are of the right mix consistent with
the relevant formula by conducting real-time sampling during
the production process with reference to formula data at close
to infrared calibration. For the process control, Modern Dairy
establishes a process-oriented quality management system,
establishes CCP point on key production stages, and set process
food safety indicators for monitoring, and timely rectify and track
the potential risks discovered. For the delivery quality control, there
are various quality inspections to comprehensively control the
quality of raw milk. For the whole chain quality tracking system, the
quality information platform is traced by quick response code, to
achieve the traceability of whole chain quality information from the
raw feed materials arrival and delivery for feeding, milking on the
milking parlor to raw milk delivery.

The safe and high quality milk of Modern Dairy is ensured by
source control, process monitoring and terminal control.

Herd Management

Modern Dairy adopts the means of lean management in managing
herd, values scientific breeding and precise formula. With the
innovation of a comprehensive herd management system, the
Group overcomes the “information isolation” of farms, establishes
an efficient information collection system and improves the system
integration of cows from individual, breeding, feeding, health
to milk-producing module. All barns of farms are covered of
wireless updated communication, the information of herd can be
inquired and updated anytime and anywhere through the handset
equipment and APP; by using the low frequency scanners which
show timely and accurate reminders of cow breeding process
to raise the conception rate to cows, simplify and improve cow
breeding; with pedometers and yield sensors (ie. low frequency ear
tags), which record and analyze milk yield of cows automatically,
to identify and alert diseases among cows in advance. The
comprehensive utilization of advanced data analysis systems
enables us to achieve scientific decision-making, improves the level
of production management, and achieves sustainable consolidated
profitability. Regarding “high standard, high positioning and high
starting point” as the principle, the Group achieves the objectives
of “increase unit production output, reduce operation cost,
optimize herd structure” in herd breeding.
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Environmental Protection and Epidemic Prevention

With the mission that “create the world’s most advanced farms,
produce the highest quality milk, and achieve harmonious
development of people and nature”, the Group actively fulfills its
social responsibilities. The Group continuously improves on various
aspects such as product quality, dairy cow disease control and

environmentally friendly production to maximize social benefits.

The Company’s various milk quality indicators are better than
the EU standards. Food safety indicators are set in the raw milk
production process, and the whole process is strictly monitored
to ensure that the raw milk quality meets the standards. Since
Mengniu increased its stake in the Company, the Group and
Mengniu have enhanced cooperation in product testing, unified
inspection standards and processes, improved testing efficiency
and product quality. The Group strictly complies with relevant laws
and regulations for epidemic prevention management, conducts
health rating management for dairy cows, cautiously controls the
environment of farms, refines the management of farms, provides
epidemic prevention and protection for dairy cows, and establishes
quarantine and health check plans for cows, to ensure the health of
cows.

Based on resource recycling, the Group has built a green recycling
industrial chain of “forage planting — cow breeding — fertilizer
treatment — biogas power generation — fertilizer back to the field”.
Each farm is equipped with large-scale biogas power generation
facilities and comprehensive utilization facilities for biogas fertilizer,
which absorbs, digests and indiscriminately treats the manure. For
sustainable development, the Group will continue to implement
high-standard environmental protection policies and implements

rigorous epidemic prevention measures in our farms.

kk}%J:ﬂL nﬂﬂ& Tﬁ

RERERRE

AEBRNTARERKTENKS - FEUARK

BENG BERAEHAANNBERE] AW

BERETHEET CEREE  IFERE
ZCRREESHFETENENEBZE RS
RARINSEF R EREHERNRBEELE - E
RPEERETFRERMEZEIEZR  218ET

T RBERRDEEERE - ARFEIFLAA 71?:
ZKE.E%L_FB[]%@EEDD BERE - 7 — b
EEMBRE  BeBlISE  BEERSERE

B - AEEBRBETHBEREARNESCETH
REE W ETREFREE  BIEHRER
5 MEPOEEAER  AEREHEER

BIMFHIERENRREREE - REDHFHRE
}: o

AEBEZRERBRNAE  BE—IGIAEEE -
PAERE-HSRE - BREE -HIEERINK

@ﬁ%?%ﬁ BHHSHEE T REBRES
REFARRG AT ARG - BESRA - B
ETEZSEE - AERAEERRE  AEBK

BESTEZENREIR  THRMANKEE
e BRI B [ R HE I o
=



China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. » FEIRAKEZRERD A

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE W LD

ASSOCIATE FACTORIES

Benefiting from the reform in marketing models, the branded milk
business through the operation of downstream associate factories
with Mengniu continued to record profits. Leveraging on Mengniu's
mature market strategy and channel advantages, the “Modern
Farming” branded milk was relaunched on the market with the
positioning of “15 years of persistence in exclusively producing
pasture milk”. Despite the effect of the Pandemic Outbreak early
of the year, all sales personnel of the branded milk business
had resumed to work by the end of March 2020. The Pandemic
Outbreak has prompted consumers’ willingness in choosing more
secured and better-quality milk for daily consumption. Relying on
Mengniu's successful marketing strategy, rebranding of “Modern
Farming”, and adopting differentiated market strategies, it focuses
on the blue ocean market in domestic third-and fourth-tier cities.
The associate factories are expected to keep contributing to the
Group's financial performance.

AWARDS AND RECOGNITIONS

e The Company is the first and only company in China that
passed the “Quality Milk Project” for both its pasteurized milk
and UHT milk. During the Reporting Year, the pure milk of
the Group was awarded the Gold Prize for the seventh time
in consecutive years in the Monde Selection 2020. Another
product of the Group, the high-calcium milk, has won the gold
award for the first time.
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MODERN FARMING

FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

Revenue

Business Analysis

The following table sets forth the details of sales revenue, sales
volume and ASP of raw milk for the years indicated:

o BRBERMERAITEMREXBBAERH] BREFLFTD
mIEINEDEEHERANEZEE
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e  The brand of Modern Dairy has been shortlisted as the “Strategic Partner
of China’s Aerospace Industry”, symbolizing that our premium quality
branded milk is widely recognized by all sectors of the society.
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2020 2019
20205 019F
Sales Sales Sales

revenue volume ASP revenue  Sales volume ASP
HEWA HER THERE HEBA HEE THER
RMB'000 tons RMB/ton RMB'000 tons RMB/ton
ARETR B AR¥RT/H ARETR M AREL/H¥
Raw milk FREHR 6,020,247 1,456,962 4,132 5514210 1,365,739 4038

The Group's total revenue of the sales of raw milk increased by
9.2% yoy to RMB6,020.2 million during the Reporting Year (2019:
RMB5,514.2 million). The increase was mainly due to the increase in
sales volume of raw milk and increase in ASP of raw milk.

ASP of raw milk grew by 2.2% yoy to RMB4.13/kg during the
Reporting Year (2019: RMB4.04/kg).

Total sales volume of raw milk increased by 6.6% yoy to
approximately 1.46 million tons during the Reporting Year (2019:
1.37 million tons), mainly due to the rise in AMY per milkable cow
and number of milkable cows.

RAERFE  BEHRHNEERARKAAEARE
6,020.2B & 7T (20194 « AR¥551426&7T) °
R I8 R9.2%  TBXHN RIS IR FER
HEHEEB LR

RAREREE  RAPFHEBAEARKL13
TT/ A (20194 « ARME4 04T,/ AfT) Rk
#R2.2% °

RAERFE @ REPBIEEL A1468M (2019
F1378M) - AL IN6.6% - TERZMNEHE
AN FEDNE EAMKILFEEE AT ©



China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. * HEIRAKEZERBRAF

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE W LD

COST OF SALES BEFORE RAW MILK FAIR
VALUE ADJUSTMENTS

The Group's cost of sales before raw milk fair value adjustments
primarily consisted of cost of dairy farming. The following table
sets forth the breakdown of the cost of sales of our products for the
years indicated:

Cost of sales before raw milk fair value adjustments

R D P E A AT R 85 & A
AEENEHDATERENBERAEIEBHE

PARFERA - TREHIAKEERRARFE
HY $H A AR B4R

R S E AR AT Y 85 & AN

2020 2019
2020% 20195
RMB'000 % RMB'000 %
AR®TR Bt AREFIL Bl
Direct materials EEMH 2,664,608 74.8% 2,492,360 73.0%
Labor cost BIHA 266,325 7.5% 276,311 8.1%
Utilities AAEEER 111,689 3.1% 102,526 3.0%
Depreciation of property, plant and n% - BERERENE
equipment 227,366 6.4% 249,817 7.3%
Other costs of farms EHGEMEY 291,571 8.2% 291,316 8.6%
Cost of sales before raw milk fair RRHAAFEHZ R
value adjustments of the dairy WM RERB
farming business HEMAR 3,561,559 100.0% 3,412,330 100.0%

During the Reporting Year, direct materials (mainly forage) cost
amounted to RMB2,664.6 million (2019: RMB2,492.4 million),
representing a yoy growth of 6.9% due to the increase of volume of
milkable cows.

The feed prices had significantly increased, globally and
domestically as a result of the Pandemic Outbreak, the recovery
of the domestic farming industry and the Sino-US trade war,
etc. The Group implemented various measures to enhance and
streamline the procurement process so as to reduce purchasing
costs. The Company has lowered operating costs through
improving the formula, adjusting the feed mix, enhancing the
health of cows, raising unit production, broadening sources of
income and reducing expenditure. During the Reporting Year, the
Group successfully kept UCM at RMB2.29/kg (2019: RMB2.32/kg),
representing a yoy decrease of 1.2%. Out of which, the feed cost
per kg of raw milk amounted to RMB1.77/kg (2019: RMB1.77/kg),
the same with last year.
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Gross Profit and Profitability
The following table sets forth the breakdown of gross profit and
gross profit margin before raw milk fair value adjustments:

B E & am Mo

ERRARIRE
TR EBDAFEFABANEN REME
R4 -

2020 2019
2020% 2019%F

Gross profit Gross profit
Gross profit margin Gross profit margin
¥l ERX EM EHE

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBT T ARBTFT
Dairy farming business A BEEH 2,458,688 40.84% 2,101,880 38.12%

During the Reporting Year, gross profit of the Group's dairy
farming business before raw milk fair value adjustments amounted
to RMB2,458.7 million (2019: RMB2,101.9 million), representing an
increase of 17.0% yoy, which was mainly due to the increase in price
and sales volume of raw milk. Gross profit margin of the Group's
dairy farming business before raw milk fair value adjustments stood
at 40.8% (2019: 38.1%), representing an increase of 2.7 ppt yoy.

Losses Arising from Changes in Fair Value Less Costs to
Sell of Dairy Cows

As at 31 December 2020, the biological assets of the Group were
valued at RMB7,101.2 million (31 December 2019: RMB7,459.4
million) by an independent qualified professional valuer,
Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited,
representing a slight decrease of 4.8% yoy.

Losses arising from changes in the fair value of dairy cows less costs
to sell dairy cows were RMB1,031.3 million as at 31 December 2020
(31 December 2019: RMB1,039.2 million), approximately the same
as last year.

Gains Arising on Initial Recognition of Raw Milk at Fair
Value Less Costs to Sell at the Point of Harvest

During the Reporting Year, the gains arising on initial recognition
of raw milk at fair value less costs to sell at the point of harvest
amounted to RMB2,277.4 million (2019: RMB1,938.4 million),
representing an increase of 17.5% yoy, mainly due to the increase
in sales volume of raw milk and its market price.

International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS") required that
raw milk harvested was initially measured at fair value less costs to
sell, and the difference between the fair value less costs to sell and
the actual costs incurred was charged to profit or loss.
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Other Income

During the Reporting Year, other income amounted to RMB86.7
million (2019: RMB51.1 million) which mainly consisted of
government grants and interest income, of which interest income
accounted for RMB18.3 million (2019: RMB11.2 million), while the
government grants amounted to RMB60.0 million (2019: RMB32.6
million). Government grants mainly consisted of subsidies for
agricultural projects such as “Grain to Fodder”.

Hibug A

RAEREE HbW A B AR 7TEE T
(20194 : ARSIV EET)  TE0HEBTH
B FIBIMASE - ERFIBIABARKE18.3H
BT (2019F : AR 2BET)  B/THA
ARBO0BET(2019F : ARKD(HEET) °
BT EaE A SHEEBEANM
Bk o

Operating Expenses HERX
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET ARET T
Selling and distribution costs SHE K& SHAKA 194,440 175,487
Administrative expenses THHEX 374,155 276,739
Total operating expenses LY BEs 568,595 452,226

The total operating expenses was RMB568.6 million during the
Reporting Year (2019: RMB452.2 million), representing an increase
of 25.7% yoy.

o Selling and distribution costs
The following is an analysis of the S&D costs:

RAERFE  KERITBEAEARES68.6
BEIL(2019 AR¥AS22FHE L) » ALLEMN
25.7% °

e HERTERS
HERDERADFTMT -

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARETIT

Dairy farming business M4 BEXEH
Transportation costs and others BB NEM 191,112 172,057
Business tax and surcharge EER S RN 3,328 3,430
Total selling and distribution costs HERDHAKEE 194,440 175,487

Selling and distribution costs mainly consisted of
transportation costs for sales of raw milk. During the
Reporting Year, selling and distribution costs stood as
RMB194.4 million (2019: RMB175.5 million).

Transportation costs for sales of raw milk recorded at
RMB191.1 million (2019: RMB172.1 million), representing an
increase of 11.0% yoy, mainly attributable to an increase in
the sales volume of raw milk.

HENDHEKATEBIERMNEERNES
B - NAEREE  SHERDHERAAA
RIE194 4B 8T (20194 - ARME1755B 8
JT) °

FRIEENERGERA/ARKINIES
TL(2019% : AR¥1721887T) © RLLE
M11.0% - EEZHNREJIHEBEE N
PRk
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° Administrative expenses . THEX
Administrative expenses mainly included remuneration of THRAXIE2BEEREASFHM (S ARKRE
management staff (including equity-based share award RENRORZEBRA) RBAE BIGES
expenses) and depreciation charges of office building, HERBHEERASE - RAERFE @ TH
staff quarters and facilities. During the Reporting Year, R/ ARE37428ET(20195 « AR
administrative expenses amounted to RMB374.2 million 276.7A&7T) * RLLIEIN35.2% - HEAIEE
(2019: RMB276.7 million), representing an increase of 35.2% FTERRFAEEARBUFEIBHET AR
yoy. The increase was mainly due to the Group’s provision RIBIERTRE  RABEASHIAE -

of rewards and continuous incentives for staff to boost
good performance for the Company and the increase in the
management’s remuneration.

Other Gains and Losses, Net Hit s RESEEE
During the Reporting Year, net gains arising from other gains and ~ RAERFE + H s R EETE ARG F
losses amounted to RMB142.5 million (2019: net losses of RMB121.0 HEEAAR142585 & L(2019%F : HEFHEAR
million) mainly consisting of net amount of foreign exchange (gains)/  #121.08&70) * EZ B IEINE () EIEF
losses, impairment provision for fixed assets and impairment loss %8 « B E EEREERE HEREHBEBES - £t
on goodwill. The breakdown of other gains and losses is as follows: Wz R EIBRRARL0T

2020 2019
2020%F 20194
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFTT
Other gains and losses: HitH R EE -
Net foreign exchange (gains)/loss HNE (U zS) /B 1RIFE R (158,173) 82,952
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME - BE REED
equipment B 13,110 16,879
Gains on disposal of subsidiaries HEHRB ARz (72,280) =
Impairment loss on property, plant and ME - BEKEE
equipment EEE = 45,287
Impairment loss on goodwill R EEE 48,809 27,323
Fair value gain on other financial assets HiemEELABEKE (1,012) -
Fair value (gain)/loss on derivative financial TESMITENATE
instruments (Wiz) /548
Foreign currency forward contracts GNE R BR A A (26,381) (17,971
Foreign currency option contracts HNEERRES 4 53,413 (32,585)
27,032 (50,556)
Gains on derecognition of financial liabilities BURER /e Bl - (839)
(142,514) 121,046
Other Expenses HAib %

During the Reporting Year, other expenses amounted to RMB165 MAERFE - HtHZAARE16.58E T
million (2019: RMB9.1 million), representing an increase of 81.3% (20194 : ARM9 18 &T) - FLLHEHIN81.3%
yoy mainly due to the increase of donation expenses. FER N HILM -

B

&=
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|
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE W IO

Finance Costs

During the Reporting Year, finance costs amounted to RMB318.6
million (2019: RMB376.8 million), representing a decrease of
15.4% yoy. Among the finance cost, borrowing costs amounted to
RMB277.2 million (2019: RMB337.8 million), representing a decrease
of 17.9% yoy mainly due to the decrease of borrowings and the
financing interest rate.

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE

COMPANY

The Group's cash EBITDA amounted to RMB2,264.9 million during
the Reporting Year (2019: RMB2,045.5 million), grew by 10.7% yoy.
The cash EBITDA margin increased to 37.6% (2019: 37.1%), up by 0.5

ppt.

Taking into account the above factors, profit attributable to
owners of the Company amounted to RMB770.0 million during the
Reporting Year (2019: RMB341.3 million), grew by 125.6% yoy.

During the Reporting Year, basic earnings per Share of the
Company (the “Share”) was RMB12.07 cents (2019: RMB5.54 cents
per Share). Diluted earnings per Share was RMB12.04 cents (2019:
RMB5.52 cents per Share).

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
GEARING RATIO

As at 31 December 2020, the net gearing ratio, which was
calculated on the basis of the amount of total borrowings less cash
and deposit assets as a percentage of the total equity, was 53.4% (31
December 2019: 77.0%) with a drop of 23.6 ppt yoy.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s available and unutilized
credit facilities were approximately RMB4,597.9 million (31
December 2019: RMB3,753.4 million). Having considered the (i)
forecast cash flow from operating activities of continuing operation;
(i) existing financial resources and gearing level of the Group, the
Directors believe that the Group's financial resources are sufficient
to meet its debt repayment, day-to-day operations, contracted
capital expenditures as at 31 December 2020.

Operating Activities

During the Reporting Year, the net cash inflow from operating
activities of the Group was RMB1,938.6 million (2019: RMB2,049.1
million), representing a decrease of 5.4% yoy. Excluding the effect
of the realization of pledged collateral shares in 2019, the net cash
inflow from operating activities increased by 16.1% yoy.

X

RAERFE BRI RBARKII8.6B8
L (2019%F « AR¥376.8BET) ' ALE D
15.4% « HFERKANAREKE277.28E 7T (2019
F: AR¥3378BET) ' BALLED17.9% =2
EHREERBEMBE R RKE TR -

RABEEAEMERR

RAERFE NEEMNIHSEBITDABARE
2,264 98 &E7C(2019F « AR¥2,045.558 L)
EL 12K 10.7% ° 3RS EBITDAR|ERIE E37.6%
(20194 : 37.1%) + & AN0.5MEE » 2 -

Ktk EMAER  AAEREE - KAQAREHAE
ANER R AAREI700B8 8 T(2019F : AR
¥341 3B &) AL R125.6% °

RAERFTE  SRAQXFT®RG ([RAHER
BRNABARE12.075 (20194 : R AREES.54
) o BIRESERAT AARE12.045 (20194 -
& AR #E5.525) ©

RBES  WRERREERLR

MR2020812A318 « FEELR(REETRRS
METEEEMGEZE DL EEFHE) B53.4%
(2019128318 : 77.0%) * BLLRE 2360 E 75
2h o

MR2020%F12A31H * AEBHAEBARKRBAE
EREHEEHAREL 597988 T(2019F12A
318 : ARM37534EETT) - BREE()VFELE
EBMEETEHBARSTE (A EENRE
R ERRERKE  EEMHE A5EBERER
BB ERGERER  AEAFERKEERR2020
FIN2ANBMEFTNERAASZRHES -

RETEH

RAERFE  AEENEEEHRSFRAA
R#1,938.6BET(2019F : ARM2,04918 58
J0) * R A5.4% o #iBR2019F E R (D B IR 7
£ 2EFHIRSFRARLLIERI61% o



Annual Report 2020 « ZZZEFFH

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Investing Activities

During the Reporting Year, the Group's net cash outflow from
investing activities was RMB765.7 million (2019: net cash outflow of
RMB1,025.9 million), representing a decrease of 25.4% yoy, which
was mainly due to the disposal of subsidiaries and the increase in
revenue from the sales of cows during the Reporting Year.

Financing Activities

During the Reporting Year, the Group’s net cash outflow from
financing activities was RMB964.0 million (2019: net cash outflow of
RMB832.1 million), representing an increase of 15.9% yoy, mainly
due to the increase in debt repayment during the Reporting Year.

INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

As at 31 December 2020, the total interest-bearing borrowings
of the Group was RMB5,642.3 million (2019: RMB6,589.9 million),

kk}%nj-nﬁﬂ& jfﬁ

BRETE

RAERFE  AEENRETHEENESF
MEABAREE765.78&TL(2019F  HEF R M
AREE1,025.98&70) * AR 25.4%  £B=2
RERFEHEN BRI REFRALRATE

BEEE

RAERFE  AEBNRETHMELRSF
MHRARKE64.08 8T (2019F - WEF R
ARBESRABEET) » FHIEMI59%  TEEAN
P ¥R F IR AR IE AR »

ﬁ,._,\fﬁa'A
MR2020F12A318 » XEERNE EETBEAA
R#E5,642 3B E T (20194 AR#6,589.98 &

representing a yoy decrease of 14.4 %. 7T) » R A14.4% -
Details are set out as below: FBIBRERDFTWOT -
2020 2019
2020F 20194F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMF T ARBTT
Borrowings: BN
Bank borrowings RITE K 5,642,326 5,538,474
Other borrowings HinEgm - 1,051,413
5,642,326 6,589,887
Carrying value repayable: FEEEIREE :
Within one year —F LA 3,471,314 4,874,056
Between one to two years —Z2ZFR 703,519 1,525,831
Between two to five years “Z2HFRN 1,467,493 190,000
5,642,326 6,589,887
The following is an analysis of the respective borrowings: EEERAFTWT -

o Bank borrowings
During the Reporting Year, the annual interest rate of bank
borrowings varied from 0.66% to 5.17% (2019: from 3.2% to
5.17%).

o RITER
RAERFEERN @ BITERNENRERE L
0.66%%E5.17% (20194 : 3.2%%E5.17%) °
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The table below sets forth the short-term and long-term bank TRFE 20206612 431 B 895 B R R HAER
borrowings as at 31 December 2020: TTHEK
2020 2019
2020 20194
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBT T
Bank borrowings: RITER
Unsecured borrowings EEIRE R 5,281,002 5,320,114
Secured borrowings HEPER 361,324 218,360
5,642,326 5,538,474
Carrying amounts repayable: FEEEREE :
Within one year —FLAR 3,471,314 3,822,643
Between one to two years —FEWMFNR 703,519 1,525,831
Between two to five years MEZREFER 1,467,493 190,000
5,642,326 5,538,474
e Other borrowings e HAhfER
2020 2019
2020F 20194
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTT
Carrying amounts payable: FEEEREE
Within one year —FRX
- Mengniu entrusted loan -R4EEX - 1,001,330
— Borrowing from a financial institution - RE—He RS
(note) f& sk (B =) - 50,083
- 1,051,413
Less: Amounts due within one year B —FARRIEFRIA
(shown under current liabilities) (MREBEEET
SI7R) - 1,051,413
Amounts due after one year — 1B B HAZRIE - -
Note: On 26 February 2019, the Group entered into a loan contract MizE: 2019F2A26H @ AEEHEE S mEE
with a financial institution, pursuant to which the Group FEENER  AEERZSRBEESE
borrowed RMB50 million from the institution which will HARMS0EETT + 7202062 828H
mature on 28 February 2020. The loan is unsecured and bears - ZEERRBEERER  EEN
a fixed interest rate of 5.00% per annum. The borrowing was EREGES.00% c ZEERE R IR

g yoo
Bz °©

.

repaid upon expiry.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

GROUP STRUCTURE

Save for disclosed in this report, during the Reporting Year, there
was no material change in the structure of the Group.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2020, the total number of ordinary shares in
issue of the Company was 6,458,565,947 shares (31 December
2019: 6,407,635,115 shares). On 27 August, 2020, the management
exercised 50,930,832 shares granted by the Company on 31
October 2010 under the management share options, thereby
increasing the number of ordinary shares issued by the Company.

As at 31 December 2020, the net assets attributable to owners
of the Company amounted to approximately RMB7,896.9 million
(31 December 2019: approximately RMB7,081.5 million), the net
borrowings of the Group (total borrowings less cash and deposit
assets) amounted to approximately RMB4,290.8 million (31
December 2019: approximately RMB5,547.9 million).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND PLEDGE OF

ASSETS

As at 31 December 2020, no buildings and equipment of the
Company (31 December 2019: nil) were pledged as security for the
Group's borrowings.

As at 31 December 2020, biological assets with carrying value of
RMB754.0 million (31 December 2019: RMB838.7 million) and time
deposits of RMB122.7 million (31 December 2019: nil) were pledged
as security for the Group’s borrowings.

The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at
31 December 2020 and 2019.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s capital commitments in
relation to the acquisition of property, plant and equipment
amounted to RMB20.2 million (31 December 2019: RMB21.5
million).

B E & am Mo

AR B

BRANFRBEESI  RAEFRFE - ARERE
WEBEEMEREE -

AL

MR2020F 128318 » KRB EHITERERBRK
D488 56,458,565,947% (2019612 AH318
6,407,635,1150%) » 7A2020%8 H27H * BIEE1T
{8 750,930,832 A A A1 A 2010F 10 A 31 B % i
MEREERE FEAQAREBITETBRERNG
KB

R2020F 128318 » X RBIEE AEBGFEEL
BARET 896 9AETTL(2019F12A31H : HAR
#7081 5B8L) ARBEFERBERRRE
MEFIEEE) N A ANREA290.8F 8T (20194F
128318 : YARKES5479RETT) °

FREBEREERF

2020 12A318 » AR A EEF KRB R
2019128318 « &) KM BIEREBE R IE
# -

MR2020F12A318 - EMEENFREEAARE
75408 BT (2019F 128318 : AR¥S838.768
T RERERARK1227AE (2019512831
A &) BB ERERERAER -

A20205E 2 20194E12 A318 » AEBE W EF &
AERBEE -

BARELE

MR2020F12A318 » X&EEEHEKBYE - BE
MEBNEREEBARE20 268 7T(20199F12
A318 : ARB21588T) °
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FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT POLICIES

The Group continued to closely manage financial risks to safeguard
the interest of the shareholders of the Company. The Group
applied its cash flows generated from operations, bank loans and
proceeds from the issuance of bonds and ordinary shares of the
Company to satisfy its operational and investment needs.

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

The Group has been proactively fulfilling its social responsibility
and adheres to the principle of safety and quality come first,
proactively develops and implements modern scientific breeding
and feeding know-how. The Group puts great effort to strike a
balance between business growth and social responsibility, so as
to convey the Group's care and blessing to all stakeholders. The
Group is committed to improving the quality of its products by
providing consumers with a commitment to provide healthy, safe,
nutritious and high-quality dairy products. Meanwhile, adhering
to the principle of production in terms of energy conservation
and environmental protection. The Group actively promotes
the economic development of farms in the surrounding areas
and increases the income of local residents. The Group actively
implements the precise poverty alleviation policy, responds to the
call of poverty alleviation, and is devoted to poverty alleviation
within the industry and society. Firstly, the contract of silage
planting was signed with local farmers in farm areas to reduce the
impact of natural disasters on crop harvest. At the same time, to
solve the local employment problem, the Group’s farms provide
multiple jobs throughout the country, effectively alleviating the
pressure of surplus rural labor force and increasing the income of
local farmers. The Group also undertakes social responsibility and
promotes local economic development through measures such as
making direct donation of materials, money and paying visits to
nursing homes. The Group's social responsibility efforts have been
widely spread from dairy cow breeding, accountable quality, green
development to employee development and social care. The
Group has always adhered to the concept of “people-oriented”,
and taken the responsibility of promoting sustainable development
of the dairy industry, giving back to the nature and serving the
society.

To better illustrate the Group’ s social responsibilities,
environmental protection and social and corporate governance,
a report on the environment, social and governance will be

separately released in due course.

MBEERE
REBESERTIEHYT B RBMREAR D TRE
W AREFALERERERE  RTE
B BITESRAD AL BRRG 8RB
EEERRABE -

HEEE

AEBEBETHEEMLE  RELXEEEREN
RA - EEAEEREBRRCHT BETERR
FRM - BNEBRRFFRLEGE T 2HEUFF
& BEAROERIIASEFENBEEME

®eAREBRTREEERARERZE - €88
2 mEEREIMNAR BARAERES -

R RABRMERRNEERR - AEEREE
TEBHSMERBEBLERR  BMERERK
A AREBEHEERERERR - ERKER
B MFITRRE > H8KE - Bk - THHEY
SHEREFPERITBTHEREAR  MAIBAKE
HEUREMERENTE - AREREHMABR
XRE ARENMSEEESMERS @
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION

OF EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had approximately 4,455
employees (31 December 2019: 5,053) in mainland China and Hong
Kong. Total staff costs during the Reporting Year (excluding equity-
settled share award expense) were approximately RMB585.6 million
(2019: RMB491.0 million).

The Group values recruiting, training and retaining quality
personnel. We recruit qualified employees from local universities,
vocational schools and other technical schools, and we provide
these employees with various pre-employment and on-the-job
training. The Group also offers remuneration at competitive rates
with the aim of retaining quality personnel.

PROSPECTS

Currently, raw milk market is still short in supply and it is expected
that the shortage of raw milk will continue, driving an increase in
milk prices. With the withdrawal of small-and medium-sized dairy
farms from the market, the cyclicity of the dairy farming industry
has weakened, and raw milk will be mainly provided by large-scale
dairy farms in the future. The industry entry barriers of large-scale
farming are high, and the Company could benefit from the industry
cycle and take the advantages of being an industry leader.

With the active advocacy of authoritative medical professionals and
the issuance of a document by the National Health Commission
encouraging people to improve their immunity by drinking milk,
not only has the awareness of milk consumption been raised,
but new opportunities have been brought to companies and the
industry. General Secretary Xi Jinping proposed at the Fifth Plenary
Session of the 19th Central Committee that “China’s economy has
the hope, potential to maintain long-term stable development, and
it is completely possible for China to meet the current standards for
high-income countries by the end of the 14th Five-Year Plan and to
double the total economic volume or per capita income by 2035",
which further provides a wide scope for the development of the
dairy industry in mainland China.

B E & am Mo

ANERE AR & %N

MR20206 128318 « AEBEN AR HEE
AH#H)4,455% 18 B (2019912 A31H : 5,053%) ° A
RERFELE THARCTE ARELEE AR 58
BRI # A ARH585.6AE T (20194 « AR
491088 TT) °
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The year of 2021 will be a critical year for Modern Dairy to draw
up a development blueprint. During the year, the Group has
embarked on a “five-year leading plan” to focus on increasing the
herd size and production in an attempt to further strengthen the
Group's overall competitiveness. In 5 years, the Company will strive
to double both herd and milk yield through organic growth and
external acquisition, being further increase the number of cows to
more than 500,000 by 2025 with annual fresh milk yield of 3.6 million
tons to achieve the goals of the Group.

The Group will continue to adhere to high standards, stick to the
principles, focus on implementation, pay attention to details,
improve efficiency, and put the “high standard modernization”
pasture plan into practice, striving to turn Modern Dairy into a
smart, green, branded, integrated farm. We will not only be the
leader of the industry but also a pioneer of industry integration to
build a No. 1 brand of raw milk in the PRC, providing consumers
with the most nutritious raw milk and making unremitting
contributions to the upgrade and transformation of the dairy
industry in the PRC.

2D FRRRANUEXBRREBNEEZE —F - £F
BRFERCHBERI D FRBAE] - HBEEH
BE BE-SZEESENBELFS - AQF
FHASFRRE - BBANERRRINIWE - LB
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g NEFRBRAMEITENES e - mE -
Rams  [ERITE  MEX—BIWaE
EABRDE —miE - REEERHEEER
BEMNRY  STEHEAFELGETENE
& o



Annual Report 2020 « ZZZEFFH

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. GAO Lina, aged 64, is an executive Director, Chief Executive
Officer and Deputy Chairman of the Company. Ms. Gao is one of
the founders of the Group and is currently also a director of Modern
Farming. Ms. Gao has significant experience in cross-border
trading, resource integration and administrative management.
Prior to joining the Group in August 2005, Ms. Gao was the general
manager of Taian Foreign General Trade Corporation between
October 1993 and June 2005. Ms. Gao was the director general of
Taian Municipal Taian Promotion Bureau between October 2003
and June 2005. Ms. Gao developed her experience in managing
dairy farms since joining the Group and was appointed as an
executive Director of the Company on 14 November 2008. Ms.
Gao was awarded “Taian City Excellent Entrepreneur in Reforming
and Enterprising Endeavours” in 2004. Ms. Gao was awarded the
“Scientific and Technological Progress Award (Class 1 of Promotion
Category)” by the Ministry of Education of the China in January
2013, and Ms. Gao was granted the honour of Top 10 Business
Leaders in China Economy at the 2014 China Economic Summit
Forum & The 12th Annual Meeting of China Economic Characters.
Ms. Gao was awarded Best CEO in "Institutional Investors — Survey
Report on All Asian Management Team 2016" and “2017 China
Financial Market Awards e Best Corporate Leader of the Year”.

Mr. SUN Yugang, aged 40, is an executive Director of the
Company and executive vice president of the Group. Mr. Sun was
a manager of the finance and investment department of Inner
Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group) Co., Ltd. between May 2002
and March 2007. Mr. Sun was the chief financial officer, executive
director and vice president of the Company from March 2007 to
September 2016 and the non-executive director of the Company
from October 2016 to March 2017. Subsequently, Mr. Sun worked
for Hebei Yinong Network Technology Co., Ltd.* (A3t B B4 4E R
BB T]) as a director, vice president and chief financial officer
from October 2016 to August 2018 and for Jiangsu Yuguan Modern
Agricultural Technology Co., Ltd.* (L& #ER NN BRERBTBRA
A)) as a vice president and chief financial officer from August 2018
to October 2019. Mr. Sun re-joined the Group in November 2019,
and currently serves as executive vice president of the Group.
Mr. Sun graduated from Inner Mongolia Finance and Economics
College, majoring in accounting. Mr. Sun has extensive experience
in financial management and corporate development.

*  For identification purposes only
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LU Minfang, aged 52, was appointed as a non-executive
Director and chairman of the board of Directors of the Company
in March 2017. Mr. Lu is currently the executive director and
chief executive officer of China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited
(stock code: 2319 HK) (“Mengniu”). Mengniu is the controlling
shareholder of the Company. Mr. Lu is also a director of
International Dairy Federation. Mr. Lu is also the chairman and a
non-executive director of Yashili International Holdings Ltd (stock
code: 1230.HK) (“Yashili”), a subsidiary of Mengniu. He was the
executive director and chief executive officer of Yashili before
his appointment as chairman of the board of directors of Yashili.
Mr. Lu was also a director of the following subsidiaries of Yashili,
namely Yashili International Ltd., Yashili International Group
Limited, Newou Hong Kong International Co., Limited and Scient
International Group Limited. Mr. Lu was the vice president (Greater
China) of Danone Early Life Nutrition Greater China and had been
with the Danone Group and Dumex Baby Food Co. Ltd. for over
10 years. During his tenure at the Danone Group, he demonstrated
strong strategic business and market planning capabilities. With
strong leadership, management skills and in-depth knowledge of
markets, Mr. Lu had contributed significantly to the success of the
Danone Group's baby nutrition business in China. Prior to joining
the Danone Group, Mr. Lu spent 9 years with Johnson & Johnson
(China) Company Limited and approximately 4 years with General
Electric Company (China). Prior to joining Mengniu Group, Mr. Lu
has over 18 years of experience in sales and marketing and has
been serving in general manager or executive level roles for over 7
years. Mr. Lu has extensive experience in the management of fast-
moving consumer goods and dairy companies and has an excellent
grasp and in-depth knowledge of the PRC market. Mr. Lu obtained
his bachelor's degree from Fudan University in Shanghai.
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Mr. ZHANG Ping, aged 56, joined the Group as a non-executive
Director of the Company in March 2016. Mr. Zhang also currently
serves as the non-executive director of China Shengmu Organic
Milk Limited (stock code: 1432). Mr. Zhang is a vice president and
the chief financial officer of Mengniu. Mr. Zhang holds several
directorships in certain subsidiaries of Mengniu including the
director of Inner Mongolia Mengniu and Inner Mongolia Mengniu
Danone Dairy Co., Ltd.. Mr. Zhang also takes the position of
non-executive director in Yashili since 27 April 2015. Mr. Zhang
graduated from Beijing Information Science and Technology
University with master’s degree in management engineering, and
has over 25 years of experience in the industry of fast-moving
consumer goods, specializing in the management of operation,
finance and audit as well as risk control. He successively worked
as manager of internal audit and system development, finance
director at Swire Beverages Co., Ltd, general manager of its bottler
manufacturing company and chief executive officer of Coca-Cola
Bottler Manufacturing Holdings Limited.

Mr. ZHAO Jiejun, aged 44, joined the Group as a non-executive
Director of the Company in January 2019, Mr. Zhao also currently
serves as the non-executive director of China Shengmu Organic
Milk Limited (stock code: 1432). Mr. Zhao is the vice president
and the head of milk sourcing and supply chain business unit of
Mengniu. Mr. Zhao has served successively as regional manager,
sales director, general manager of operation and general manager
of planning and logistics. Mr. Zhao graduated from Beijing
University of Aeronautics and Astronautics with a master degree
in information engineering and management. Mr. Zhao has over
19 years of experience in the dairy industry and specializes in both
sales management and supply chain management. Mr. Zhao has
in-depth knowledge of PRC dairy market and great foresight in the
PRC dairy industry.
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Ms. GAN Lu, aged 38, joined the Group as a non-executive
Director of the Company in April 2020. Ms Gan is the chief
investment officer of Beijing Hosen Capital Management,LLP
("Hosen Capital”), one of the first private equity management
institutions registered with the China National Development
and Reform Commission pursuant to the new equity investment
regulations. Ms. Gan is also the person-in-charge of the office of
Hosen Capital in Hong Kong. Ms. Gan joined Hosen Capital in
2018. Ms Gan has over twelve years experience in the financial and
investment sectors. Before joining Hosen Capital, Ms. Gan worked
for the Hong Kong office of New Hope Group Co., Ltd, for four
years as head of its Hong Kong office and chief investment officer
of its financial division. Ms. Gan also worked for China International
Capital Corporation Limited (CICC) in Beijing and Hong Kong
for six years as the head of the Hong Kong operations support
coordination department. Ms. Gan graduated from The University
of Hong Kong with a master’s degree in business administration.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LEE Kong Wai Conway, aged 64, is an independent non-
executive Director of the Company. Mr. Lee is currently an
independent non-executive director of West China Cement
Limited (stock code: 2233), Chaowei Power Holdings Limited
(stock code: 951), GOME Retail Holdings Limited (stock code: 493),
NVC International Holdings Limited (stock code: 2222), Yashili
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 1230), GCL New Energy
Holdings Limited (stock code: 451), WH Group Limited (stock
code: 288), and Guotai Junan Securities Limited Co., Ltd (stock
code: 2611), a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
and Shanghai Stock Exchange. Mr. Lee was the independent non-
executive director of Tibet Water Resources Ltd. (stock code:
1115) until February 2020. In addition, he was an independent
non-executive director of China Rundong Auto Group Limited
(stock code: 1365) until December 2020. Mr. Lee is a member of
the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales,
The Chartered Accountants, Australia and New Zealand, the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Macau Society of
Certified Practising Accountants. Mr. Lee was a member of Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference of Hunan Province from
2008 to 31 December 2017. Mr. Lee has over 30 years of experience
in public accounting and auditing, corporate finance, merger and
acquisition and initial public offerings. From September 1980 to
September 2009, Mr. Lee served as a partner of Ernst & Young
and held key leadership positions in his development of the firm in
China.
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Mr. LI Shengli, aged 55, is an independent non-executive Director
of the Company. Mr. Li currently also serves as an independent
non-executive director of China Zhongdi Dairy Holdings Company
Limited (stock code: 1492). Mr. Li graduated from Shihezi
Agricultural College with a bachelor’s degree in animal husbandry
and veterinary science in July 1987. He then obtained his doctorate
degree in animal nutrition science from China Agricultural University
in July 1996. Since 2003, Mr. Li has been with China Agricultural
University, working as an assistant professor and professor in
multiple times. Mr. Li is currently the vice-director (Animal Nutrition)
of the State Key Laboratories, director of the Sino-US Dairy
Research Center of China Agricultural University, director of the
Sino-Dutch Dairy Development Center, chief scientist in national
dairy products industry technology system, a specialist to the China
School Milk Programme and a specialist in the Cattle and Poultry
Research Centre of Beijing Sanyuan Breeding Technology Co,. Ltd.
Mr. Li is a specialist to the Working Committee of National Dairy
Herd Improvement Programme (DHI) of the Dairy Association of
China and the chairman of China Institute of Animal Husbandry
and Veterinary Cattle Chapter. In 2007, Mr. Li obtained a patent
on Rubeili (2L1&7), a type of high-energy and high-protein
supplementary feed for dairy cows. Mr. Li was awarded the second
prize and a prize of the Beijing Science and Technology Award in
2000 and 2007, respectively, and was recognized by the Beijing
Municipal Government as “Top 10 Scientists with Contribution to
the Economic Development in Rural Villages of Beijing” in 2009.
He also received the first prize for advancement in science and
technology awarded by the Education Department in 2012, the first
prize for Chinese Agricultural Science awarded by the Ministry of
Agriculture in 2013 and the second prize of National Scientific and
Technological Progress Award in 2014.
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Mr. WOLHARDT Julian Juul, aged 47, is a independent non-
executive Director of the Company. Mr. Wolhardt joined the Group
in July 2008 and was appointed as a non-executive Director of
the Company on 30 July 2008, and has since been involved in the
corporate development and strategic planning of the Group. Mr.
Wolhardt was the Chairman of the Company from 17 September
2012 to 28 June 2013. Mr. Wolhardt is currently the chief executive
officer of DCP Advisors, Limited and also the independent director
in Niu Technologies, a company listed on Nasdaq (Stock code:
NIU). Mr. Wolhardt previously worked with KKR Asia Limited and
Morgan Stanley, being responsible for private equity business
in China. Mr. Wolhardt is currently the director of Fujian Sunner
Development Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange. Mr. Wolhardt is also an independent non-executive
director of Mengniu. Up to August 2020, Mr. Wolhardt was a non-
executive director of COFCO Meat Holdings Limited (Stock code:
1610). Mr. Wolhardt is a certified public accountant and certified
management accountant in the United States. Mr. Wolhardt
received a Bachelor Degree in Accounting from the University of
lllinois (Urbana-Champaign) in the United States.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. HAN Chunlin, aged 48, is the vice president and chief
operation officer of the Company. Mr. Han is also a director of
Modern Farming and Helingeer Modern Farming Co., Ltd. Up to
1 April 2020, Mr. Han was an executive Director of the Company.
Mr. Han has more than 15 years of experience in China’s food and
beverage industry. Prior to joining the Group in September 2008
and his appointment as an executive Director of the Company
on 14 November 2008, Mr. Han worked as the marketing vice
general manager of Nowara Shinnosuke (Fujian) Food Industry
Company from February 2006 to July 2008. From January 1999 to
September 2004, Mr. Han served at the liquid milk department of
Inner Mongolia Mengniu as marketing manager. Prior to that, Mr.
Han was a branch-plant manager at the Milk Powder Department
of Inner Mongolia Yili Industrial Group Company Limited from July
1994 to January 1999. Mr. Han received a bachelor’s degree in
biology from Inner Mongolia University in China in July 1994.
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Mr. CHEN Hongbo, aged 43, is the vice president of the Group.
Mr. Chen joined the Group in September 2008 and has been
responsible for equipment operation since then. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Chen was with Mengniu from May 2002 to September
2008 during which period Mr. Chen was in charge of operating
several factories of Inner Mongolia Mengniu and worked as the
manager of the Mengniu (Wuhan) Frealth Dairy Co., Ltd. Mr.
Chen worked for Inner Mongolia Yili Industrial Group Co., Ltd. as
an equipment supervisor from July 1996 to May 2002. Mr. Chen
obtained a master’s degree in light industry technology and
engineering from Hubei University of Technology in September
2010.

Mr. SU Jiangong, aged 45, was appointed as the chief financial
officer of the Group in July 2019. Prior to that he was the assistant
to the chief executive officer and head of the financial center of the
Group. Mr. Su joined the Group in October 2008 and is responsible
for the management of the Group's financial center. Prior to
joining the Group, from January 2005 to October 2008, Mr. Su
served in Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group) Company Limited
as the head of performance appraisal and financial accounting
department. Mr. Su is a certified public accountant in the People’s
Republic of China and has over 20 years extensive experience in
the areas of financial management and accounting work since 2000.
Mr. Su was engaged in the initial public offering of the Company,
and he is familiar with corporate finance, mergers and acquisitions,
auditing and internal control. He graduated from Inner Mongolia
University in 1997, majoring in financial accounting.

Mr. SONG Weizheng, aged 40, is the vice president of the Group.
Mr. Song joined the Group in January 2020 and is in charge of the
Group's purchasing center. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Song
joined Mengniu Group in December 2001. He has previously served
as the director of quality inspection, production department,
manager of milk source department, general manager of milk
source region, general manager of Damu Procurement. Mr. Song
obtained a master's degree in bioengineering from Inner Mongolia
University in July 2010.
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Mr. ZHAO Zunyang, aged 42, is the assistant to the chief
executive officer of the Group and head of the nutrition center.
Mr. Zhao joined the Group in April 2010 and was responsible for
the production management for two years in the Group's ranches.
From April 2013, Mr. Zhao was in charge of the nutrition of the
herd. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Zhao had work experiences in
the dairy industry at state-owned enterprises, foreign companies
and American ranches. Mr. Zhao obtained a bachelor’s degree in
animal husbandry from China Agricultural University in July 2000
and a master’s degree in animal nutrition from China Agricultural
University in June 2003. In May 2008, he was awarded a master's
degree from Virginia Polytechnic Institute University in cow nutrition
professional doctorate.

Mr. GUO Zhigang, aged 39, is the assistant to the chief executive
officer of the Group and head of the technical support center of
the Group. Mr. Guo joined the Group in February 2010 and is
responsible for the management of herd disease treatment in the
Group. He has been responsible for the Group's technical support
center since April 2017. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Guo worked
at Wen'’s Dairy, Feihe and dairy farms in the US. In 2017, he was
awarded outstanding young cow veterinarian of China Veterinary
Medical Association. Mr. Guo received his bachelor’'s degree in
animal medicine from Southwest Agriculture University in June 2004
and his master’s degree in animal medicine from China Agricultural
University in September 2016.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The board (the "Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of China
Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”) and the management
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) are
committed to upholding a high standard of corporate governance
to safeguard the interests of the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholder(s)”) and the Company as a whole.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report
("CG Code") as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Listing Rules”). The Company has, throughout the year
ended 31 December 2020 (the “Reporting Year”) and up to the
date of this annual report, complied with the code provisions set
out in the CG Code except for the deviation from code provisions
A6T.

Code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code provides that non-executive
Directors should attend general meetings and develop a balanced
understanding of the views of the shareholders of the Company.
One non-executive Director was not able to attend the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 3 June 2020 due to other
business engagements.

Save as disclosed above, the Board has reviewed the Company'’s
corporate governance practices and is satisfied that the Company
has been in compliance with all applicable code provisions of the
CG Code.

THE BOARD

Role of Directors

The Company is headed by the Board which assumes the
responsibility for leadership and control and be collectively
responsible for promoting the success of the Company by directing
and supervising the Company’s affairs. The Board is accountable
to the Shareholders for managing the Company in a responsible
and effective manner. Every Director is committed to act in the
best interest of the Company and to contribute their expertise
and knowledge to the Company. The Board decides on overall
strategies and monitors the Group's performance on behalf of the
Shareholders.
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The Board determines the objectives, strategies and policies of the
Group. In addition, the Board monitors and controls operating and
financial performance in pursuit of the Group's strategic objectives.
The day-to-day management of the Group's business is delegated
to the chief executive officer and the management of the Group
under the supervision of the executive Directors of the Company.
In addition, the Board has also delegated various responsibilities to
the board committees of the Company (the “Board Committees”).
Matters reserved for the Board and Board Committees are those
affecting the Group's overall strategic policies, financial objectives,
dividend policy, changes in accounting policies, material acquisition
and disposal of assets, investments and other significant matters.

As at 31 December 2020, the Board comprised nine Directors,
including two executive Directors, namely Ms. Gao Lina, Mr. Sun
Yugang, four non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lu Minfang,
Mr. Zhang Ping and Mr. Zhao Jiejun and Ms. Gan Lu, and three
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Li Shengli, Mr.
Lee Kong Wai, Conway, and Mr. Wolhardt Julian Juul.

The biographical details of the Board members are set out in the
"Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 35
to 42 of this annual report.

All Directors are aware of their collective and individual
responsibilities to the Shareholders and have exercised their duties
of care, skill and diligence. Comprehensive directors and officers
liability insurance coverage is in place to provide protection to the
Company, the Directors and senior management.

Non-executive Directors

The non-executive Directors and the independent non-executive
Directors give the Board the benefit of their skills, expertise,
varied background and experiences. Through active participation
in Board meetings and serving on various Board Committees,
the non-executive Directors and the independent non-executive
Directors bring in independent judgment and make valuable
contributions to the effective direction and strategic decision
making of the Group.

Each of the non-executive Directors is appointed for a specific term
of 3 years, subject to retirement by rotation under the articles of
association of the Company ("Articles of Association”).
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Independence of Independent Non-executive Directors
Each of the independent non-executive Directors is appointed
for a specific term of 3 years, subject to retirement by rotation
under the Articles of Association. Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway and
Mr. Wolhardt Julian Juul, two of the independent non-executive
Directors, have the appropriate accounting or related financial
management expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the
Listing Rules. The Board has received from each independent
non-executive Director a written annual confirmation of their
independence and is satisfied with their independence in
accordance with the Listing Rules. The Company considers that
all independent non-executive Directors meet the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The number of
independent non-executive Directors of the Company is three and
represents at least one-third of the Board as required under Rules
3.10(1) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules. Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway
holds nine listed issuer directorships. As advised by Mr. Lee that
he is a full time professional director and has high attendance for
all kind of board meetings, such that the Company believes Mr.
Lee can devote sufficient time to the Board and each of Board
Committee he engaged with listed issuers and in compliance with
Appendix 14 A5.5 to the Listing Rules. Furthermore, although
Mr. Li Shengli and Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway have served as
independent non-executive Directors for more than 9 years. As
independent non-executive Directors with in-depth understanding
of the Company’s operations and business, Mr. Li Shengli and
Mr. Lee Kong Wai have expressed objective views and given
independent guidance to the Company over the years, and they
continue demonstrating a firm commitment to their roles. The
Board considers that the long service of Mr. Li Shengli and Mr. Lee
Kong Wai, Conway would not affect their exercise of independent
judgement and is satisfied that Mr. Li Shengli and Mr. Lee Kong
Wai, Conway have the required character, integrity and experience
to continue fulfilling the role of independent non-executive
Directors.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is responsible for facilitating the Board
process, as well as communication among Board members, with
Shareholders and management. All Directors have access to
the advice and service of the Company Secretary to ensure that
the Board procedures, all applicable rules and regulations are
followed. The Company Secretary complied with the professional
training requirement with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules during the
Reporting Year.
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Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for determining the policies for corporate
governance of the Company and performing the corporate
governance duties including:

(@) to develop and review the Company'’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

(b)  to review and monitor the Company'’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(c) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors;

(e) to review existing employee incentive schemes of the
Company; and

() to review the Company's compliance with Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules.

During the Reporting Year, the Board has fulfilled the corporate
governance functions by reviewing the Company's corporate
governance practices.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer ("CEQ")

The Chairman is responsible for ensuring that the Board is
functioning properly, with good corporate governance practices
and procedures. She also steers the Board and the Company
towards its corporate goals. The CEQ is responsible for the
effective implementation of the overall strategies and initiatives
adopted by the Board as well as the daily operation of the Group.
For the Reporting Year, the Chairman of the Board is Mr. Lu
Minfang. The CEO of the Company and Vice Chairman of the
Board is Ms. Gao Lina.

With the support of the CEO and the Company Secretary, the
Chairman seeks to ensure that all Directors are properly briefed
on issues brought up at Board meetings and that they receive
adequate and reliable information in relation to matters discussed
at Board meetings and also other affairs of the Group on a monthly
basis in order to enable the Directors to assess the Group's
performance, position and prospects in sufficient details.
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BOARD PROCEDURES

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Board has held four
meetings to discuss the overall strategy as well as the operations

and financial performance of the Group. The Directors participated

in person or through electronic means of communication. Details
of the Directors’ attendance at the Board and Board Committee

meetings and the annual general meeting of the Company held on

3 June 2020 are set out as follows:

EESER
HE2020F12A31BLEEE  EFSRITIUR
G R ERERBUNAEER  EBLMER
B -EEFARINEBETEAIRNES - EBF

hEEFEE  EFZEB

g% KARAKR2020

FOAABTHRFBFEASHERANFBTHIIM

T

Number of Board meetings, Board Committee meetings and
general meetings attended/held

i/ BHESEEE EFZEETERRRAGRY

Annual
General Audit Remuneration ~ Nomination
Meeting Board Committee Committee Committee
Name of Director BEpg RRBFAE Exge EHZRE  FMZERE REZRE
Executive Directors BITES
Ms. Gao Lina (Vice Chairman and CEQ) eElzt@E#ER) 1 5/5 N/A N/A N/A
TER TER TR
Mr. Han Chunlin (Chief Operation Officer) Vo= BEME (& E L) N/A 1N N/A N/A N/A
TER TEm TEH TR
Mr. Sun Yugang (Executive Vice President) o= BB 5 FE/E5)" 7 4/ N/A N/A N/A
TER TEA TR
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Lu Minfang (Chairman of the Boara) BNt (EESLE) 1/1 55 N/A N/A )
T TaA
Mr. Zhang Ping RTEE /1 55 22 44 N/A
TR
Mr. Zhao Jiejun BEELE /1 55 N/A N/A N/A
TER TER TR
Ms. Gan Lu "o ERu L n 44 N/A N/A N/A
TEm TEH TR
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFHTES
Mr. Li Shengli ey ik 1/1 55 N/A 44 N/A
TER TER
Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway FREEE 1/1 55 5/5 N/A )
TEA
Mr. Wolhardt Julian Juul Wolhardt Julian Juul5t %4 n 5/5 5/5 2N 12
Mr. Kang Yan " RES A N/A 175 3/3 2 N/A
TR TR
Note: Mr. Han Chunlin and Mr. Kang Yan resigned on 1 April 2020, while Mzt : 8 EFEMITERFEELER202064 818 E

Mr. Sun Yugang and Ms Gan Lu were appointed on the same date.
Wolhardt Julian Juul was re-designated from a non-executive
Director to an independent non-executive Director on 1 April 2020.
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The Board and each Director have separate and independent
access to the Company’s senior management for information and
may make inquiries if necessary. Directors of the Company who
considers it necessary to seek independent professional advice in
order to perform his/her duties as a Director of the Company may
convene, or request the Company Secretary to convene, a meeting
of the Board to approve the consultation of independent legal
or other professional advisor for advice at Company’s expenses.
For regular Board meetings, an agenda and accompanying board
papers of the meeting are sent to all Directors before the proposed
date of a meeting. Additional Board meetings, if necessary, are
arranged and held as and when required. During the Reporting
Year, the Chairman met with the non-executive Directors and the
independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other
executive Directors to exchange views on matters concerning the
business development, management and corporate governance of
the Group.

Every Director is entitled to access the advice and services of
the Company Secretary with a view to ensure that the Board
procedures, and all applicable rules and regulations, are complied
with. All minutes are kept by the Company Secretary and are open
for inspection by any Director during normal office hours with
reasonable advance notice.

Appointment, Re-election of Directors and Removal

In accordance with the CG Code and the Articles of Association,
all Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) are
subject to retirement by rotation once every three years. Each
Director has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company
for a term of three years. The Directors are subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at each annual general meeting of
the Company in accordance with article 17.18 of the Articles of
Association. Directors appointed as an addition to the Board or to
fill a casual vacancy on the Board will be subject to re-election by
the Shareholders at the following annual general meeting or the
following general meeting of the Company after the appointment.
Also, when an independent non-executive Director proposed for
re-election has served the Company for more than nine years, his
or her re-election will be subject to a separate resolution to be
approved at the annual general meeting.
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THE BOARD'S DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted diversity policy, which sets out the
approach to diversity of Board members. In determining the
Board's composition, the Company considers a range of diversity
elements, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and education background, professional experience, skills and
knowledge. All appointments of the Board will be made based
on merit and objective criteria while taking into full account of the
interest of Board's diversity.

As at date of this report, the Board comprises nine Directors
with both gender, three of which are independent non-executive
Directors, thereby promoting critical review and control of the
management process. The Board is also characterised by significant
diversity, whether considered in terms of gender, nationality,
professional background and skills.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL

DEVELOPMENT

According to the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all directors
should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their
contribution to the board remains informed and relevant. The
Company shall be responsible for arranging suitable training for
all Directors at the Company’s expense. The Group continuously
updates the Directors on the latest development regarding the
Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements, to
ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate
governance practices. For newly appointed Director, an induction
package will be given to ensure that he has a proper understanding
of the operations, business and governance policies of the Group.
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A summary of training received by the Directors during the year RIFEZEFBFTIRHEMEEE - EERE E2020F12 4
ended 31 December 2020 according to the records provided by  31H IEFEMESZHFIIBALT -
the Directors is as follows:

Type of trainings

Directors === E R
Executive Directors HITES

Ms. Gao Lina SEMZL A, B
Mr. Han Chunlin (resigned on 1 April 2020) 82 EMIT A (7202094 A 1A &) A B
Mr. Sun Yugang (appointed on 1 April 2020) FEMISE A (FR2020F4 A1 B EZ ) A B
Non-executive Directors FHTES

Mr. Lu Minfang (Chairman of the Board) ESgREE(EFEFE) A B,C
Mr. Zhang Ping wFRE A, B
Mr. Zhao Jiejun AT A4 A, B
Ms. Gan Lu (appointed on 1 April 2020) HB 2 (A2020F4 1 BEZ ) A B
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHITES

Mr. Li Shengli FEBAEE A B, C
Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway FEBLE A B, C
Mr. Wolhardt Julian Juul Wolhardt Julian Juul%t & A B, C
Mr. Kang Yan (resigned on 1 April 2020) FEEE A (FA2020F4 A 1B &HE) A B, C

A:  Reading materials, journals and updates relating to the business and A : BMEEBEBRITEZRNEY AU REHE
industry development #

B: Reading materials relevant to the latest development of the Listing B: BEABLMRAEEMEAEERTRNERE
Rules and other applicable regulatory requirement HREY)

C:  Attending or delivering seminars and/or conferences and/or forums C: HRIEFHHIGR SEFERdwmiE
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BOARD COMMITTEES

In order to oversee particular aspects of the Group, the Board
had established a Remuneration Committee, an Audit Committee
a Nomination Committee and a Strategy and Development
Committee with the defined terms of reference in line with the
CG Code. The terms of reference are published on the respective
websites of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and the Company.
The Board Committees are provided with sufficient resources
to discharge their duties and are able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances upon request.
Details of these Board committees including their composition,
major responsibilities and functions and work performed are as

follows:

Remuneration Committee

The chairman of the Remuneration Committee is Mr. Li Shengli
and other members are Mr. Zhang Ping and Mr. Wolhardt Julian
Juul. The Remuneration Committee is chaired by an independent
non-executive Director and the majority being independent
non-executive Directors of the Company.

The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee are to
make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy
and structure for the remuneration for all the Directors and
senior management of the Group, and make recommendations
of the remuneration packages for all the executive Directors,
non-executive Directors and the senior management to the Board.

The Company’ s emolument policy is to ensure that the
remuneration offered to employees including executive Directors
and senior management of the Group is based on the skills,
knowledge, responsibilities and involvement in the Company’s
and the Group's affairs. The remuneration packages are also
determined by reference to the Company’s performance and
profitability, remuneration level in the industry and the prevailing
market conditions. The emolument policy for independent
non-executive Directors, mainly comprising Directors’ fees,
is subject to annual assessment with reference to the market
standard. Individual Directors and senior management would not
be involved in deciding their own remuneration. The Remuneration
Committee has been provided with sufficient resources to
discharge its duties.
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During the Reporting Year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed,
discussed and approved the remuneration for the executive
Directors and senior management of the Group, reviewed the
remuneration policy and made recommendation to the Board for
the remuneration for the non-executive Directors for its approval.
Remuneration Committee has also reviewed the existing employee
incentive schemes of the Group.

The remuneration of the members of the senior management by
band for the year ended 31 December 2020 is set out below:

RAERFE - FTHEZESEHN - fmMILER
KEHTEFLESAEEE ZME REHFHFIK
R UMIFATEF HFHAESSREZZEN
HEEL - FHZE@NTEHNABAKENER
EET & o

SREEBKEERZ2020F12A318 ILEE 2 B
TEENT

Number of
Remuneration bands (HK$) persons
& eEGET) REAH
0-1,000,000 0
1,000,001-2,000,000 3
2,000,001-3,000,000 2
3,000,000—4,000,000 0

Further particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and the five
highest paid employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to
Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in notes 12 and 13 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Audit Committee

As at 31 December 2020, the Audit Committee comprised two
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lee Kong Wai,
Conway and Mr. Wolhardt Julian Juul and one non-executive
Director, Mr. Zhang Ping. Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway and Mr.
Wolhardt Julian Juul posses the relevant professional qualifications
required under the Listing rules. The Chairman of the Audit
Committee is Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway.

The primary responsibilities of the Audit Committee are to oversee
the Group's financial reporting system, risk management system
and internal control procedures, and to review and monitor
the external auditors’ independence and objectivity and the
effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with the applicable
standard. The Audit Committee has been provided with sufficient
resources to discharge its duties.
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The Audit Committee held three meetings during the year ended
31 December 2020. Major work completed by the Audit Committee
during the year includes:

o reviewed the Group's annual report, interim financial

information and annual consolidated financial statements;
o reviewed significant accounting and audit issues;

o reviewed the external auditor’s qualifications, independence
and performance;

o reviewed the external auditor's management letter and the
management’s response;

o reported to the Board on matters relating to the Audit
Committee under the CG Code;

J assisted the Board to evaluate on the effectiveness of
financial reporting procedures and internal control system;

o reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group's
systems of internal control and risk management and the
effectiveness of the internal audit function, including advising
on identification of connected parties and formulating
relevant policies;

o reviewed the connected and continuing connected
transactions entered into by the Group or subsisting during
the Reporting Year; and

o reviewed the utilisation of annual caps on certain continuing
connected transactions of the Group.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprised one non-executive Director
Mr. Lu Minfang and two independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway and Mr. Wolhardt Julian Juul.
The Chairman of the Nomination Committee is Mr. Lu Minfang.
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The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to
review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy; identify individuals
suitably qualified to become Board members and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of, individuals
nominated for directorships; assess the independence of
independent non-executive directors; and make recommendations
to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of directors
and succession planning for directors, in particular the chairman of
the Board and the chief executive. The Nomination Committee has
been provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties.

During the Reporting Year, the Nomination Committee held two
meetings and has reviewed and recommended the structure, size
and composition (including skills, knowledge and experience)
of the Board. It reviewed the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors. It also made recommendations to the
Board on retiring Directors for re-election at the annual general
meeting held on 3 June 2020.

Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a nomination policy for directorship
(the "Nomination Policy”) in 2018 which supplemental to the
Terms of Reference of the Nomination Committee of the Board (the
“Nomination Committee”). It aims at setting out the processes
and criteria for the nomination of a candidate for directorship in
the Company and ensures that all nominations of Board members
are fair and transparent in order to facilitate the constitution
of the Board with a balance of skills, experience and diversity
of perspectives that is appropriate to the requirements of the
Company'’s business.
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Nomination Policy sets out as below:

1. Objective

1.1.

1.2

This policy was approved and adopted by the
board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company by
resolution passed on 17 December 2018 upon the
recommendation of the Nomination Committee.

This policy sets out the selection criteria and procedures
to be adopted when considering candidates to
be nominated to the Board for it to consider or
recommended to the shareholders of the Company for
election, whether new appointment or re-appointment,
as directors of the Company at general meetings or as
directors to fill casual vacancies to ensure the Board
has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives to meet various needs of the Company.
It is the Board which has the ultimate responsibility for
selecting and appointing the directors.

2. Selection criteria

2.1.

When considering a candidate nominated for
directorship or a director’s proposed re-appointment,
the Nomination Committee will take into account the
following factors as a reference:

o whether the qualification, skills, experience,
industry knowledge of the candidate meet the
business needs or are in line with the long term
development of the Company;

o effect on the board’s composition and diversity in
all its aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age (18 years or above), cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service, and
the compliance with the diversity policy of the
Company;

o commitment of the candidate to devote sufficient
time to effectively discharge his/her duties. In
this regard, the number and nature of offices
held by the candidate in public companies or
organizations, and other executive appointments
or significant commitments will be considered;
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2.3.
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e any potential/actual conflicts of interest that may
arise if the candidate is selected;

o for the appointment or re-appointment of
independent non-executive directors, the
independence of the candidate and his/her
immediate family from the Company; and

o in the case of a proposed re-appointment of an
independent non-executive director, the number
of years he/she has already served.

The above factors are for reference only, and not
meant to be exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination
Committee has the discretion to nominate any person,
as it considers appropriate on a case by case basis.

Proposed candidates will be asked to submit the
necessary personal information in a prescribed form,
together with their written consent to be appointed as
a director of the Company and to the public disclosure
of their personal data on any document or the relevant
websites for the purpose of or in relation to their
standing for election as a director of the Company.

The Nomination Committee may request candidates
to provide additional information and documents, if
considered necessary.

3. Nomination procedures

3.1.

Subject to the provisions in the Company’s Articles
of Association, if the Board recognises the need to
appoint an additional director, the following procedures
should be adopted:

o the chairman of the Nomination Committee shall
call a meeting of the Nomination Committee,
and invite nominations of candidates from
Board members if any, for consideration by the
Nomination Committee prior to its meeting. The
Nomination Committee may also identify or select
candidates to be recommended to the Board,
with or without assistance from external agencies
or the Company;
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3.2.

Shel

3.4.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

d the Nomination Committee may use any process
it deems appropriate to assess the suitability of
and the potential contribution to the Board by
the candidates based on (but not limited to) the
criteria set out in section 2.1 herein, which may
include personal interviews, background checks,
presentations or written submissions by the
candidates and third party references;

o the Nomination Committee will hold a physical
meeting to consider the matter and avoid the
making of decisions by written resolutions unless
it is impractical that a physical meeting be held;

o the Nomination Committee shall provide to the
Board for its consideration with all the information
required, including information set out in Rule
13.51(2) of the Listing Rules in relation to the
candidates;

o the Nomination Committee shall make
recommendation to the Board, including the
terms and conditions of the appointment.

The Board deliberates and decides on the appointment
based upon the recommendation of the Nomination
Committee. The Board shall have the final decision on
all matters relating to its recommendation of candidates
to stand for election at any general meeting.

All appointments of director should be confirmed by
letter of appointment setting out the key terms and
conditions of the appointment of the directors, which
should be approved by the Nomination Committee.

In order to provide information of the candidates
nominated by the Board to stand for election at a
general meeting, and to invite nominations from
shareholders, a circular accompanying the notice of the
relevant general meeting will be sent to shareholders
of the Company. The circular will set out the lodgment
period for shareholders to make the nominations.
The names, brief biographies (including qualifications
and relevant experience), independence, proposed
remuneration and any other information, as required
pursuant to the applicable laws, rules and regulations,
of the proposed candidates will be included in the
circular to shareholders of the Company.

3.2

She)

3.4.
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Re-appointments of existing directors

In cases of re-appointments of existing directors, a physical
meeting will be held to consider the re-appointment based
on (but not limited to) the criteria set out in paragraph 2.1
above.

5. Nomination by shareholders
The shareholders of the Company may also propose a
person for election as a director, details of which are set out
in the “Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for
Election as Director” of the Company.

6. General
6.1. This policy and the progress towards achieving the
objectives set out in this policy will be disclosed in the
corporate governance report of the Company.

6.2.  This policy shall be reviewed annually by the Nomination
Committee at its annual meeting. This policy shall be
updated and revised as and when necessary in light
of changes in circumstances (e.g. change in business
needs of the Company) and reflect any change in
regulatory requirements, including those under the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Any amendment to
this policy shall be approved and resolved by the Board
in writing.

6.3. In case of discrepancy in respect of the language of this
Policy, the English version shall prevail.

Strategy and Development Committee

The Strategy and Development Committee comprised one
executive Director, Ms. Gao Lina, two non-executive Directors, Mr.
Zhao Jiejun and Ms. Gan Lu who was appointed on 1 April 2020
and one independent non-executive Director, Mr. Li Shengli. The
Strategy and Development Committee is chaired by Ms. Gao Lina.

The principal duties of the Strategy and Development Committee
include drawing up long-term development strategies and
significant investments on financing plans of the Company,
proposing significant capital investment for operation projects, and
conducting studies and making recommendations on important
matters that would affect the development of the Company.
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AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

The Group's external auditors are Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. The
Audit Committee is responsible for the appointment of external
auditors and reviewing the non-audit services (including any
potential conflict of interest) performed by the external auditors.
The amount of fees charged by the auditor generally depends on
the scope and volume of the auditor’s work. For the year ended 31
December 2020, the remuneration to the auditor of the Company
were approximately RMB3.15 million (2019: RMB2.95 million) for
audit services and RMBO0.98 million (2019: RMBO0.19 million) for
non-audit services.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR'’S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE ACCOUNTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility to prepare the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Group. Meanwhile, the Directors are
responsible for ensuring that appropriate accounting policies
are selected and applied consistently; and that judgments and
estimates made are prudent and reasonable. In preparing the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2020, the requirements of the International Financial Reporting
Standards, International Accounting Standards and Interpretations
(collectively "IFRSs") issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board and the applicable laws were complied with.

The Board was not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that might cast significant doubt upon
the Group's ability to continue as going concern. The Board has
prepared the consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis.

The reporting responsibilities of external auditors of the Company
are disclosed in “Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 97 to
103 of this annual report.

Pursuant to code provision C.1.2 of the CG Code, the management
of the Company has provided all members with monthly updates
giving a fair and understandable assessment of the Company's
performance, financial position and prospects in sufficient detail
to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge his
duties under Rule 3.08 and Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules during
the Reporting Year.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Reporting Year, there is no significant change in the
Company'’s constitutional documents.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board is responsible for annually reviewing the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control system of the Group.
The scope of the review is determined and recommended by
the Audit Committee. The review covers all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions. Such review also considers the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of the staff of the
Company in relation to its accounting and financial reporting
function, and their training programmes and budget. Risk
management and internal control review reports are circulated to
the Audit Committee members and the Board in accordance with
the approved scope.

During the Reporting Year, the Group has complied with Code
Provision C.2 of the CG Code by establishing appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control systems. The major
features of the risk management and internal control systems are
set out as below:

Risk Management System

The Group adopts a risk management system which manages
the risk associated with its business and operations. The system
comprises the following phases:

o Identification: 1dentify ownership of risks, business objectives
and risks that could affect the achievement of objectives.

o Evaluation: Analyze the likelihood and impact of risks and
evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.

. Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitoring of the
residual risks.

The Board together with senior management monitor and assess
risk regularly, boost related management standards and evaluate
investment projects. Based on the risk assessments conducted for
the year under review, no significant risk was identified.
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Internal Control System

The Company has in place an internal control system. The
framework of the system enables the Group to achieve objectives
regarding effectiveness and efficiency of operations, reliability
of financial reporting and compliance with applicable laws and
regulations. The components of the framework are shown as follow:

Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and
structures that provide the basis for carrying out internal
control across the Group.

Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for
identifying and analyzing risks to achieve the Group's
objectives, forming a basis for determining how risks should
be managed.

Control Activities: Action established by policies and
procedures to help ensure that management directives to
mitigate risks to the achievement of objectives are carried
out.

Information and Communication: Internal and external
communication to provide the Group with the information
needed to carry out day-to-day controls.

Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain
whether each components of internal control is present and
functioning.
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Internal Audit

Internal audit is an independent function reporting to the Audit
Committee and senior management of the Group. It provides an
independent and objective assurance to safeguard the Group's
operations. It effectuates a systematic and disciplined approach to
evaluate and improve the Group's process on risk management,
internal control and governance. The risk based audit plans ensure
that high risk areas of the Group’s operations and resources are
specifically attended to Ad hoc reviews are conducted on areas of
concern where necessary.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, reviews the adequacy
of resources, training programmes, budget, qualifications and
experience of the accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
staff in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules. The
Audit Committee and the Board review the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group and fulfill
the requirement of the CG Code regarding risk management and
internal control systems in general. During the Reporting Year, the
internal audit department has conducted audit on farms at different
regions of the Group and reported to the senior management.
The internal audit department of the Group has also reviewed
the connected transaction of the Group and report to Audit
Committee.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted for the Reporting
Year, no significant control deficiency was identified.

The Audit Committee is satisfied that the risk management system
and internal control system maintained by the Group are sufficient
to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that the
Group's assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorized use
or disposition, and that transactions are properly authorized and
proper accounting records are properly maintained.
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Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information

The Group has formulated an internal code on Information
Disclosure to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness and
timeliness of information disclosure of the Group in accordance
with the requirements of the SFO and the Listing Rules. The
Internal Code provides for detailed rules in the following areas.

- basic principles of information disclosure

= information that needs to be disclosed and the criteria
thereof

- duties of the parties responsible for information disclosure

= procedures for the circulation, review and disclosure of
information

- confidentiality of the undisclosed information

- information communication system with investors, securities
analysts and the media, etc.

- accountability and handling measures
The senior management has reviewed the risk management and
internal control system of the Group for the Reporting Year and

considered them to be effective and adequate.

The Group will continue to enhance the system to cope with the
changes in the business environment.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopted a dividend policy on 17 December 2018 (the
“Dividend Policy”). Under the Dividend Policy, the declaration and
payment of dividends shall be determined at the sole discretion
of the Board. The Company’s ability to distribute dividends will
depend on, among others, the profits, operating results, cash flow,
financial condition, contractual restrictions, capital requirements
and other factors of the Company which the Directors consider
relevant, and the interests of the shareholders of the Company. The
remaining profit will be used for the development and operation of
the Group.

The Company’s distribution of dividends shall also comply with any
restrictions under the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands, the
laws of Hong Kong, the Listing Rules and the Articles of Association
of the Company, as well as subject to the approval of shareholders
of the Company.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
Effective Communication

The Company discloses relevant information to Shareholders
through the Company’s annual report and consolidated financial
statements, the interim report, as well as the annual general
meeting. The section under "CEQ’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of the annual report facilitate the
Shareholders’ understanding of the Company's activities.
The annual general meeting allows the Directors to meet and
communicate with the Shareholders. The Company’s consolidated
financial statements and each of the required disclosure of
information are dispatched within the prescribed period imposed
by laws and regulations.

To manage its relationship with the investment community, the
Group meets regularly with the press and financial analysts and
participates frequently in other conferences and presentations.

To further promote effective communication, the corporate website
is maintained to disseminate Company announcements and other
relevant financial and non-financial information electronically on a
timely basis.
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SHAREHOLDERS RIGHTS

Procedure for Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary
General Meeting

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, any one or more
Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the issued share
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings may require an extraordinary general meeting by
a written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary
either via personal delivery or mail (Attn: Board of Directors/
Company Secretary, at Room A, 32nd Floor, COFCO Tower,
262 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong) or via email
(info@moderndairyir.com). The Board shall proceed duly within
21 days from the date of deposit of the requisition to convene a
general meeting to be held within a further 21 days.

Procedures for Sending Enquiries to the Board
Shareholders may send their enquiries requiring the Board's
attention to the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal
office address at Room A, 32nd Floor, COFCO Tower, 262
Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong. The Company
Secretary forwards communications relating to matters within the
Board’s purview to the Board.

Procedures for Making Proposals at Shareholder’s Meeting
Shareholders are welcomed to suggest proposals relating to
the operations, strategy and/or management of the Group to
be discussed at general meetings. Proposals shall be sent to the
Board pursuant to the following address via personal delivery,
mail or courier to: Attention: Shareholder Communication, Board
of Directors, Room A, 32nd Floor, COFCO Tower, 262 Gloucester
Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

The Board may, in its sole discretion, consider if such proposals
are appropriate and shall be put forward to the Shareholders for
approval at next annual general meeting or at an extraordinary
general meeting to be convened by the Board, as appropriate.
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Voting by Way of Poll

Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing Rules, all votes of the
Shareholders at the annual general meeting must be taken by
poll. The chairman of the meeting will therefore demand a poll
for every resolution put to the vote of the annual general meeting
pursuant to article 14.6 of the Articles of Association. The relevant
details of the proposed resolutions, including biographies of each
Director standing for re-election, will be included in the circular
to Shareholders dispatched together with this annual report.
The Company will announce the results of the poll in the manner
prescribed under Rule 13.39(5) of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than the
required standard set out in the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10
of the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors,
all Directors confirmed that they have complied with the required
standard set out in the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors adopted by the Company during the
Reporting Year.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company adopts a proactive policy in promoting investor
relations and communications. When the Company announces its
interim and annual results, management will normally meet with
institutional investors, financial analysts and financial media, provide
briefings on the business progress and recent developments of
the Company. The Company has regularly participated in investor
summits and conferences to enhance communication with the
investment community. Investors are welcomed to send their
enquiries to our investor relation at info@moderndairyir.com or
browse the Company’s website (http://www.moderndairyir.com) for
latest update information of the Group.

On behalf of the Board
GAO Lina
Director

Hong Kong, 23 March 2021
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Board presents its report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of China Modern Dairy Holdings
Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
"Group") for the year ended 31 December 2020 (the “Reporting
Year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries is production and sale of raw
milk to customers for processing into dairy products.

The particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in note 43 to the
consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The results of the Group for the Reporting Year and the state of
affairs of the Company and the Group as at that date are set out in
the consolidated financial statements and the notes on pages 104
to 254.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movement in the share capital of the Company
during the Reporting Year are set out in note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Save as disclosed in this report, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s
listed securities during the Reporting Year, except that the trustee
of the share award scheme of the Company adopted on 26 March
2018, pursuant to the rules of this scheme, purchased on the open
market a total of 20,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company as
restricted shares at a consideration of approximately HK$17,255,000
(equivalent to RMB15,763,000). The Group retained a total number
of 5,510,525 vesting shares as a consideration of approximately
HK$4,519,000 (equivalent to RMB4,129,000) for paying the
individual income tax on behalf of those selected participants
under the share award schemes of the Company.
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PROPOSED FINAL DIVIDEND
No interim dividend was paid during the Reporting Year (2019: nil).

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend
of RMB0.02 (2019: nil) per ordinary share for the year ended 31
December 2020. Upon shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company (the "AGM"), the
proposed final dividend will be paid on or about Thursday, 24
June 2021 to shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on Thursday, 10 June 2021.

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the
Reporting Year amounted to approximately RMB11.22 million (2019:
RMBO0.55 million).

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group's business, a discussion on the Group's
future business development and possible risks and uncertainties
that the Group may be facing, and an analysis of the Group's
performance using financial key performance indicators for
Reporting Year are provided in the CEO’s Statement on pages 10
to 12 and the Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 14 to
34 of this annual report. These discussions form part of this report.

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group
are shown in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.

Other than financial performance, the Group believes that a high
standard of corporate social responsibility is essential for building
up a good corporate and social relationship and motivating
staff and creating a sustainable return to the Group. We are
committed to contributing to the sustainability of the environment
and community in which we conduct business and where our
stakeholders live.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

As a responsible business participant, the Group strictly
endeavoured to comply with laws and regulations regarding
environmental protection and adopted effective environmental
technologies to ensure our products meet the required standards
and ethics in respect of environment protection.

R H AR IR 2.
RA R4 3 MR B R BB (2019%F ¢ fE) -

EEOREBREERE2020F12A31B ILEENE
K% EFI L B ARE0.0270(20194F + ) -
FREBARFKREAFTF A ((RREFAE))
FEREMEE - BRHRR B R 2021568
248 (2B siAl &R T1R2021F6H 108 (2
HAPO) 25 AN A BB A AU AR R o

B

REERARERFEARNELHZRS R EMBRLY
BAREI1.22887T(2019F : ARKOSSHE
JT) °

EROE

PR 2 A S ER R AR EAK R
BREZ R RARET L HY 2 B EARRT
BHREARAEERAR SRR RRIEE LR
RS HBR ERBRGEEE0E12ARE
1B H B IA T H14EE - RFT R AT
EH—H5 -

AEECHRABRERENBZERBORSREE MG
AR L3S ©

BRUMBRAN  AEERBASERENEEHER
THRYRFNEELEBERABETALR
AEBRENHERNREMEE - RABHNRE
ERPINER LA EAREE MR ARE LR
R A FFE R -

RERE

ER—BARENERBLEE - AEEBHBER
BTERRERENTELERMEBERHIR
PRI - AR PIRE M & B BRBREN
MERIRER RS -



RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES

The employees of the Group are one of the most important assets
and stakeholders of the Group and their contribution and support
are values at all times. The Group regularly reviews compensation
and benefits policies accordingly to industry benchmark as well as
the individual performance of employees. Other fringe benefits,
mandatory provident fund, share options, restricted share award,
employee partnership program and cash-based incentive award
are provided to retain loyal employees with the aim to form a
professional staff and management team that can bring the Group
to different levels of success.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH SUPPLIERS

The Company adopts an open, fair and impartial procurement
policies, and takes the lead in formulating industry standards
as a win-win approach for a healthy development of the dairy
industry. The quality and safety of feed are always our primary
consideration. We have established long-term cooperation
relationship with a number of suppliers, and strived to ensure that
they are in compliance with our undertaking on quality and ethics.
We require the suppliers to observe our undertaking on integrity.
We have stringent requirements in supplier selection and that
they must satisfy the qualification requirements in quality, safety,
nutrients, historical record and overall performance etc. and pass
our constant examination and evaluation before becoming our
qualified suppliers.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH CUSTOMERS

To provide high quality products and services to customers are
always our mission. Customers’ need and demand are always
our top consideration. With the increase of income and the
popularization of health concepts, the demand of dairy products
is increasingly augmented with a growing tendency for diversified
products.

We, together with Mengniu Group expand the sales network and
increase sale forms, setting up outlets in large supermarkets. By
doing so, we hope to gradually develop customers, deliver our
fresh milk products in time, and meet consumers’ demand.

Annual Report 2020 « ZZZEFFH

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHEE

B{ES R

AEEREBAARESEEEERBHEL —
HENBEBRIH —EAREEBREEEE -
BRI RERIER 2 BRIRREHRE
BERERIEE - IR BIMER - B
DS - BIE - RHIMRBRG  BTABA
HERNR S AERNEHNHRD 2 AES - 5
EER—FEENEIREREY  ARTER
TREAERK -

B ERE B R

RRBEALRE - 2F - RAEMNRBBE @ 514
HIETRRE  RIXRRBERFGEERETE -
FARNRENZE2RRMAN—EEENEER
= HFERZREREBREL T RUAGERRE
WENEERELETRMAEERMBENARE - X
2R EEE TR AR - LAY HER
FIBERESREERN  HEBLEERERE

REEEKD  ERis BREESZHED
BRER - AMAKBRMAFRONME - AKX

REMAEROEER -

HEFNEE

AEFRHBRENERNRBRRANES
EFNBENBRAKRRMANEEZRES -
BEERARRBUAKENREMEERSNE
R PESEREASEA - BREAMHSHY

BHERFREOCMREEEE  BFHEN
A RAEBH2EEBEHE - RAFEEELL
REFEBREP @ RED MR EE - D
R mBEHEEEFR -



=70

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. * HEIRAKEZERBRAF

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
FERREE

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group’s main operations are carried out by the Company’s
subsidiaries in the mainland China while the Company itself is
listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. The Group's operations
are regulated by Hong Kong and mainland China laws. During the
Reporting Year and up to the date of this report, the Board was not
aware of any non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Company. Please refer to the
discussions in this report and the “Corporate Governance Report”
for further details on the Group's compliance with the relevant laws
and regulations.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association (the "Articles of
Association”), every Director shall be entitled to be indemnified
out of the assets of the Company against all loss or liabilities (to
the fullest extent permitted by the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands) which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the execution
of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto. The
Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability
coverage for the Directors and officers of the Company.

REMUNERATION OF THE DIRECTORS

The remuneration of each Director is determined with reference
to the duties, responsibilities, performance of the Directors, the
results of the Group and the prevailing market rate.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors are set out in note 12
to the consolidated financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

Details of the corporate governance practice of the Company are
set out on pages 43 to 66 of this annual report.
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PLACING OF NEW SHARES UNDER GENERAL
MANDATE

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated
20 January 2021 in respect of the placing of new shares of the
Company under general mandate (the “Placing”), all the conditions
of the Placing have been fulfilled and completion of the Placing
took place on 27 January 2021. An aggregate of 650,000,000 shares
of the Company have placed by the placing manager to not fewer
than six independent placees at placing price of HK$2.40. The net
proceeds from the Placing amount to approximately HK$1,552
million. The Company intends to apply the net proceeds from
the Placing on infrastructure development and herd expansion,
potential mergers and acquisitions and general working capital.

ACQUISITION OF 100% EQUITY INTERESTS IN
FUYUAN

Reference is made to the Company’s announcement dated 22
March 2021, that the Company entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with certain sellers (the “Sellers”) and Inner Mongolia
Fuyuan International Industrial (Group) Co. Ltd. (the “Fuyuan”), in
relation to the acquisition of the entire equity interests in Fuyuan at
a total consideration of RMB3.48 billion (“Acquisition”), which shall
be satisfied by a combination of cash and allotment and issue of
shares of the Company under two settlement scenarios.

Fuyuan currently operates a total of 14 dairy farms with
approximately 60,000 dairy cows in China. Fuyuan is also one of
the major suppliers of feedstuff. Following the Acquisition, the
number of dairy cows owned by the Group will be increased to
approximately 295,000, which could further strengthen its position
in the dairy farming industry in China and enhance the Group's
competitiveness in terms of quality and pricing of the raw milk, so
as the feed cost could further be lowered.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the Reporting Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on pages 108 and note 45 to the
consolidated financial statements. The Company’s distributable
reserves, calculated in accordance with the Companies Law of
Cayman lIslands, amounted to approximately RMB6,184.30 million
as at 31 December 2020 (2019: RMB6,097.37 million).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on pages 255 to 256.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BANK AND OTHER LOANS

Particulars of bank and other loans of the Group as at 31 December
2020 are set out in notes 29 and 30 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The turnover attributable to the Group’s primary customers,
Mengniu Group, accounted for approximately 82.0% (2019: 85.3%)
of the Group's total turnover for the Reporting Year. The Group's
five largest customers contributed in aggregate 96.8% (2019: 95.6%)
of the Group’s total turnover for the year ended 31 December
2020.

During the Reporting Year, the five largest suppliers of the Group
in aggregate represented 10.7% (2019: 12.7%) of the Group's total
purchases. Purchases from the largest supplier accounted for
approximately 2.6% (2019: 4.0%) of the Group's total purchases.

Save as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions” and the interest in Mengniu of Mr. Lu
Minfang, Mr. Zhang Ping, and Mr. Zhao Jiejun as disclosed in the
section headed "Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures”
below of this report, none of the Directors or any of their associates
or any shareholder (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any
beneficial interest in the Group's top five largest customers and
suppliers.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2020 and up to

the date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Ms. Gao Lina (Vice Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Sun Yugang (Executive Vice President)

(appointed on 1 April 2020)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lu Minfang (Chairman of the Board))
Mr. Zhang Ping

Mr. Zhao Jiejun

Ms. Gan Lu (appointed on 1 April 2020)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Li Shengli

Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway

Mr. Wolhardt Julian Juul

In accordance with Article 17.18 of the Articles of Association of
the Company, Ms. Gao Lina, Mr. Zhao Jiejun and Mr. Li Shengli
and Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway will retire by rotation and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM
as at the date of this report.

By virtue of Article 17.2 of the Articles of Association, the Board
shall have power from time to time and at any time to appoint any
person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition
to the Board. Any Director so appointed shall hold office only until
the following AGM of the Company and shall then be eligible for
re-election at that meeting.

The Company considers that all the independent non-executive
Directors are independent pursuant to the criteria set out in Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules and that a confirmation of independence
has been received from each of them.

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Group as at the date of this annual report are set out on pages
35to 42.

Directors’ Services Contracts

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the AGM
has a service contract which is not determinable by the Company
or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of
compensation, other than normal statutory obligations.
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Related Parties Transaction

Save as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Continuing
Connected Transaction” from page 87 to 91 in this annual report,
none of the “Related Parties Transactions” as disclosed in note 42
to the consolidated financial statements for the year under review
constituted discloseable non-exempted connected transaction or
non-exempted continuing connected transaction under the Listing
Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS — LONG AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2020, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and the chief executives of the Company and
their respective associates in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO")) as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 352
of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code")

were as follows:

Long Positions in the Shares and Underlying Shares of the
Company
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Number of Approximate
Shares or percentage of
underlying shareholding
Name of Director Nature of interest Shares interest
B 13 =R
BEEHA ERME HERGEE RESANES T
Ms. Gao Lina® Interest in controlled corporation 221,581,733 3.43%
Sy pequuil) SPEHEB S
Beneficial owner 40,411,058 0.63%
EmFEA
Mr. Sun Yugang Beneficial owner 1,073,663 0.02%

BREMSEE ERFAA

(1) Ms. Gao holds approximately 49.12% of the interests in Jinmu
Holdings Co Ltd. (“Jinmu”). Ms. Gao is deemed to be interested in
the 221,581,733 shares in the Company held by Jinmu under the SFO.

(1) B&ZET#HEAJinmu Holdings Co Ltd.([Jinmul) %Y
49.12% % o MIFFEHF KBRS - B THR
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Interest in Associated Corporation
Long positions in the shares of the associated corporation are set
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out below:
Number of Approximate
shares in percentage of
associated shareholdings
Name of Director Name of associated corporation corporation interest
REBEE
E=nSR B EE AR K7 E RESNE
Mr. Lu Minfang China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited 11,522,520 0.29%
EfmkE PERFIARERAA
Mr. Zhang Ping China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited 1,943,002 0.05%
RFRE TERFIAEERAT
Mr. Zhao Jiejun China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited 2,501,805 0.06%
HEHELRE FESFIEBRAT

Note: Mr. Lu Minfang, Mr. Zhang Ping and Mr. Zhao Jiejun are
non-executive Directors of the Company. Mr. Lu Minfang is an
executive director and chief executive officer of Mengniu. Mr.
Zhang Ping is a chief financial officer of Mengniu. Mr. Zhao Jiejun is
the vice president and the head of milk sourcing and supply chain
business unit of Mengniu. As at the date of this report, Mengniu
holds 52.41% of the issued share capital of the Company.

Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, none of the
Directors and the chief executives of the Company and their
respective associates had any interests and short positions in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) as recorded in the register of the Company required to
be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 27 February
2020 that the Company joined the force to fight the epidemic and
fulfill corporate social responsibility, had entered into a products
purchase and sales contract with Mengniu on 27 February 2020
("Products Purchase and Sales Contract”) through a subsidiary
of the Company to purchase “Modern Farming” branded products
for donation to areas infected by “COVID-19" with amount RMB10
million. As at the date of the announcement, (i) Mr. Lu Minfang, a
non-executive Director and the chairman of the Board, is also an
executive director and the chief executive officer of Mengniu; (i)
Mr. Wolhardt Julian Juul, an independent non-executive Director,
is also an independent non-executive director of Mengniu; (i) Mr.
Zhang Ping, a non-executive Director, is also the chief financial
officer of Mengniu; and (iv) Mr. Zhao Jiejun, a non-executive
Director, is also the assistant vice president and general manager
of milk sources business department of Mengniu. Accordingly,
each of Mr. Lu Minfang, Mr. Wolhardt Julian Juul, Mr. Zhang Ping
and Mr. Zhao Jiejun is considered to have a material interest in
the Products Purchase and Sales Contract and has abstained from
voting on the relevant board resolutions approving the Products
Purchase and Sales Contract.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no transaction, arrangement
or contract of significance, to which the Company, its fellow
subsidiaries, its subsidiaries or its holding company was a party,
and in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or any time during the
Reporting Year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

The Director named in the paragraphs below have interests in
businesses, which are considered to compete or likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group during
the Reporting Year.

As mentioned above, each of Mr. Lu Minfang, Mr. Wolhardt Julian
Juul, Mr. Zhang Ping and Mr. Zhao Jiejun, held offices in Mengniu
during the Reporting Year. Mengniu is a substantial shareholder
of the Company and is engaged in the dairy industry. During the
Reporting Year, Mr. Li Shengli was also one of the independent
non-executive directors of China Zhongdi Dairy Holdings Company
Limited (stock code: 1492), which operates dairy farming business.

The above-mentioned competing business is managed by separate
entities with independent management and administration. The
Directors are of the view that the Group is capable of carrying
on its businesses independently of, and at arm'’s length from, the
businesses of these entities. When making decisions, the relevant
Director, in performance of his duty as Director, have acted and will
continue to act in the best interests of the Group.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or their respective
associates had any interest in any company or business which
competes or may compete with the business of the Group during
the Reporting Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group were
entered into or existed during the Reporting Year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share incentive scheme as set out below, the Company
has not entered into any equity-linked agreement during the year
ended 31 December 2020.
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PRE-IPO MANAGEMENT OPTIONS BEXCRBRENEEEBRE

The Company, on 31 October 2010, before the initial public offer ~ ZARAFR2010F10A31BAIA AR E A AMAES
of the Company, granted management options (“Management Al SEHZ T RBEMEER D EREERE
Options”) to Ms. Gao Lina and Mr. Han Chunlin. The following ([BEBERRE]) - LA T AR2020F12831H 4
Management Options were outstanding as at 31 December 2020: RTENE TR BRI -

Number of underlying shares of the Company which may be
issued pursuant to the Management Options

REEEERRETHRTHALARBROBE

As at Granted Exercised Cancelled As at
1 January during during during 31 December
Name of grantee Date of grant 2020 the period the period the period 2020
R2020F 142020
RRARSE REAH 118 HR&T BRTE B 12A31H
Ms. Gao Lina 31 October 2010 29,276,916 - 29,276,916 - -
BESLt 20106104318
Mr. Han Chunlin
(resigned on 1 April 2020) 31 October 2010 21,653,916 = 21,653,916 = =
BEWEE
(202054 A 1R BHT) 20106104318
50,930,832 - 50,930,832 - -

These options are exercisable at the exercise price HK$0.86 per #ZEHERE I RA AT LM HEI(20105F11 A 26
share during the period commencing from the listing date of the ~ H)REZ=#& I B Hi1Z 10F B IRITEE SRR D
Company (26 November 2010) until 10 years from the date of grant.  0.86/&7TT{% ©

All the options were exercised during the Reporting Year and R ARERFE @ FiAEREDEITE - MR2020
50,930,832 shares of the Company were allotted and issued, F12A31H ' 50,930,832& A A &) f% {5 B HE AL 8
representing 0.79% of the issued share capital of the Company as & 31T ' {HAR AIE EITIRA0.79% °

at 31 December 2020.

IF._ e "'j-"’?_
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SHARE OPTIONS

Share Option Scheme adopted on 17 November 2011
(“Share Option Scheme 1”)

The Company unconditionally adopted a share option scheme
on 17 November 2011, which expired on 16 November 2014. All
the outstanding share options were cancelled as a result of the
acceptance of the mandatory cash offer made by Mengniu which
was completed on 21 March 2017.

Share Option Scheme adopted on 5 June 2014

(“Share Option Scheme 11”)

The Company unconditionally adopted a share option scheme
on 5 June 2014, which was terminated on 9 September 2016. All
the outstanding share options were cancelled as a result of the
acceptance of the mandatory cash offer made by Mengniu which
was completed on 21 March 2017.

Share Option Scheme adopted on 30 September 2016
(“Share Option Scheme 111”)

The Company unconditionally adopted a share option scheme on
30 September 2016.

(@)  The purpose of the Share Option Scheme llI

The Share Option Scheme Il seeks to provide an incentive
for the qualified participants to work with commitment
towards enhancing the value of the Company and its shares
for the benefit of the shareholders, and to maintain or attract
business relationships with the Qualified Participants whose
contributions are or may be beneficial to the growth of the
Group.

(b)  Qualified Participants

The Board may at its discretion grant options to: (i) any
executive director, or employee (whether full time or part
time) of the Company, any subsidiary or any invested entity;
(ii) any non-executive directors (including independent
non-executive directors) of the Company, any subsidiary
or any invested entity; (iii) any customer, business or joint
venture partner, advisor, consultant, contractor, supplier,
agent or service provider of the Company, any subsidiary
or any invested entity who is an individual; (iv) any full-time
employee of any customer, business or joint venture partner,
advisor, consultant, contractor, supplier, agent, customer
or service provider of the Company, any subsidiaries or any
invested entity.
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Maximum number of shares available for issue under the
Share Option Scheme llI

The total number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme Il shall not exceed 150,000,000 as approved by
shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting held on 30
September 2016.

Maximum entitlement of each qualified participant under
the Share Option Scheme llI

Unless approved by the shareholders at a general meeting
in the manner prescribed in the Listing Rules, the Board
shall not grant options to any qualified participants if the
acceptance of those options would result in the total number
of shares issued and to be issued to that qualified participant
on exercise of his options (including both exercised and
outstanding options) during any 12-month period exceeding
0.1% of the total number of shares in issue of the Company at
the time.

Performance targets and vesting of option

Once the options are granted to the relevant qualified
participant, the granted options will be deemed to be
divided into three tranches, each of which will consist of
one third of the granted options and will be associated
with the performance target. Such performance target will
be determined at the Board'’s discretion and specified in
the offer letter when the options are granted. The financial
period for the first tranche will be the financial year ended 31
December 2016, the financial period for the second tranche
will be the financial year ending 31 December 2017 and the
financial period for the third tranche will be the financial year
ending 31 December 2018. The corresponding tranche will
be cancelled if less than 80% of the performance target set
for the relevant financial period is met. The corresponding
tranche will accrue on a pro-rata basis if 80% or more of the
performance target set for the relevant financial period is
met. The corresponding tranche will accrue in full if 100% of
the performance target set for the relevant financial period
is met. The granted options accrued shall vest on a one-off
basis within 30 days after the date of publication of the results
announcement for the year ended 31 December 2018. Any
granted options not accrued as a result of non-fulfilment of
any performance target shall automatically lapse.

(c)
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Timing for exercise of options
The vested options could only be exercised within one (1)
year on the day when they become vested and after such
period the vested options will automatically lapse (to the
extent not already exercised).

Payment for acceptance of option
Upon acceptance of the option, the grantee shall pay HK$1.0
to the Company as a consideration for the grant.

Basis of determining the exercise price

The exercise price shall be a price determined by the Board
but in any event shall be at least highest of: (i) the closing
price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange's daily quotation sheets on the offer
date; (ii) the average of the closing prices of the shares of
the Company as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange'’s
daily quotation sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the Offer Date; and (iii) the nominal value of the
shares.

Period of the Share Option Scheme llI

Subject to earlier termination by the Company at a general
meeting or by the Board, the Share Option Scheme Ill shall
be valid and effective for a period of three years from 30
September 2016.

All the outstanding share options were cancelled as a result of the

acceptance of the mandatory cash offer made by Mengniu which

was completed on 21 March 2017 and no new share option has

been granted under Share Option Scheme Ill since.

As at the date of this report, there was no outstanding share

options under the Share Option Scheme |, Share Option Scheme Il

and Share Option Scheme lII.

The related accounting policy for the fair values of the share

options are set out in note 4 to the consolidated financial

statements.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEMES

The Company operates a restricted share award scheme which was
adopted by the Company on 9 September 2016 (the “Share Award
Scheme 1”), and on 26 March 2018 the Company adopted a new
share award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme II”) which shall
remain effective for ten years. The goal of the share award schemes
are to motivate the employees to maximize the value of and share
the results with the Company in order to achieve sustainable
development of the Group.

Share Award Scheme |

A total number of 5,325,000 of awarded shares under Share Award
Scheme | was vested to certain members of management during
the Reporting Year. As at 31 December 2020, there were no
outstanding awarded shares being unrested. For the avoidance of
doubt, any restricted share granted prior to 26 March 2018, shall
for all purposes continue to be administered and take effect in
accordance with the rules of Share Award Scheme |.

Share Award Scheme |l

As the total contributed amount of the Share Award Scheme |
has reached its limit in 2017, the Company adopted Share Award
Scheme Il on 26 March 2018.

The Share Award Scheme Il shall be effective from the adoption
date and shall continue in full force and effect for an initial term of
ten (10) years commencing on the adoption date.

The Share Award Scheme Il shall be subject to the administration of
the Board and the scheme trustee in accordance with the scheme
rules and the trust deed between the Company and the scheme
trustee. The Trustee is an independent third party to the Company.

On 8 January 2020, the Board granted 20,000,000 restricted shares
as awarded shares to 58 selected participants under the Share
Award Scheme Il in respect of the financial year 2019. A total of
20,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company were purchased from
open market by the trustee of the scheme at a total consideration
of approximately HK$17,255,000 (equivalent to RMB15,763,000)
during the Reporting Year. On 27 March 2020, the Board granted
20,000,000 restricted shares to 56 selected participants under the
Share Award Scheme Il in respect of the financial year 2020. A
total number of 19,918,802 of awarded shares under Share Award
Scheme Il was vested to certain members of management and the
eligible employees during the Reporting Year.
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The awarded shares granted are subject to the terms and condition
of the scheme and the fulfillment of all vesting conditions to
the vesting of the awarded shares imposed on such selected
participant as specified in the rules of the scheme and the grant
notice.

For details of the Share Award Scheme I, please refer to the
Company's announcement dated 27 March 2018. Further details
of the share award schemes are also set out in note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Employee Partnership Program

As the Company'’s business scale continues to expand, operating
management and incentive system shall keep up with the
times. The traditional rationale of management by objectives
has limitations. How to ignite employees’ working enthusiasm
to serve the company proactively, and enhance their sense of
ownership and strive for the development of the company together
are the topics that the Company needs to cope with in depth.
Therefore, on top of the existing restricted share award schemes,
the Company has specially formulated an employee partnership
profit-sharing program (the “Employee Partnership Program”)
with aim to build a community of shared interests amongst the
Company and its employees.

Many leading enterprises in mainland China realized that the
partnership systems are closely correlated to a sustainable
development of the company, and start to implement the
partnership management system one after another, allowing
employees and company to build a community of shared interests,
business and future.

The Employee Partnership Program is a model of contemporary
management that combines incentives and management.
Leveraging the platform provided by the Company, the program
will motivate the partners on the basis of profit sharing while the
partners will be empowered with more rights as well as to bear
more responsibilities driving to the success of the Company.

The management concept and model of “Employee Partnership
Program” includes two phases. The first phase is to implement the
“employee profit sharing” program, and the second phase is to
facilitate both “profit sharing” and “performance progress reward”
program. As accumulating experience during the implementation
of two phases, the Company will continue to launch a more
comprehensive and scientific Employee Partnership Program in the
future.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBT SECURITIES

Other than as disclosed under the section headed “Pre-IPO
Management Options”, “Share Options” and “Share Award
Schemes” above, at no time during the Reporting Year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the Directors or chief executives of the Company to
have any right to subscribe for securities of the Company or any
or its associated corporations as defined in the SFO or to acquire
benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other corporate.

UPDATE ON INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS
PURSUANT TO RULE 13.51B(1) OF THE
LISTING RULES

Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway, the Company’s independent non-
executive Director has ceased to be the director of Tibet Water
Resources Limited (stock code: 1115.HK) and China Rundong Auto
Group Limited (stock code: 1365.HK) on 28 February 2020 and
18 December 2020, respectively. Mr. Wolhardt Julian Juul has
cased to be the non-executive Director of COFCO Meat Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1610) on 25 August 2020. Mr. Zhao Jiejun has
been appointed as a non-executive director of the China Shengmu
Organic Milk Limited (Stock code: 1432) on 30 March 2020. Save
as disclosed above, there was no changes in the information of
Directors since the date of the 2019 annual report of the Company
and the announcement of the Company dated 30 March 2020
in relation to, among others, the resignation, appointment and
re-designation of Director, which are required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules. There is no other
information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule13.51B(1) of
the Listing Rules.
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DISCLOSEABLE INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS OF SHAREHOLDERS UNDER

THE SFO

As at 31 December 2020 the interests or short positions of
substantial Shareholders, other than the Directors or the chief
executives of the Company and their respective associates, in
the shares, underling shares and debentures of the Company or
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the

SFQO), as recorded in the register required to be maintained under
Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:
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Percentage of
the Company's
issued Share

Name of substantial Capital®

shareholders Capacity/Nature of interest Number of Shares HAARERIT
TERFRER 51/ RREME ZEREAE BRAT D
China Mengniu Dairy Beneficial interest 1,317,903,000 (L)™ 20.41%

Company Limited B

PESTIEGRAA Interest in controlled corporation 2,407,866,412 (L)@ 37.28%

(through Future Discovery Limited)
X EE % (B BFuture Discovery Limited)

Central Huijin Investment Ltd. Interest in controlled corporation 621,515,999 (L) 9.62%

FRESREFRETADR  (through BOCI Financial Products Limited) 613,877,227 (S) 9.50%
XEHEEREZ(ERTREEeRERERAR)

Interest in controlled corporation 1,500,000 (L) 0.02%
(through Nam Tung (Macao) Investment Limited)
X EEER(ERRMERETREBRAR)

Bank of China Limited Interest in controlled corporation 621,515,999 (L) 9.62%

HEIRITIRH AR A (through BOCI Financial Products Limited) 613,877,227 (S) 9.50%
XErflzEER(ERTREReRERBRAR)

Interest in controlled corporation 1,500,000 (L) 0.02%
(through Nam Tung (Macao) Investment Limited)
XEtEEER(ERRMEREERERRAR)

BOC International Holdings  Interest in controlled corporation 620,015,999 (L) 9.60%
Limited (through BOCI Financial Products Limited) 613,877,227 (S) 9.50%
HRBER R AR A A XEHEEREZ(ERTREEeRERERAR)

BOCI Financial Products Beneficial interest 620,015,999 (L) 9.60%
Limited BEalEn 613,877,227 (S) 9.50%

FREREHERBRAA
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Percentage of
the Company's
issued Share

Name of substantial Capital®
shareholders Capacity/Nature of interest Number of Shares BN BB #IT
FTERREE B/ EEHY ZEREE BRAF DS
New Hope Dairy Co., Ltd. Interest in controlled corporation 635,345,763 (L) 9.84%
MEEIEROERAT (through GGG Holdings Limited)
it EE Rz (B BGGG Holdings Limited)
New Century Ltd. Interest in controlled corporation 635,345,763 (L) 9.84%
(through GGG Holdings Limited)
A E % (EBGGG Holdings Limited)
Liu Chang Interest in controlled corporation 635,345,763 (L) 9.84%

(through GGG Holdings Limited)
1l EE Rz (FEBGGG Holdings Limited)

Notes:

m

Among which up to 613,877,227 shares of the Company have been
lent to BOCI Financial Products Limited pursuant to a securities
lending agreement dated 17 June 2020 entered into between
Mengniu as lender and BOCI Financial Products Limited as borrower.

Future Discovery Limited is the subsidiary of Mengniu.

Based on 6,458,565,947 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2020.

(S) Indicates a short position.

(L) Indicates a long position.

Save as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified of

any other interests or short positions in the shares or underlying

shares representing 5% or more of the issued share capital of the

Company or as recorded in the register required to be maintained
under Section 336 of the SFO as at 31 December 2020.

IF._ e "'j-"’?_

86

B EE

(1) HPH%613,877, 221 A RBBRMBERERSF
(EABRANEPEEBESHERBRARES
B A)FTE] 3L B H1 5202056 A 17 B 09 A 17 3%
BFHREBECRERBRAAR
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION
Off-Take Agreement
The Company started to sell raw milk to Mengniu Group in 2006,

and in 23 October 2008 following arm’s length negotiations,

Modern Farming entered into an off-take agreement (the “Off-Take

Agreement”) with Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group)
Company Limited (“Inner Mongolia Mengniu”), pursuant to which
the Company shall supply raw milk to Inner Mongolia Mengniu.

Date:

Parties:

Nature of the
Transaction:

Committed
Purchase:

Right to sell to other
parties:

24 October 2008

(i) Modern Farming, a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company

(i) Inner Mongolia Mengniu, a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of Mengniu

Modern Farming shall supply raw milk to
Inner Mongolia Mengniu.

Both parties shall start to discuss estimates
of annual supply three months prior to the
beginning of each calendar year.

Should the parties fail to reach an agreed
amount, Modern Farming shall be entitled
to require Inner Mongolia Mengniu to
purchase, subject to certain limitations, all
of its raw milk production in the upcoming
calendar year.

Modern Farming may sell up to 30% of its
raw milk produced daily at each dairy farm
to third parties at its discretion, except to
two of Mengniu’s competitors. Other than
the aforesaid, the Off-Take Agreement
contains no other restrictions on Modern
Farming's sales of raw milk to third parties or
development of its own dairy products.
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Pricing: The pricing of the raw milk sold to Inner & : MARERTHERPNERTD
Mongolia Mengniu is determined through FERARNEE  RADBEER
a formula which is calculated with reference B 2BETEEREWED
to a base price with upward adjustment REHEEKTHE)RN LHARE
for meeting certain quality standards, such fir 38 (3R (R E) ;505
as the level of fat and protein content and BRE4EE IS NI HE
other upward adjustments if the Modern MABEN)THE - ERERTIIR
Farming’s farms are within an agreed SHEEEEASMIELRAM
proximity to Mengniu Group's dairy BERMHAT L REERHKFH R
processing plants. The base price is based BEHUS R (MR R I & Falt X
on the price which Mengniu Group at the H B B HU5) #R AT [ B B PT B
relevant time offers to buy raw milk from HEREVSEERNNERE 5
other mid-to large-scale dairy farms (which INFAEAR R F MR E B o

can offer raw milk of comparable quality) or,
if there are no such mid-to large-scale dairy
farms in such region, other comparable dairy
farms in nearby regions with adjustments
(reflecting the prices in different regions).

The base price and upward adjustment SHSERBEREHEERZERN
payable by Mengniu Group under the NEREBR FRATEERES
Off-Take Agreement shall not be lower Al AE R R e E b K 8 &
than the base price and upward adjustment POSERMERBIER EH - H
it pays respectively to other mid-to-large- () 4 73 44 e P 4R R 60 22 B T B 5t
scale dairy farms in the same region (other Z(EERFEERINKBAEEN
than short-term reward programs offered to NEDIBRIN e AR ERF K
milk suppliers that only account for a small THARUE(REE) —EEER
portion of Mengniu Group's total raw milk REAER R RERME =7 #
purchases). Inner Mongolia Mengniu also FER R BRI ER G R ERE
grants Modern Farming an option to sell to MAEHER4HERRSENR
Inner Mongolia Mengniu the same amount 7o

of raw milk at the same terms and prices
Inner Mongolia Mengniu offers to any third
party suppliers.

Term: The Off-Take Agreement shall be for anterm 8 : B L E 17535 1 2008 10 H 24 H
of 10 years commencing from 24 October FEEt AR BI04 » I BB A
2008 and was automatically extended for PRI OSEDEHHBERT -
another 10 years on 24 October 2018 in the MR2018F10A24HEmBEBER
absence of any force majeure or events of 105 2028510 H238 -

default to 23 October 2028.

Details of the Off-Take Agreement have been disclosed in the BEABEHERZENFS  NARF HHA2013
Company’s announcement dated 23 May 2013. The Off-Take F5A23BMAERNEE - ABHEHZECRIE
Agreement was automatically extended on 24 October 2018 for ~ EEK B8R 2018F 1024 E K1 o

another ten years in accordance with its terms.

e
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The aggregate sales amount pursuant to the Off-take Agreement
during the year ended 31 December 2020 amounted to
approximately RMB4,939,178,000 (2019: RMB4,701,837,000).

Framework Supply Agreement with Fuyuan

Modern Farming, after entering into the Framework Supply
Agreement dated 16 June 2017 (as amended by the Amendment
Agreement to the Framework Supply Agreement on 28 November
2017 and renewed on 31 December 2019 (collectively the
“Framework Supply Agreement”) with Inner Mongolia Fuyuan
International Industrial Corporation Limited (“Fuyuan” together
with its subsidiaries “Fuyuan Group”), could secure stable and
high quality feedstuffs supply from Fuyuan, which are more cost
effective and could alleviate Company’s production cost.

Date: 16 June 2017 as amended on 28 November
2017 and renewed on 31 December 2019.
Parties: ()  Modern Farming as the buyer; and
(i) Fuyuan as the seller.
Duration: For a term commencing from the effective

date of the Framework Supply Agreement to

31 December 2022.
Principal Terms: Pursuant to the Framework Supply
Agreement, (i) the Modern Farming agrees
to purchase the feedstuffs that meet
the quality requirements of the Modern
Farming which are delivered to the relevant
farms of the Modern Farming, and (ii) the
Fuyuan Group agrees to sell and deliver
the feedstuff for dairy cows, which meet the
quality requirements of Modern Farming, to
the respective farms of the Modern Farming.
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Pricing: The price payable and other payment terms
by the Modern Farming to the Fuyuan
Group shall be determined by reference to
the lowest quoted price and other payment
terms at which the Modern Farming could
obtain the same type of feedstuffs from
independent third party (whether local or
overseas); for this purpose, the Modern
Farming will seek quotations from at least
two independent parties offering the same
type of feedstuffs each time.

Effective Date: The Framework Supply Agreement is
effective on the date it was signed.

Annual Capacity: The purchase of feedstuffs under the
Framework Supply Agreement for the
periods:

1. commencing from the effective date
of the renewed Framework Supply
Agreement to 31 December 2020:
RMB150 million;

2. From 1 January 2020 to 31 December
2021: RMB180 million;

3. 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2022:
RMB210 million.

The aggregate purchase of feedstuff for the year ended 31
December 2020 from Fuyuan amounted to RMB115,264,000 (2019:
RMB89,719,000).

THE PRODUCTS PURCHASE AND SALES
CONTRACT

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 27 February
2020 that the Company joined the force to fight the epidemic and
fulfill corporate social responsibility, had entered into a products
purchase and sales contract with Mengniu on 27 February 2020
through a subsidiary of the Company to purchase “Modern
Farming” branded products for donation to areas infected by
"COVID-19" with amount RMB10 million.
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Save as disclosed above, there are no other connected transactions
of the Company that are subjected to be reported in the annual
report in accordance with the Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive Directors of the Company have
reviewed these transactions and confirmed that the non-exempt
continuing connected transactions have been entered into:

(@) inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(b) on normal commercial terms or better; and

() in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the Shareholders as a whole.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”), the Board engaged the auditor of the Company
to report the Group’s continuing connected transactions in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 "Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued an
unqualified letter containing its findings and conclusions in respect
of the continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group
in this Annual Report in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing
Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the
Company to the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

The Directors confirmed that the Company has complied with the
requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of all of
its continuing connected transactions.

Details of the above continuing connected transactions have been
disclosed in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
and are set out in the announcements of the Company which are
available at the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s website and the
Company'’s website at www.moderndairyir.com.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group adopts a comprehensive risk management framework.
Risk management policies and procedures are regularly reviewed
and updated to react changes in dairy product quality, food
safety, production, animal disease, environment pollution,
market developments and financial risks. The Audit Committee
reviews risk-related policies and scrutinizes that management has
performed its duty to have effective risk management and internal
control systems necessary for monitoring and controlling risks
arising from the Group's business activities, changing external risks
and regulatory environment, and report to the Board on the above.

Strategic Risks

The Directors maintain a strategic plan based on the knowledge on
the dairy industry. The Group will invest in good grass plantation,
good dairy cows, quality milk production and promotion of
integrated operation that based on the strategic plan in order to
cope with the market demand and expectation. The Group will
closely review and monitor its short and long-term strategies and
strives for the best interests to its shareholders.

Operational Risks

Operational risk is concerned with possible losses caused by failure
of internal processes, people, system or external events, such
risk is mitigated by and controlled by establishing sound internal
control, setting out clear lines of responsibility, proper segregation
of duties and effective internal reporting. Management regularly
reviews the Group's operations to ensure that the Group's risk of
losses, whether financial or otherwise, resulting from fraud, errors,
omissions and other operational and compliance matters, are
adequately managed.

Financial Risks

The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by performing
regular reviews of the Group's net foreign exchange exposures
and may enter into currency forward contracts or currency option
contracts, when necessary, to manage its foreign exchange
exposure. Furthermore, with aim to tackle the risk of interest rate
fluctuation, the management regularly reviews and assesses the
Group's exposure to interest rate movement and may consider
entering into interest rate swap contracts or other hedging
strategies when necessary.

The principal financial risks are set out in Notes 37 and 38 to
the consolidated financial statements headed "“Capital Risk
Management” and “Financial Instrument”.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway and Mr. Wolhardt
Julian Juul, and one non-executive Director, Mr. Zhang Ping.
The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Company,
and discussed the risk management and internal control systems
and financial reporting matters including the review of the audited
results for the year ended 31 December 2020.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws in the Cayman Islands, which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on pro-rata basis to existing
Shareholders.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this
annual report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public
float under the Listing Rules.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING YEAR

Details of the significant events after 31 December 2020 of
the Group are set out in Note 46 to the consolidated financial
statements.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the years ended 31
December 2020 and 2019 were audited by Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu will retire as auditors of the Company
and, is eligible to, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution
for the re-appointment of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditors
of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM. The
Company has not changed its auditor in the past 3 years.

On behalf of the Board
Lu Minfang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 March 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF CHINA MODERN DAIRY HOLDINGS LTD.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 104
to 254, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2020, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 December 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
("IFRSs") issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
("IASB") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA"). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter
HRELRER

AREREEm

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMEERTRERRERSENT L

Fair value of milkable cows

R FE

We identified the fair value of milkable cows as a key
audit matter due to the significance of the balance on the
consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December
2020 and the significant degree of estimates made by the
management in determining such fair values.

The Group reported milkable cows of Renminbi (“RMB”) 5,084
million as at 31 December 2020. These biological assets are
measured at fair value less costs to sell at the end of each
reporting period.

As disclosed in Notes 5 and 40 to the consolidated financial
statements, fair values of milkable cows are determined by
using the multi-period excess earnings method, which is based
on the discounted future cash flows to be generated by such
milkable cows. The management’s estimation is primarily based
on the discount rate, the estimated future market price of raw
milk, the estimated average daily milk yield at each lactation
cycle and the estimated feed costs per kilogram ("kg"”) of raw
milk. The management has engaged an independent valuer to
assist it in assessing the fair values of milkable cows.

Details of milkable cows and the related estimation uncertainty
on their fair value are set out in Notes 5, 21 and 40 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Our procedures in relation to the fair value of
milkable cows included:

° Testing the Group's relevant internal
controls over the fair value determination of
milkable cows;

o Evaluating the independent valuer’s
objectivity, qualifications and competence;

o Involving our internal valuation specialists to
assess the appropriateness of the valuation
methodologies and the reasonableness of
the discount rate applied; and

o Assessing the reasonableness of the key
assumptions, including the estimated future
market price of raw milk, the estimated
average daily milk yield at each lactation
cycle and the estimated feed costs per kg
of raw milk by comparing to historical and
industry data.
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AREREEm

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMEERTREBRBERBENS X

Impairment assessment on goodwill allocated to ADH CGU (as defined below)

SECEADHE & ZE £ B g Fay R E G (EELE TX)

We identified the impairment assessment on goodwill arising
from acquisition of Asia Dairy Holdings and Asia Dairy Holdings
Il (the “ADH Companies”), which comprised a cash-generating
unit engaged in dairy farming operations (the “ADH CGU"), as
a key audit matter due to the significance of the balance and
the significant degree of estimates and underlying assumptions
made by the management in determining the recoverable
amount.

The Group reported goodwill, net of impairment, of RMB1,012
million relating to the acquisition of ADH Companies as at 31
December 2020. An impairment loss of RMB49 million was
recognised during the year ended 31 December 2020.

As disclosed in Notes 5 and 18 to the consolidated financial
statements, goodwill impairment assessment requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
units to which goodwill has been allocated and the Group
determines the recoverable amount of cash-generating
units based on a value in use calculation. The management’s
estimation is primarily based on the discount rate, the estimated
future market price of raw milk, the estimated average daily milk
yield at each lactation cycle and the estimated feed costs per
kg of raw milk. The management has engaged an independent
valuer to assist it in performing the goodwill impairment
assessment.

M98 E £ 5 Y Asia Dairy Holdings & Asia Dairy Holdings |l
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Our procedures in relation to the impairment
assessment on goodwill allocated to the ADH
CGU included:

o Evaluating the independent valuer's
objectivity, qualification and competence;

o Involving our internal valuation specialists to
assess the appropriateness of the valuation
methodologies and the reasonableness of
the discount rate applied; and

o Assessing the reasonableness of the key
assumptions including the estimated future
market price of raw milk, estimated average
daily milk yield at each lactation cycle and
the estimated feed costs per kg of raw milk
by comparing to historical data and the
data used in the prior periods’ impairment
assessment.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Lung Kwok Hung.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

23 March 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mEEaRAMEEKER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ 20205 12 A31H IFF/E

2020 2019
20204 20194
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000
My AR®T T ARBFIT
Revenue A 6 6,020,247 5,514,210
Cost of sales before raw milk fair value RN AFEAZRAHEE
adjustments B AR 8 (3,561,559) (3,412,330)
Raw milk fair value adjustments FTASHE B AR R
included in cost of sales N EFAE 8/21 (2,277,414) (1,938,360)
Loss arising from changes in fairvalue ~ ZLFRAFELZBRILFHE
less costs to sell of dairy cows KARE R EE 21 (1,031,316) (1,039,221)
Gains arising on initial recognition of B WO R 2 X B
raw milk at fair value less costs to sell R EH B K AN W] A TERR
at the point of harvest EEmas 21 2,277,414 1,938,360
Other income EmUgA 7 86,675 51,068
Impairment losses under expected EHEEEERE TRE
credit loss model, net of reversal B8 - KRB E 10 (5) 161,335
Other gains and losses, net HAth Wk M B 185 58 8 142,514 (121,046)
Selling and distribution costs HE RS HAS (194,440) (175,487)
Administrative expenses THAX (374,155) (276,739)
Other expenses HAthFAx 7 (16,503) (9,061)
Share of profits of associates i P 31,570 34,479
Profit before finance costs and tax Bl B AN I B TB A i ) 8 1,103,028 727,208
Finance costs BERA 9 (318,624) (376,795)
Profit before tax B A5 A4t ) 784,404 350,413
Income tax expense FriS®if Xz 11 (639) (556)
Profit for the year T RE A 783,765 349,857
Other comprehensive income: Ht2HEKA :
Item that will not be reclassified to TEEHTEBERL
profit or loss: HH -
Fair value gain on investments in BRATEFAREMEE
equity instruments at fair value WAR#ERTAKRE
through other comprehensive income NEER S 1,121 1,451
Other comprehensive income for FAHMPEBA
the year, net of income tax kR PTSH 1,121 1,451
Total comprehensive income for the year F A% HEURA 4258 784,886 351,308
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meEEakEME2E KRR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 #( £ 2020512 A31H L F &

2020 2019
2020 20194
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
MiaE ARMF T ARBTT
Profit for the year attributable to: TR EIEFARRN
Owners of the Company ViN/NETEZY =N 770,010 341,270
Non-controlling interests TR A 13,755 8,587
783,765 349,857
Total comprehensive income for UTEAHEIEFAZE
the year attributable to: WA 4REE -
Owners of the Company 2NN RSN 771,110 342,695
Non-controlling interests e AR = 13,776 8,613
784,886 351,308
Earnings per share (RMB) FRAEF(ARE) 15
Basic B 12.07 cents % 5.54 cents 7
Diluted e 12.04 cents & 5.52 cents 7
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e B I AR OR &

AT 31 DECEMBER 2020 72020412 H31H

2020 2019
20204 20194
NOTES RMB’'000 RMB'000
B & ARET T AREFIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - BB REE 16 3,317,719 3,455,068
Right-of-use assets EREEE 17 303,849 320,161
Goodwill EES 18 1,322,457 1,371,266
Interests in associates B S N R RER 19 289,860 215,392
Equity instruments at fair value through A FEFTAEMEE
other comprehensive income WAREZT A 20 5,080 3,959
Biological assets EEE 21 7,101,243 7,459,359
Pledged bank deposits EERRITFH 26 122,706 =
Bank balances IRITHE R 26 20,637 =
12,483,551 12,825,205
CURRENT ASSETS RENEE
Inventories FE 22 1,158,643 1,078,491
Trade and other receivables and FEUE SRR E b R UL
advance payments FRIBDA KRB RIE 23 706,659 618,288
Derivative financial instruments PTESRTIE 24 11,145 89,543
Other financial assets EhemEE 25 50,000 =
Pledged bank deposits EERRITIFH 26 34,503 80,122
Bank balances and cash RITEBR MRS 26 1,123,710 961,094
3,084,660 2,827,538
Assets of a disposal group classified SERFIEEENHE
as held for sale HBRIEE 27 - 71,450
3,084,660 2,898,988
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade and other payables BNESERRREMENTIE 28 1,410,786 1,521,688
Tax payable FEERTRIA 364 233
Bank borrowings RITERK 29 3,471,314 3,822,643
Other borrowings EbfER 30 - 1,051,413
Lease liabilities HEAR 31 23,851 23,238
Derivative financial instruments PTESRMITEA 24 59,338 15,274
Contract liabilities AHEaRE 32 198 189
4,965,851 6,434,678
Liabilities of a disposal group classified D AFIELEN HEHER
as held for sale aE 27 - 2,196
4,965,851 6,436,874
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEETEE (1,881,191) (3,537,886)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERRBAR
LIABILITIES 10,602,360 9,287,319
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
ir e B IR IR

AT 31 DECEMBER 2020 72020512 H31H

2020 2019
20205 20194
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000

B ARBTR ARETT

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEXK#HE
Share capital AR AR 34 555,535 551,007
Reserves {1 7,341,388 6,530,510

Equity attributable to owners of RRARER NEIEER

the Company 7,896,923 7,081,517
Non-controlling interests FEEAR 141,521 126,184
TOTAL EQUITY MRERS 8,038,444 7,207,701

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBAE
Bank borrowings RITHERK 29 2,171,012 1,715,831
Derivative financial instruments PTEEmIA 24 24,000 —
Lease liabilities HERE 31 196,042 206,109
Deferred income JEIE A 33 172,862 157,678
2,563,916 2,079,618
10,602,360 9,287,319

The consolidated financial statements on pages 104 to 254 were  #{R S 104Z= 2548 K 4R & B 75 TR &R 7220214 3
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 23 23B&EE=e L EREETIBRIRRESE
March 2021 and are signed on its behalf by:

LU Minfang GAO Lina
E#R SEHR
Director Director
EF EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REEDBHR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ 20205 12 A31H IFF/E

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARRERAEL
Shares held Fair value
Share Share  underthe through other Non-
Share Share Other  options award Share Award comprehensive  Retained controlling
capital  premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  Schemes incomereserve  earnings  Subtotal interests Total
OEL)
FEET  RATEFA
ERE RGER  FREN A2
ks ROEE HffE 1] 1 B WARE REEA Nt FBRER At
RMB'0O0  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBT AR AREBTR ARETT ARETT ARETT  ARETL ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR
(Note 34) (Note 35(0))  (Note 35(0))
(zzad) (HieE3sol)  (HEE3SL)
At 1 January 2019 R1951A18 526058 4,641,066 979953 5286 23,163 (85720 (23118) 357568 642425 108447 6,532,703
Profit for the year Efaf] - - - - - - - W20 3200 8587 309857
Other comprehensive EREMZERA
income for the year - - - - - - 1425 - 1425 26 1451
Total comprehensive ERZENALE
income for the year - - - - - - 145 W20 34269 8613 351308
Share purchase for the SRS 8l
Share Award Schemes hEE
(Note 35(b) (H&E350) - - - - - (31127) - - 31127) - 31127)
Reversal due tovestingof ~ EREIRNEET
award shares (Note 35() B (i 35(0)) - - - - (43,806) 59,835 - (16,029 - - -
Recognition of equity-settled  EZIRRIELE
share-based payment BOFOERES
(Note 35(b) (Fi535(0) - - - - 25553 - - - 25553 - 25,553
Ordinary shares issued BEALER
(Note 34) (Fi530) 2949 304315 - - - - - -39 - 39264
Equity transactions related ~ BERBEFH
tonterest free loans TR 5 (i3
(Note 34) - - (9124) - - - - - (9.124) 9,124 -
At 31 December 2019 20195128318 551007 4945381 970829 5286 4910 (57,012 (21693 682809 7081517 126184 7,207,701
Profitforthe year A - - - - - - - TI000 770010 13755 783765
Other comprehensive ENEMBRERA
income for the year - - - - - - 1,100 - 1,100 21 1,121
Total comprehensive ERZEWALE
income for the year - - - - - - 1,00 770,010 771,110 13,776 784,886
Share purchase for the R IRE
Share Award Schemes hiEE
(Note 35(b) (Ht5E350) - - - - - (19,892) - - (19,892 - (19.892)
Reversal duetovestingof ~ REERHEEM
award shares (Note 35b)) I (#13£350) - - - - (24.227) 29,560 - (5.333) - - -
Recognition of equity-settled  BERMZRE LS LA
share-based payment BUSSIEINES
(Note 35(0)) (H15E35(0) - - - - 26,806 - - - 26,806 - 26,806
Exercise of Management TR ERERRIE
Options (Note 35(a)) (B&E350a)) 4,528 39,701 - (5,286) - - - - 38,943 - 38,943
Equity transactions related B %5 EFMRIE
to interest free loans 25 ()
(Note 34) - - (1,561) - - - - - (1,561) 1,561 -
At 31 December 2020 R20E12A318 555,535 4,985,082 969,268 - 7489 (47,344) (20,593) 1,447,486 7,896,923 141,521 8,038,444
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

RERE

e R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 #( £ 2020512 A31H L F &

2020 2019
20204 20194
NOTE RMB’'000 RMB’000
MiaE ARMEF T ARBTT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES KeEEH
Profit before tax B 1 B A1) 784,404 350,413
Adjustments for: BUATVERZE -
Depreciation of property, plant and BERMBROYE -
equipment charged to profit or loss HE R R EBITE 262,525 308,783
Depreciation of right-of-use assets B8R NBR A R 4E
charged to profit or loss BENE 10,573 10,563
Impairment loss on property, M - BEREERE
plant and equipment & 1B - 45,287
Impairment losses under expected FRHREEEEER TRE
credit loss model, net of reversal E51E - BR[O 5 (161,335)
Impairment loss on goodwill AEREEE 48,809 27,323
Bank interest income RITH S UA (18,308) (11,169)
Government grants credited to income 5T AU A BIER AT #5 8 (31,131) (19,030)
Finance costs BB A 318,624 376,795
Share of profits of associates FE (R E R =] A (31,570) (34,479)
Gains on disposal of subsidiaries HEKTE AR (72,280) -
Losses (gains) on fair value changes of ~ {74 S BT AR FEE
derivative financial instruments Bt (W) 27,032 (50,556)
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - BB RE
plant and equipment &8 13,110 16,879
Gains on derecognition of financial BURHER S m B B RR
liabilities - (839)
Gains on fair value changes of HthemEEQFEE
other financial assets Iz (1,012) -
Net foreign exchange (gains) loss R B 1B KA HNE (U zs)
from borrowings B85 39 (173,760) 84,167
Equity-settled share award expense AR 4 45 RO IR (7 22 D B <2 26,806 25,553
Loss arising from changes in fair value IF AT EZESFHIAFHE
less costs to sell of dairy cows PR EEE BB 1E 1,031,316 1,039,221
Operating cash flows before EEEREHANLE
movements in working capital BenheE 2,195,143 2,007,576
Increase in inventories FEHE (61,320) (73,937)
(Increase) decrease in trade and U E 5 BR 7 K E b fE
other receivables and WORIE LA K TR AN 508
advance payments (3 n) 3k 4 (86,012) 323,076
Decrease in trade and other FETE 5 BR 5 R H M FE AT 3K
payables TER (108,763) (206,935)
Increase (decrease) in contract BHEEEMORD)
liabilities 9 43)
Cash generated from operations EBRELTNIRE 1,939,057 2,049,737
Income tax paid B TSR (409) (645)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING RETBHREREFR
ACTIVITIES 1,938,648 2,049,092
T
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

,\/\ fﬁ & /)IL = i‘%
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # 2020512331 B [t &

2020 2019
20204 20194
NOTE RMB’'000 RMB'000
B & ARET T AREFIT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETE
Interest received BUF 8 15,099 11,336
Purchases of property, plant and ﬁ%)\%% S ]
equipment (254,635) (279,332)
Payments for right-of-use assets ERAEEERNK - (95)
Payments for rental deposits HEHRESMR - 61
Investments in an associate REEZENRINRE (42,898) -
Addition in biological assets EYMEERE (1,229,626) (1,279,678)
Placement of pledged bank deposits ﬁ)\e%ﬁ#ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ%ﬂ (154,503) (47 ,122)
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits RBEERRITFER 80,122 28,355
Placement of time deposits with FEARIIEEBBRE=EAH
original maturity over three months T BiTERR (40,578) (67,653)
Withdrawal of time deposits with R EEBB=FEALN
original maturity over three months TEBfE R 67,653 =
Placement of other financial assets GAEMERERE (200,000) -
Withdrawal of other financial assets REHEMEemEE 151,012 =
Proceeds from disposal of property, LEWE - BERFK
plant and equipment FRiS /18 5,087 9,208
Proceeds from disposal of dairy cows e g A FTIE SIE 665,238 575,156
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries HEMBA 7}5)%%5(%( 36 133,984 -
Government grants received B U B AT 47 B 46,315 24,019
Loan to a third party ME=ZFER (8,000) =
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING REEZHARSFHE
ACTIVITIES (765,730) (1,025,867)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEE
Interest paid BEAHLE (250,100) (357,054)
New bank borrowings raised %ﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁfﬂ 5,391,559 3,838,876
Repayment of bank borrowings Eiﬁfifﬂa = (5,109,013) (2,822,695)
Proceeds from other borrowings HuER Fﬁﬁ%’( - 2,121,250
Repayment of other borrowings fé?ﬁﬁﬁm R (1,050,000) (2,071,250)
Proceeds from disposal of derivative PETESR T ARG
financial instruments A 77,975 =
Payment of transaction cost for XTRITERNR S
bank borrowings Wl& (25,145) (24,187)
Repayment of corporate bonds EBREARGES - (1,050,000)
Repayment of medium-term notes f%ffiq] HZE R - (600,000)
Repayment of amounts due to 1838 JE 1< BB 77 3K
a related party - (150,000)
Repayments of leases liabilities ERHEAE (18,317) (15,137)
Payment for repurchase of ordinary fE 8 LRI R
shares (19,892) (31,127)
Proceeds from issue of shares BT TS FIA 38,943 329,264
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING REEBAARES T
ACTIVITIES (963,990) (832,060)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND ReERBESEEYEM
CASH EQUIVALENTS R 208,928 191,165
a__

~110 >
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

\/T\ EE S //Ib = 55
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 #; £202012831H It F /&

2020 2019
20205 20194
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000

B ARBTR ARETT

Bank balances and cash as stated in

Z? BIRSAR DL IR PR SR AT

the consolidated statement of EHRERE

financial position 961,094 703,039
Time deposits with original maturity JREIEAE R = & A &9

over three months TFHTERK (67,653) =
Cash and cash equivalents attributable ~ H#BAFIEHEN T EH7

to the disposal group classified as BERERREEED

held for sale 763 =
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R1ATENRERREE

AT 1 JANUARY B 894,204 703,039
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R12A31MBNERERESLE

AT 31 DECEMBER B’ 1,103,132 894,204
Represented by AT &EIEZT
Bank balances and cash as stated in AV BAKRRTIRIRTT

the consolidated statement of EHERE

financial position 1,144,347 961,094
Time deposits with original maturity JREIAR A 838 = 1 A #)7E HA

over three months TR (41,215) (67,653)
Cash and cash equivalents attributable 3B ARHEHE R H S48 5!

to the disposal group classified as EBIERERREEEY

held for sale 27 - 763
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AS #HREABREHRERATESER

STATED IN THE CONSOLIDATED ReZEY

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 26 1,103,132 894,204
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ 2020512431 H L F &

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (the "Company”) was
incorporated and registered in the Cayman Islands as
an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. Its shares have been
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since 26 November
2010. The registered office of the Company is Maples
Corporate Services Limited, PO Box 309, Ugland House,
Grand Cayman, KYI-1104, Cayman Islands. The principal
place of business of the Company is located in Economic
and Technological Development Zone, Maanshan City, Anhui
Province, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").

As at 31 December 2020, China Mengniu Dairy Co., Ltd.
("Mengniu”) and its wholly-owned subsidiary together owned
57.69% of the issued share capital of the Company. Mengniu
and its subsidiaries are hereinafter collectively referred to as

the “Mengniu Group”.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding
and its subsidiaries are mainly engaged in production
and sales of milk. The Company and its subsidiaries are
hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“"RMB"), the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the principal subsidiaries of the Group

operate (the “functional currency”).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 #( £ 2020512 A31H L F &

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs")

(a)

Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual
Framework in IFRS Standards and the following
amendments to IFRSs issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB") for the first time,
which are mandatorily effective for the annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2020 for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to IAS 1 Definition of Material
and IAS 8

Amendments to IFRS 3 Definition of a Business

Amendments to IFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark

IAS 39 and IFRS 7 Reform

The application of the Amendments to References
to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards and
the amendments to IFRSs in the current year had no
material impact on the Group'’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

2. ERBERRMHREER (B R

B EER ) WISET

(a)

FA 2N 6F B 5 1) A R Y B PR B S 3R
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RAFE  ASEEEXERHABER
grrElEEe ((ERETERES
&) EHBIHR2020F1 A1 S 2 &
& ) 4F FE 2 R o ) AR SR R BT R B 7 R
R R NEZEIE S BEFT LA AT
BRSO 5 R 5 RIS ET - AR ELER
B ERE

Bt BTN BEANEE
RE T ERIF 85
EEET

B PR B A $R 5 22 R
FEIWAMERT

B BR B 75 R 5 22 R
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BT E R F 75
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ 20205 12 A31H IFF/E

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs") (continued)

(b) New and Amendments to IFRSs in issue but not

yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and

amendments to IFRSs that have been issued but are not

yet effective:

IFRS 17

Amendment to IFRS 16
Amendments to IFRS 3
Amendments to IFRS 9,

IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4
and IFRS 16

Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1
and IFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to IAS 8

Amendments to IAS 16

Amendments to |AS 37

Amendments to IFRS
Standards

ey
—114 \‘

(62 4

Insurance Contracts and the
related Amendments'

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions’

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform-Phase?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current’

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies’

Definition of Accounting
Estimates’

Property, Plant and
Equipment: Proceeds
before Intended Use?

Onerous Contracts-Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract®
Annual Improvements to IFRS

Standards 2018-2020°

2. JE B RR B 3 5

EEA(TERRR
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(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 #( £ 2020512 A31H L F &

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs") (continued)

(b) New and Amendments to IFRSs in issue but not

yet effective (continued)

T Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2023.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2022.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date
to be determined.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June
2020.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2021.

The Directors anticipate that the application of new and
amendments to IFRSs will have no material impact on
the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB. For the purpose
of preparation of the consolidated financial statements,
information is considered material if such information is
reasonably expected to influence decisions made by primary
users. In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

2. ERBERRMHREER (B R

B EER ) IERT @

(b) © S84 8 R 4 AV ETRT & B B
B 3 3Rk 5 E RIS RT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ 2020512431 H L F &

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

In preparation of the consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2020, the directors of the
Company (the “Directors”) have given careful consideration
to the future liquidity of the Group in light of the fact that the
Group's current liabilities exceeded its total current assets
by RMB1,881,191,000 (2019: RMB3,537,886,000). Taking into
account, (i) the available credit facilities of approximately
RMB4,597,896,000 which remain unutilised as at 31
December 2020 (These credit facilities included an amount
of RMB1,300,000,000 from Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy
(Group) Company Limited (“Inner Mongolia Mengniu”),
a subsidiary of Mengniu, and the remaining credit facilities
are from licensed banks); (i) the expected net cash inflows
generated from the Group's operations for the next twelve
months, the Directors are satisfied that the Group will be able
to meet in full its financial obligations as and when they fall
due in the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern

basis.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for: (i) biological assets,
which are measured at fair value less costs to sell; (i) Equity
instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income
("FVTOCI"); (iii) other financial assets, which are measured at
fair values; and (iv) derivative financial instruments, which are
measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period as

explained in the accounting policies set out in Note 4.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the

consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 #( £ 2020512 A31H L F &

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of IFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing
transactions that are accounted for in accordance with IFRS
16 Leases ("IFRS 16"), and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in IAS 2 Inventories or value in use in IAS 36
Impairment of Assets ("1AS 36").

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value
and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs is to
be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the
valuation technique is calibrated so that the results of the
valuation technique equals the transaction price.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

W

A MBRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ 20205 12 A31H IFF/E

3.

e B

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities (including
structured entities) controlled by the Company and its
subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

(i) has power over the investee;

(i) is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

(i) has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee

if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 #( £ 2020512 A31H L F &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specially, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
controls until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group's equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ 2020512431 H L F &

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if
any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss and is calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received
and the fair value of any retained interest and (i) the carrying
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of
the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the Company.
All'amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as
if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable IFRSs). The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when
control is lost is regarded as the cost on initial recognition of

an investment in an associate.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business

less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group's cash-generating units (“CGUs")
(or groups of CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, which represent the lowest level
at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management

purposes and not larger than an operating segment.
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A MBRRME
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Goodwill (continued)

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually or more frequently
when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired.
For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period,
the CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment before the end of that
reporting period. If the recoverable amount is less than its
carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the
other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount
of each asset in the unit (or group of CGUs). Any impairment
loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee
but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of
associates used for equity accounting purposes are prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for
like transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under
the equity method, an investment in an associate is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's
share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of the associate. Changes in net assets of the associate other
than profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not
accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in
ownership interest held by the Group. When the Group's
share of losses of an associate exceeds the Group's interest
in that associate (which includes any long-term interests that,
in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in
the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share
of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to
the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investments in associates (continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the
equity method from the date on which the investee becomes
an associate.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with IAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment
loss recognised is not allocated to any asset, including
goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of the
investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable
amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group,
profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate are recognised in the Group's consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the associate that
are not related to the Group.

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale
Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held
for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing
use. This condition is regarded as met only when the asset (or
disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its present
condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary
for sales of such asset (or disposal group) and its sale is highly
probable. Management must be committed to the sale, which
should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed
sale within one year from the date of classification.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale
(continued)

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss
of control of a subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities of
that subsidiary are classified as held for sale when the criteria
described above are met, regardless of whether the Group
will retain a non-controlling interest in the relevant subsidiary
after the sale.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held
for sale are measured at the lower of their previous carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell, except for financial
assets within the scope of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“IFRS
9"), which continue to be measured in accordance with the
accounting policies as set out in respective sections.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ 2020512431 H L F &

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of

the following criteria is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group's performance as the

Group performs;

° the Group's performance creates and enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance

completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the

customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is

due) from the customer.

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of

time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application, or arising from business combinations,
the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a
lease based on the definition under IFRS 16 at inception,
modification date or acquisition date. Such contract will not
be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract

are subsequently changed.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 #( £ 2020512 A31H L F &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of motor vehicles, machinery and
equipment that have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. It also applies the recognition exemption for lease of
low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a
straight-line basis or another systematic basis over the lease
term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use assets includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives received;

° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ 2020512431 H L F &

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)
Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under IFRS
9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease

payments and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily

determinable.

The lease payments include:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)

less any lease incentives receivable;

° variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate; and
o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the

lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to

terminate.

Variable lease payments that reflect changes in market rental
rates are initially measured using the market rental rates as
at the commencement date. Variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or a rate are not included in the
measurement of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets, and
are recognised as expense in the period on which the event

or condition that triggers the payment occurs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted
by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever:

° the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

° the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications
The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

° the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

o the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to
that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of
the particular contract.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)
Lease modiifications (continued)

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at

the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-
of-use asset. When the modified contract contains a lease
component and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
modified contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of individual entities,
transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional
currency (foreign currencies) are recorded at the rates of
exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the
end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are re-translated at the rates prevailing
at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that
are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the translation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributed to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost
of those assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowings that remain outstanding after the
related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included
in the general borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation
rates on general borrowings. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing cost eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and the grants will be received.

Grants relating to biological assets

An unconditional government grant related to a biological
asset measured at its fair value less costs to sell is recognised
in profit or loss when, and only when, the government grant
becomes receivable.

Other grants

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants
are intended to compensate. Specifically, government grants
whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase,
construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are
recognised as deferred income in the consolidated statement
of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a
systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the
related assets.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4., BEESTHHRw

(continued)
Government grants (continued)
Other grants (continued)
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Government grants related to income that are receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or
for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they become receivable. Such

grants are presented under “other income”.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit under
the state-managed retirement benefit schemes in the PRC
are charged as an expense when employees have rendered

service entitling them to the contribution.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another IFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit

in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after

deducting any amount already paid.

Share-based payments
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Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options and award shares granted to employees
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees are
measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at the
grant date.

B
130 \‘

(62 4



Annual Report 2020 « ZZZEFFH

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 #( £ 2020512 A31H L F &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions (continued)
Share options and award shares granted to employees
(continued)

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into
consideration of all non-market vesting conditions is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that
will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in equity
(share options reserve or share award reserve). At the end
of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of
the number of equity instruments expected to vest based
on assessment of all relevant non-market vesting conditions.
The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any,
is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative
expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding
adjustment to the share options reserve or share award
reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to
share premium. When the share options are forfeited after
the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date,
the amount previously recognised in share options reserve
will be transferred to retained earnings.

When the award shares are vested, the amount previously
recognised in share award reserve and the amount of the
relevant treasury shares included in equity under the heading
of shares held under the share award schemes is reversed
and the differences arising from the reversal is adjusted to
retained earnings.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions (continued)
Share options and award shares granted to employees
(continued)

If a grant of equity instruments is cancelled or settled during
the vesting period (other than a grant cancelled by forfeiture
when the vesting conditions are not satisfied):

o the entity shall account for the cancellation or
settlement as an acceleration of vesting, and shall
therefore recognise immediately the amount that
otherwise would have been recognised for services
received over the remainder of the vesting period.

o any payment made to the employee on the cancellation
or settlement of the grant shall be accounted for as
the repurchase of an equity interest, i.e. as a deduction
from equity, except to the extent that the payment
exceeds the fair value of the equity instruments granted,
measured at the repurchase date. Any such excess shall
be recognised as an expense.

Taxation
Income tax expenses represent the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit/loss before tax because
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Taxation (continued)

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies IAS 12
Income Taxes requirements to the leasing transaction as a
whole. Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities are assessed on a net basis. Excess of
depreciation on right-of-use assets over the lease payments
for the principal portion of lease liabilities resulting in net
deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (other than construction in
progress) including buildings held for use in the production
or supply of goods, or for administrative purposes, are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply
or administrative purposes (classified as construction in
progress) are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment
loss. Costs include any costs directly attributable to bringing
the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by management
and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in
accordance with the Group's accounting policy. Depreciation
of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets,
commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment other than construction in
progress less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of the reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,

right-of-use assets, and intangible assets other than

goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amount of its property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets, intangible assets with finite useful lives to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, and intangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an asset individually, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the

asset belongs.

In addition, the Group assesses whether there is indication
that corporate assets may be impaired. If such indication
exists, corporate assets are also allocated to individual CGUs,
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent

allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a CGU) for which the estimates of future cash

flows have not been adjusted.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, and intangible assets other than
gOOdWI” (continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to
a CGU, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group
of CGUs, including the carrying amount of the corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group
of CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the group of CGUs.
In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
(if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit
or the group of CGUs. The carrying amount of an asset is
not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise
have been allocated to the assets is allocated pro rata to the
other assets of the unit or the group of CGUs. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or CGU or a group of CGUs) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or a CGU or a group
of CGUs) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a weighted
average method. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs
of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Biological assets

The Group's biological assets comprise dairy cows. Dairy
cows, including milkable cows, heifers and calves, are
measured on initial recognition and at the end of the
reporting period at their fair value less costs to sell, with any
resulting gain or loss recognised in profit or loss for the year

in which it arises.

The feeding costs and other related costs including staff
costs, depreciation charge, utility costs and consumables
incurred for raising of heifers and calves are capitalised, until

such time as the heifers and calves begin to produce milk.

Agricultural produce

Agricultural produce represents raw milk. Raw milk is
recognised at the point of harvest at its fair value less costs
to sell. A gain or loss arising from agricultural produce at the
point of harvest measuring at fair value less costs to sell is

included in profit or loss for the period in which it arises.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
time frame established by regulation or convention in the

market place.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers ("IFRS
15"). Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (continued)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at FVTOCI:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting
contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at the date of initial recognition of a
financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment
in other comprehensive income if that equity investment
is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to which
IFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at amortised cost
or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial

assets (continued)

0]

(ii)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently
at amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see
below). For financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that the
asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains and
losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
FVTOCI reserve; and are not subject to impairment
assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will not be
reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity
investments, and will be transferred to retained
earnings.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments
are recognised in profit or loss when the Group's right
to receive the dividends is established, unless the
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A MBRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ 2020512431 H L F &

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (continued)

(i) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated

as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value

gains or losses recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets (including trade
and other receivables, pledged bank deposits and bank
balances) which are subject to impairment test under IFRS
9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to

reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL")
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on the
Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the

reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on these assets are assessed

individually.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 #( £ 2020512 A31H L F &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss

allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been

a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised

is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a

default occurring since initial recognition.

0]

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instruments as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increase
significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;
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China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. * HEIRAKEZERBRAF

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr B B A% R M AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ 2020512431 H L F &

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. EERGFHEREm®
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued) M IAw
Financial assets (continued) TREE@®
Impairment of financial assets (continued) 2 EE R 1E ()
(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (continued) iy [EERREZILEING®G
e an actual or expected significant deterioration in o BEBRAKEEENERNTAINE
the operating results of the debtor; Zr:
o an actual or expected significant adverse change o BHEBAEERE N KETRE
in the regulatory, economic, or technological BEBARE  KBIRMRELN
environment of the debtor that results in a ER S TEHE R TFIZL -

significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, Nam D FP a0 4 R afe] - REER
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased o e S EER30R - AlE
significantly since initial recognition when contractual BB nHERIARS BEE M
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the HAREEESESEMNERIMNAERA
Group has reasonable and supportable information that BIE R °

demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of AEBETHRESAUBREFERR S
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a BREENNOFENKR - TREE
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as R B ER] - WM iR IR %R
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of ST TR IR 181 A B E {5 B L B R 3K A
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the e

amount becomes past due.

(i)  Definition of default iy BYTERE
For internal credit risk management, the Group HAMEERRERMS @ AEER
considers an event of default occurs when information R BHAEHEANBEIFTHEEINR
developed internally or obtained from external sources HRE)E R B RER AT AR BB
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, MEEA(BERER)ERCRFTRA
including the Group, in full (without taking into account SEMTFERERRD) A -

any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that T EXRME - REEHRE - 2R
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than TREEAHNBBEIORBELERN
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and BRIFAEEEEERABERERRE
supportable information to demonstrate that a more TEIMMBENELZES BIAE -

lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

i
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ 2020512 H31H L F &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;
or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group's recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. * HEIRAKEZERBRAF

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr B B A% R M AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ 2020512431 H L F &

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. EEETHEw
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued) ERMTIAmw
Financial assets (continued) SREE®@m
Impairment of financial assets (continued) 2 EE R 1E ()

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data and forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest
income is calculated based on amortised cost of the
financial assets.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade and
other receivables where the corresponding adjustment
is recognised through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the
Group continues to recognise the financial assets and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e B 1% R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 %@i2020¢12ﬂ MNBIEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which
the Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at
FVTOCI upon application of IFRS 9, the cumulative gain or
loss previously accumulated in the investments revaluation
reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to
retained earnings.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.

4.

BEEEERXw

SRIAEm@m

SREE @

BOETER & B &2 ()
REUEERIZE KA EN S REER -
EERTMEED REERREZ I EER
HBmPER -

IR RE R AN &= B 0 1) 27 e R B 1A 1B AR B R
MBEHRELENEIRFEAFESAE LS
WA BRI ARER - SAERE
EbRET RANRFT RSB IRTGER
DEERL  BEREREEN -

cHEERER

DB ER LS
EERESTADREAOTHENEERS
HEEEERTANTESBEAERMARBXR
Rz o

#xTA

BT AEFREHNRMEAEEASER
BEMNFIBESZOEMELN - RATREITH
Em TERHREEEITRARNE WG
/TAIE\EEE@(’

BLOARAAG DR T RERNER AR
REHMRE - TEREBEaAREE - HE - %é
TTREHAR B ARG e T AR
B8 o

AR
FrE &R A EDRAERF XL EHRA
HR N FEFABRFRETE

= =

147



China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. * HEIRAKEZERBRAF

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

W

A MBRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ 2020512431 H L F &
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the
financial liability is (i) held for trading, (ii) contingent
consideration that may be paid by an acquirer as part of a
business combination to which IFRS 3 Business Combinations
applies.

A financial liability is held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
repurchasing it in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, bank
and other borrowings, medium-term notes and corporate
bonds are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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A MBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 #( £ 2020512 A31H L F &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the
date when derivative contracts are entered into and are
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of the
reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in hybrid contracts that contain
financial asset hosts within the scope of IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments are not separated. The entire hybrid contract is
classified and subsequently measured in its entirety as either
amortised cost or fair value as appropriate.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which
are described in Note 4, the Directors are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
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5. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

U NCERTAI NTY (continued)

Fair value measurements of biological assets

The Group's biological assets are measured at fair value less
costs to sell at the end of each reporting period. The Group
uses valuation techniques that include inputs that are not
based on market observable data to estimate the fair value
of biological assets. For heifers and calves, the fair value is
determined based on the 14 months old heifers’ local market
selling prices and adjusted by estimated feeding costs for
heifers and calves older or younger than 14 months. For
milkable cows, the fair value is determined by using the multi-
period excess earning method with key inputs including the
discount rate, the estimated feed costs per kilogram (“kg") of
raw milk, estimated average daily milk yield at each lactation
cycle and the estimated local future market price of raw milk.
Any changes in the inputs may affect the fair value of the
Group's biological assets significantly. The carrying amount
of the Group's biological assets as at 31 December 2020 was
RMB7,101,243,000 (2019: RMB7,459,359,000). Further details

are given in Notes 21 and 40.

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount of the CGUs to which
goodwill has been allocated, which is the higher of its value
in use and its fair value less costs of disposal. The value in
use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future
cash flows expected to arise from the CGUs and a suitable
pre-tax discount rate in order to calculate the present value.
Where the actual future cash flows are less than expected or
when there is a downward revision to the estimated future
cash flows due to changes in facts and circumstances, further

impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 December 2020, the carrying amount of goodwill
is RMB1,322,457,000 (2019: RMB1,371,266,000), net of
accumulated impairment loss of RMB213,429,000 (2019:
RMB164,620,000). Details of the recoverable amount

calculation are disclosed in Note 18.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 #( £ 2020512 A31H L F &

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

6. WARDHER

Disaggregation of revenue (i) WAHAED
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥TR ARBTFIT
Types of goods [EERE
Raw milk JREH 6,020,247 5,514,210
Timing of revenue recognition DON D
A point in time R 1 B 6,020,247 5,514,210
Performance obligations for contracts with (il BEEEHNENRK

customers

The Group sells raw milk directly to dairy product
manufactures. For sales of raw milk to its customers,
revenue is recognised when control of the goods has
been transferred, being at the point the customer
received the goods and accepted the quality. Payment
of the transaction price is determined based on market
price. The normal credit term is 30 days upon invoice
date.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with
customers

Sales of raw milk are for periods of one year or less. As
permitted by IFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to
these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

(iii)

AEBEEAIRBERHEER
PogREFEPHEERMDTE - K
AR BB E mE s ERRAE
PRI mEEZRER) - RAER
REDRTEEE - —REEMRHE
ZRAHR30K °

STREEFENRTEANREN
R o E®

RENNHEERRS—FHER - &£
BIER B 75 ¥R 5 RIS 1557 2 FFAO B
T ABBEIREZFAEREAN
MR 5 E1%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr B B A% R M AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ 2020512431 H L F &

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. WARDHEER @

(continued)

Segment information

IFRS 8 Operating Segments ("IFRS 8") requires
operating segments to be identified on the basis of
internal reports about components of the Group that
are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision
maker (the “CODM"), in order to allocate resources
and to assess performance. During the two years ended
31 December 2020, the CODM assesses the operating
performance and allocates resources of the Group as
a whole, as all of the Group's activities are considered
to be primarily the provision of raw milk in the PRC.
Accordingly, the Directors consider there is only one
operating segment under the requirements of IFRS 8. In
addition, all revenue from external customers is derived
from the customers located in Mainland China and
all of the non-current assets are located in Mainland
China and the Group is managed on a nationwide
basis because of the similarity of the type or class
of the customers and the similarity of the regulatory
environment in the whole region. In this regard, no
segment information is presented.

Information about major customers

Included in revenue arising from sales of raw milk to
external customers is an amount of RMB4,939,178,000
(2019: RMB4,702,150,000) arose from sales to a single
customer (“Customer A”) and RMB629,078,000 arose
from sales to another single customer (“Customer B").
No other single customer contributed 10% or more to
the Group's revenue for each of the two years ended 31
December 2020.

7 EBE B

BB B F5 3R 5 R8s & o S5 (B
BREEHREERAESR DB TRIEETE
EEAMME(ZEEERREDTH
EBNEBASEBHEKID B A LR
LHAEE DI - DB E R KT
R o B ZE2020F 128318 IEMEF
B EEEERARETHLIEENE
BREEEYHIREERER - JhH
RASENMBEEHETERRAEF
BiRBERED - A EFRAE R
BRI SR S AR B85 R B — AL
EoE o WA - FTBERBINTEREFH
WA T ERBE R EANE = F BRTEJE
REBEEHMNAPBEAM - MAEE
B 2 8] 1 [ % = 25 Y 53 48 1) A9 AR L1
MEBEREMNEUEMREREERE
TER -BmE  WEZIHIE
e

EREEEFNEHR

AN EFHERBDEENEAR
EME—XF(EFANHEEEERK
AAR#4939,178,0007T (20194 © A
R #4,702,150,0007T) JA K [A) 55— B8 —
EFP(EFBNHBEEEANBAARE
629,078,0007T ° & E2020912H318
IEFMBEFESSF  WEEME-—FF
EANEE B EN0% A EWA o

e A
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OTHER INCOME AND OTHER EXPENSES 7. HEMWAREMBEX

4= A

w3

75 R &R B A

7Y

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 #( #2020 12 A31H | F[Z

Other income H A
2020 2019
20205 20194
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥®TR ARBFT
Bank interest income RITHSUA 18,308 11,169
Government grants related to FLIA T B IR H 80 B #70 B
— Assets (Note 33) - BE(M5E33) 31,131 19,030
— Others (Note) - EAh (B ) 28,844 13,593
59,975 32,623
Others Hth 8,392 7,276
86,675 51,068
Note: These government grants are unconditional government Mzt - ZREBURMHEEAASEEHE BEA B

subsidies received by the Group from relevant government
bodies for the purpose of giving immediate financial support

to the Group's operation.

WOER B0 SR (R (PR A B - B E AR E
B B IR AN BT BA TR S 8 -

Other expenses Hip X%
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARBFIT
Donation expenses B 11,222 545
Others EHh 5,281 8,516
16,503 9,061

~
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B 55 ¥R R B R

W

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ 20205 12 A31H IFF/E

TN

PROFIT BEFORE FINANCE COSTS AND 8. BREYE FR A & B 18 Az A
TAX
Profit before finance costs and tax is arrived at after charging B B0 & Bk 7N R B8 1B A s A T F1 Bk (BEAD T3
(crediting): FIE%FTESL -
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T AREFIT
Cost of sales before raw milk fair value FRRHD A EAERR
adjustments HERAR
Breeding costs to produce raw milk A E REHD SR A 3,561,559 3,412,330
Raw milk fair value adjustments ST ASHE AR REH
included in cost of sales N EFAE 2,277,414 1,938,360
5,838,973 5,350,690
Other gains and losses, net: H e & B HEFER ¢
Net foreign exchange (gain) loss SNE (W z5) I 18 F 8 (158,173) 82,952
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE - BERXBEER
plant and equipment, net FER 13,110 16,879
Gains on disposal of subsidiaries (Note 36) & W B2 7] H U s (BT 7E36) (72,280) -
Impairment loss on property, M - BERREREEE
plant and equipment - 45,287
Impairment loss on goodwill R R EREE 48,809 27,323
Fair value gain on other financial assets EemEENRNFEKZ (1,012) =
Fair value (gain) loss on derivative TESRTENAFE
financial instruments: (W as) Eia -
Foreign currency forward contracts INE R EFA 4 (26,381) (17,971
Foreign currency option contracts INEERRES 4 53,413 (32,585)
27,032 (50,556)
Gains on derecognition of financial BORER 2 m B BN KA
liabilities - (839)
(142,514) 121,046
Depreciation of property, plant and M - HERERETE
equipment 454,376 516,954
Less: capitalised in biological assets B EMEEENMEeRE (191,851) (208,171)
Depreciation charged to profit or loss Mk EEEmITE 262,525 308,783

-y
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

8. PROFIT BEFORE FINANCE COSTS AND

TAX (continued)

A MBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 #( £ 2020512 A31H L F &

8. MKRELE RN K Fi1E AR F @

2020 2019

20204 20194

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTTT

Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEETE 16,904 16,266

Less: capitalised in biological assets o EMEEENMEE R (6,331) (5,703)
Depreciation charged to profit or loss Mk EEENITE 10,573 10,563
Short-term lease expense MHEERY 15,305 13,180

Less: capitalised in biological assets B EMBEEBER SR (6,607) (5,934)

Short-term lease expense charged to MREEENERHEER

profit or loss 8,698 7,246
Equity-settled share award expense VA RR e 45 5 ) it B8N ) =2 26,806 25,553
Other employee benefits costs EmEERFMAEZ 585,618 490,961

Less: capitalised in biological assets B EMEEENMEeRE (120,868) (122,538)
Employee benefits charged to profit or loss 1Bk B Bz 8(E B & T 491,556 393,976
Auditors’ remuneration 2 S BIH 35 B 3,150 2,950

=
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B 55 ¥R R B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ 20205 12 A31H IFF/E

9. FINANCE COSTS 9. BERKA
2020 2019
2020%F 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARET T

Interest expenses on: MERAX :
Bank borrowings RITENK 258,883 248,407
Medium-term notes hERE R - 6,620
Corporate bonds NEESR - 14,645
Other borrowings from Mengniu Group KERFEEEHMER 6,818 47,842
Other borrowings from financial KB & B R E A 5K
institutions 403 2,337
Mengniu bill S - 6,952
Lease liabilities HERE 11,065 11,010
Total borrowing cost BB AR 4B EE 277,169 337,813
Fair value loss on interest rate swaps F =g H N E(E 18 41,455 38,982

318,624 376,795

10. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED 10. EHIEEEFEER T HERE -

CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET OF REVERSAL HIBR £ =)
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFR ARETT

Impairment losses recognised on: TR IEMEREREEE
— Other receivables — H b fE R IR 157 953
Impairment losses reversed on: M TFE BB ARERR
— Trade receivables — liquid milk -EWE SRR - RE
product (the Distributors as Em(DES
defined in Note 34) E & K EE34) - (160,451)
— Trade receivables - liquid milk - FEE SRR - R
product (other customers) EmEHAER) (152) (1,837)
5 (161,335)
Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 38. BT T E DRI E38 o
~156>
&5 e i j
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A MBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 #( £ 2020512 A31H L F &

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

11. FAIBHRAX

2020 2019
20205 2019%
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETTT
Income tax recognised in profit or loss: B R AR PTIFH
Current tax: BUVERTRIA -
PRC Enterprise Income Tax RIS 639 556

The tax charge represents income tax in the PRC which is
calculated at the prevailing tax rate on the taxable income of
the subsidiaries established in the PRC.

The PRC subsidiaries are subject to the law of the PRC
Enterprise Income Tax (the "EIT Law") at 25% for both
years. Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at
the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions. According
to the prevailing tax rules and regulation of the EIT Law,
16 subsidiaries (2019: 16 subsidiaries) of the Group are
exempted from enterprise income tax for taxable profit from
the operation of agricultural business in the PRC for the year
ended 31 December 2020.

No provision for taxation in Hong Kong has been made as the
Group's income neither arises in, nor is derived from Hong
Kong.

Pursuant to the PRC EIT Law, a 10% withholding tax is levied
on dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign
investment enterprises established in Mainland China. The
requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies
to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding
tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between
China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the
Group, the applicable rate is 5% or 10%. Deferred taxation
has not been provided for in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of the accumulated profits of the PRC
subsidiaries amounting to RMB2,836,473,000 (31 December
2019: RMB1,863,415,000) as the Group is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

WA SR P B A SZ Y /B 1 B e B RR
B AR IRITIR R G E 0P BIFTSH

PR EARAREPBRCEMERE(R
¥ BH A ZMEFER25% TR
o EtriEREANTRIEHRIEERE
FERBITHEE - RIEBCEMESTIER
IHBREIRER - HZ=2020F128318 1k
FE - AEERNI6EKTERR (201946 : 16
FWB AR NP REEREXRELENE
R FER BN EATER

WERBAVHBRFELEE  RRSARER
FEUBELZWATERE BB WA -

RIEPRBEMSEE - R BN K
INERERIINGIREE TR EAZBMN10%
RITEFNFR » 2R T B 2008F 1 1B RBAER
W@ AR 2007F 12831 BENAEF i
RSN IEE B FTERIERERE] S T RIEIR
%9 - A SREFENMBE - REEREAL
K B5%5%10% ° WA F BB R R RE
SHEF AR5 2,836,473,0007T (2019412 A 31
B AR#1,863,415,00070) R éx & B 74 3R
KRB IBELRE AR AEEESR
EHBETREENREARZEFEREER
A] B R AT T2 O] -

= =
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

W

A MBRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ 20205 12 A31H IFF/E

11.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 1. FREHAXw
The tax expense for the current year can be reconciled to NTRAFERBEMX G ERRAME
profit before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or T Y 28 2% I BR B AR M BV B BR -

loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETT

Profit before tax

R H5 B A 784,404 350,413

Tax at applicable income tax rate at 25%
(2019: 25%)
Effect of tax exemption granted to

BB ATSHR R 25%T E /)
I8 (20194 © 25%) 196,101 87,603
BEETESBGTBNTE

agricultural entities (241,126) (150,311)
Effect of non-utilised losses incurred BEEBELERBABER

from agricultural business and other Hitn NI BRI 2

non-deductible expenses 42,817 57,486
Effect of tax losses not recognised AERRIEEENTE 2,916 6,104
Utilisation of tax losses previously not FABAERERTIEEE

recognised (69) (326)
Income tax expense PG T < 639 556
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MBRRME

2N =]

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 #( £ 2020512 A31H L F &

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)
As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s PRC subsidiaries had
unused tax losses of RMB186,239,000 (2019: RMB179,043,000)
incurred by non-agricultural business in the PRC. These
unused tax losses as at 31 December 2020 will expire in year
2021 to year 2025 as disclosed in the following table if not
utilised. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in relation
to such tax losses as it is not probable that taxable profit will
be available against which the temporary differences can be

11. FTEHEX@
M2020%F12H31H » K

SENTEBEA

AP RAEREERELENARBARER
1B A ARME186,239,0007T (20194 © AR
179,043,0007T) ° Wi 2020F12 A31H#%E
FEBARBEERESH  HER2021F2
2025F fEim - INNRFTIRE - AR Al e~
ERERR A M S AERER - Bt
ER AR EEERRELHEEE

utilised.
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥ TR ARET T
2020 20204 - 2,505
2021 20214 50,434 50,434
2022 20224 71,287 71,287
2023 20234 31,704 31,704
2024 20245 25,996 23,113
2025 20254 6,818 -
186,239 179,043
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ 20205 12 A31H IFF/E

12. DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' 12. EERFTETBRAEME
EMOLUMENTS
Details of the directors’ and the chief executives’ emoluments BEENFTETRABMEFBOT

are as follows:

2020
2020%
Salaries, Equity- Retirement
allowances Performance settled benefits
Directors'  and benefits- related  share award scheme
fees in-kind bonuses expense  contributions Total
¥4 2R R ERERE BB
¥ kA ENEN AL RORBRX HE 13 @5
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETR ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARETR
(Note v)
(Fiztv)
Executive directors HiTEZS
Ms. Gao Lina BERLL - 2,357 67,984 2,588 - 72,929
Mr. Sun Yugang (Note i) BER %A (e - 1,458 335 527 55 2,375
Mr.Han Chunlin (Note i)~ B4 A (Wil - 1,397 3,791 1,415 121 6,724
Non-executive directors FHTES
Mr. Lu Minfang EShUEE - - - - - -
Mr. Zhang Ping KTEE - - - - - -
Mr. Zhao Jiejun (Note ii) BGE LA (i) - - - - - -
Mr. Wolhardt Julian Juul Wolhardt Julian Juul
(Note v) pea(li=dlY - - - - - -
Ms. Gan Lu (Note iv) HE s+ () - - - - - -
Independent non-executive  BUFHITEES
directors
Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway ~ ZEE LA 201 - - - - 201
Mr. Li Shengli FEHAEE 200 - - - - 200
Mr. Kang Yan (Note iv) FRERSLA (Mstiv) 50 - - - - 50
Mr. Wolhardt Julian Juul Wolhardt Julian Juul
(Note iv) FE (M) - - - - - -
451 5,212 72,110 4,530 176 82,479
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 #( £ 2020512 A31H L F &

12. DIRECTORS’' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

12. EERFETHAEMEw®

2019
2019F
Salaries, Equity- Retirement
allowances  Performance settled benefits
Directors’  and benefits- related share award scheme
fees inkind bonuses expense  contributions Total
He - 2HR RRREE RIER
EELiE EVET REAHEL  ROKBEI BEE 5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT  ARETT ARBTT ARBTL  ARETT
(Note v)
(e
Executive directors HWTES
Ms. Gao Lina BTt - 2302 1,600 2947 - 6,849
Mr. Han Chunlin (Noteiii) B #4% 4 (ft i) - 1,360 700 1643 14 3,844
Non-executive directors FRTES
Mr. Lu Minfang BHMEE - - - - - -
Mr. Wolhardt Julian Juul Wolhardt Julian Juul
k% = = = = = =
Mr. Zhang Ping KTEE - - - - - -
Mr. Zhao Jiejun (Note ii) AT A4 (B 5T = - - _ _ B
Mr. Wen Yongping (Noteii) &k 5t 4 (3T - - - - - -
Independent non-executive BV FHITEE
directors
Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway ~ ZEE%EE 215 = = = = 215
Mr. Li Shengli FENEE 200 = = = = 200
Mr. Kang Yan RELE 200 = = = = 200
615 3,662 2,300 4,590 14 11,308
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fr B B A% R M AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ 2020512431 H L F &

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'’ 122. EERFETHRAEMEw

E MOLU M E NTS (continued)

Ms. Gao Lina, Mr. Han Chunlin and Mr. Sun Yugang are also
the chief executive officer, chief operation officer (resigned
on 1 April 2020) and executive vice president (appointed on
1 April 2020) of the Company, respectively. The emoluments
disclosed above for executive directors were for the
management of the affairs of the Company and the Group.
The executive directors were also granted share options and
share awards under the share option schemes and the share
award scheme of the Company. Details of the share option
schemes and share award scheme are set out in Note 35.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were for their services as directors of the Company.

Notes:

No directors waived or agreed to waive any remuneration
during the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: nil).

ii. Mr. Wen Yongping, a non-executive director, resigned from his
office with effect from 15 January 2019, while Mr. Zhao Jiejun
was appointed as a non-executive director on the same day.

iii. Mr. Han Chunlin resigned from his position of executive
director with effect from 1 April 2020, while Mr. Sun Yugang
was appointed as an executive director on the same day.

iv. Mr. Kang Yan, an independent non-executive director,
resigned from his office with effect from 1 April 2020. Mr.
Wolhardt Julian Juul resigned as a non-executive director and
was appointed as an independent non-executive director with
effect from 1 April 2020. Ms. Gan Lu was appointed as a non-
executive director with effect from 1 April 2020.

V. Performance related bonuses are determined based on the
Group's performance, performance of the relevant individual
within the Group and comparable market statistics.

SRz BEMEERZEEMEEDF
MARRRMBE « &BRLIE (7202045
ARTBEHME) R EBEIRE (7202064418
BZE) - EXFIEERNTESHEISEE
AARMAEBEEFENEE - FITEE IR
BN B BT B R IR D SR B AT SR R
R R AR 1 42 B - BENRAE T 8 AR 15 22 B At
BB E KT FESS

EXFIVBILIFRITEFNOME AREIER
ARREEWRBME -

GEX

BZE2020F12A3NALFE - BIEESN
YR BHELAHIN(2019F : ) °

ii. JEITE SRR K F R EB2019F 18158
BT MBEAFEERRAAEZIAERN
1TEE -

ii.  BWEMELEB2020F4A1HREERITE
BB MAEAEERBREZERR
TE=E -

v. BYFRITEFRESLER20206481H
FEBET ° Wolhardt Julian Juul 5t £ BHEIE
WITEE - WH2020F4 81 A EEZEA
BYIERITES - HRZTEZE AN
TESE  B2020F4 A 1HBER -

v.  REBBELDENRAEEBRR - HERE
ARREBENRBE KA E LR TI5EE

EE -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 #( £ 2020512 A31H L F &

13. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 13. ABBREHFMAL
The five highest paid individuals of the Group during the year AEEBFALLRSFMALTEEAREM
included two (2019: two) directors of the Company, details % (2019 - MAB)ESE - HHMFEERER
of whose remuneration are included in the disclosures in FXMF12 e FRAEB=R(2019F : =5)
Note 12 above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining BeEHMATOFHMEFRET -
three (2019: three) highest paid individuals for the year are as
follows:
2020 2019
2020 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETTT
Salaries, allowances and benefits-in-kind ¥ e RUKEDREN 2,779 2,455
Performance related bonuses FRIBMHTEAT 2,946 1,692
Retirement benefits scheme contributions iR {K1&FI5H I 3K 253 242
Equity-settled share award expense RREEE R SRR X 3,932 4,197
9,910 8,586
No remuneration was paid by the Group to any of the B ZE2020F12A31 B ILFE - AEEHER
directors or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement EEYREEe T MA T HEMFM - 1F
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss AN B N8R 1& 1Y SR BN S AE BB (A
of office for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: nil). B (20194 : &) -
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fr B B A% R M AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ 20205 12 A31H IFF/E

13. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continued) 13. AEEEFMA L@

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the RAET(BRDAENHMNE A TEERIE
directors of the Company whose remuneration fell within the RAREEEHFMEEABNT :

following bands in Hong Kong Dollar (“HK$") is as follows:

2020 2019
20204 20194F
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7T £ 2,500,000/ 7T - 1
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001/ 7T £ 4,000,000/ 7T 2 2
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001% 7T 24,500,000/ 7T 1 -
3 3
Certain non-director and non-chief executive highest paid BEBEARQGIORG ZEEE - ETHEER
employees were granted share awards, in respect of their FEETHRAENESFNEEREEAE
services to the Group under the share award scheme of the E 5 RIS R AR (D 52E) - AR fh SRENEHEIFHE
Company. Details of the share award scheme are set out in FHHMIEE35 -
Note 35.
14. DIVIDEND 14. BB
No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders RN EZE2020F 12 431 B LR EFE W
of the Company during the two years ended 31 December ARRAR)E WA AR SR A SR AT AR S - B
2020. Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a EHRERE  EFREMBE2020F12A4
final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December AL FEREARREEREARAR
2020 of RMB2 cents (2019: nil) per ordinary share has been #2595 (20194 : ®) - BABRBEFRE
proposed by the Directors and is subject to approval by the RIEERRAREG FHERTAIEE -

shareholders in the forthcoming general meeting.

—3
C164 \‘
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15. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share

A MBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 #( £ 2020512 A31H L F &

15. BRRER

AARERARGESERER R EERN IR

attributable to owners of the Company is based on the BATEIREE -
following data:
2020 2019
2020 20194
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETTT
Earnings BF
Profit for the year attributable to RRBHER AEIEF AR
owners of the Company
Earnings for the purpose of basic and ARG EGIRER RS
diluted earnings per share Z ) 2 A 770,010 341,270
2020 2019
20204 20194F
Shares Shares
B’ %
Number of shares RHOEE
Weighted average number of ordinary ARG ESRERBH L
shares for the purpose of basic earnings TR N T 81
per share 6,380,386,978 6,165,192,978
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:  #58/BEZBIRMNTE
Share options HE e 3,543,748 11,637,831
Share awards fi& 17 82 8) 11,709,826 4,765,434
6,395,640,552 6,181,596,243

The number of shares adopted in the calculation of the basic
earnings per share has been arrived at after eliminating the
unvested shares of the Company held under the Company'’s

share award scheme.

AFEESRERBA RGN RN BE REHE
AAE RS SRt BIR T AR R RRE
BRMREBL -
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W

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

A MBRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ 20205 12 A31H IFF/E

16. M1 - BERRE

Motor  Plant and Construction

Buildings vehicles  equipment in progress Total
gF RE BEREE HEIE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARE®TT ARETT ARETT ARETR
Cost
Balance at 1 January 2019 20191 A1E R E# 5,156,865 21,043 1,766,381 11,528 6,955,817
Additions - 689 81,113 113,443 195,245
Transfer 53,250 = 54,215 (107,465) =
Disposals (15,639) (1,156) (124,394) - (141,189
Reclassified as held for sale (Note 27) ENARARBHEWEH)  (154,659) = (46,615) = (201,274)
Balance at 31 December 2019 2019512831 AME 5 5,039,817 20,576 1,730,700 17,506 6,808,599
Additions - 117 126,157 204,478 331,806
Transfer 130,292 - 39,242 (169,534) -
Disposals (28,822) (253) (77,638) - (106,713)
Balance at 31 December 2020 R2020F 12831 H #4584 5,141,287 21,494 1,818,461 52,450 7,033,692
Accumulated depreciation
Balance at 1 January 2019 R2019%1 A1 B M& (1,902,674) (8,162) (983,976) - (2,894,812)
Charge for the year (326,773) (989) (189,192) = (516,954)
Eliminated on disposals 13,713 1,066 96,597 = 111,376
Reclassified as held for sale (Note 27) BN BABEHE(MFY) 104,537 = 26,537 = 131,074
Balance at 31 December 2019 20191231 BRI 84 (2,111,197) (8,085 (1,050,034) = (3,169,316)
Charge for the year (293,491) (693) (160,192) = (454,376)
Eliminated on disposals 21,351 240 69,158 = 90,749
Balance at 31 December 2020 R2020F 12731 B84 (2,383,337) (8,538) (1,141,068) - (3,532,943)
Impairment
Balance at 1 January 2019 201951 A1 BRE (110,242) (63) (30,015) - (140,320)
Impairment loss recognised in profit or loss  EREZERMEESE (4,328) = (40,959 = (45,287)
Eliminated on disposal 1111 = 281 = 1,392
Balance at 31 December 2019 201912831 B84 (113,459) (63) (70,693) = (184,215)
Eliminated on disposal = = 1,185 = 1,185
Balance at 31 December 2020 FR2020E 12831 BRI &84 (113,459) (63) (69,508) - (183,030)
Carrying amounts
Balance at 31 December 2020 R2020F 12831 B HE 84 2,644,491 12,893 607,885 52,450 3,317,719
Balance at 31 December 2019 2019512831 AM L5 2,815,161 12,428 609,973 17,506 3,455,068




Annual Report 2020 « ZZZEFFH
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A MBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 #( £ 2020512 A31H L F &

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

Depreciation is charged using straight-line method over the
expected useful life, after taking into account its estimated
residual value, at the following rates per annum:

4.75%-9.50%
19.00%
9.50%-19.00%

Buildings
Motor vehicles
Plant and equipment

Impairment assessment

The Directors determined that the operation of Modern
Farming (Saibei) Co., Ltd. (“Saibei"”), a subsidiary of the
Company, would not be resumed in the foreseeable future.
The Group engaged an independent valuer, Asia-Pacific
Consulting and Appraisal Limited, to assist it in assessing
the recoverable amounts of property, plant and equipment
of Saibei. The recoverable amount of RMB23,342,000
(31 December 2019: RMB24,278,000) in respect of the
buildings was determined under market method. The Group
recognised an impairment loss of RMB45,287,000 in profit or
loss for the property, plant and equipment of Saibei during
the year ended 31 December 2019 and no further impairment
has been recognised during the current year.

16. Y% - BERFZRHEw®

FERBEHA ERAFHAL R EGEF FIER
BERERERER NIFFRTE

BF 4.75%9.50%
RE 19.00%
B & a& 9.50%-19.00%

BB
BERANA] BB RAR AN B A R A4
¥EARAA(ELDTSMELE -
AEEEFB L MEME AT EERAEGRA
A EIRHE I E - BE REEN T KE
S o BF A Y S FEAR23,342,0007T
(2019$ © AR #24,278,0007T) Jhig i i55E
o EIE2019F12A31H IEFE » AEE
ﬂ%ib%% B N 2R B 25 SRR E S
B ARA45,287,0007T © A [E 0 5 7ERR
E—DRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

W

A MBRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ 20205 12 A31H IFF/E

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17. ERAEEE
Leased
machinery
Leasehold Leased and
lands properties  equipment Total
HE M
HELH HEWE BB et
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETFIT AREFRT AREFRT AREFT
Cost 2N
Balance at 1 January 2019 7201941 H1H
B4R 288,640 = 43,932 332,572
Additions B 21,526 730 5,061 27,317
Balance at 31 December 2019612 A31H
2019 H &SR 310,166 730 48,993 359,889
Additions nNE 615 - - 615
Modification E5) = (23) = (23)
Balance at 31 December 7202012 A831H
2020 B A5 ER 310,781 707 48,993 360,481
Accumulated depreciation ZiHiTE
Balance at 1 January 2019 5201941 H1H
K &R (23,462) - - (23,462)
Charge for the year FAHE (10,797) (243) (5,226) (16,266)
Balance at 31 December 20199128318
2019 &SRR (34,259) (243) (5,226) (39,728)
Charge for the year FARE (11,328) (350) (5,226) (16,904)
Balance at 31 December 7202012 H431H
2020 B4 ER (45,587) (593) (10,452) (56,632)
Carrying amounts BREE
Balance at 31 December 72020412 831H
2020 EEERES 265,194 114 38,541 303,849
Balance at 31 December 720194128318
2019 SOFEFS 275,907 487 43,767 320,161
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17. RlGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

17. FRAEEEw®

2020 2019

20205 20194F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T R AREFT

Expense relating to short-term leases BRRHEENRS 15,305 13,180
Expense relating to leases of low-value FHREEEEEHRE
assets, excluding short-term leases of (F"eREEREEEE

low value assets RAEE)NRY - 30

Variable lease payments not included in the I AHEBEFT =/
measurement of lease liabilities AIEEERK 13 355
Total cash outflow for leases HEEReRLER 36,429 31,665

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis

over the lease terms.

The Group leases lands, properties, machineries and
equipments to operate its business. These leases are
typically made for fixed terms of 2 to 50 years. Lease terms
are negotiated on an individual basis and contain different
payment terms and conditions.

For some of the leased machineries, the Group is required
to make fixed monthly payments and additional variable
payments depending on the usage of the asset during the
contract period.

The Group's lease agreements do not contain any contingent
rent nor any extension, early termination option or purchase
option for lessee.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for
machineries, motor vehicles and office equipments. As at 31
December 2020 and 2019, the portfolio of short-term leases is
similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to which the short-
term lease expense disclosed in Note 8.

ERREERERABRENE -

AREBEHEELH - WX - EHREREAE
LHER R EHEARFETEHRR2E50
F - MEMRKTIZERNEELER - B2 TF
R B M A -

HREH RN, - AREEELE ARE
R RART & KE 6 A B R AE L 5
AR -

AEBNHEE W RS T AEE
HMAREAER - ERKRLESEERE -

NEEF S - B R ARERT LR
HIE - %2020 20196128318 + &
A EAG ER BHE SR AK 8 R
MEHAEEHEEGHES -



China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. * HEIRAKEZERBRAF

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ 20205 12 A31H IFF/E

18. GOODWILL 18. &

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT

Cost 2%
At 1 January and 31 December M1A1BK12A31H 1,535,886 1,535,886

Impairment B
At 1 January W1 A1H (164,620) (137,297)
Impairment loss recognised in the year FACHERRBEEE (48,809) (27,323)
At 31 December ®12H31H (213,429) (164,620)

Carrying values RREE

At 31 December M®12831H 1,322,457 1,371,266

EITRER AR - mERARERERRSE
B - BAZFREELENNEERE
BEEIRRREBR) DT

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill has been
allocated to two individual CGUs. The carrying amounts of
goodwill (net of accumulated impairment losses) allocated to
these CGUs are as follows:

2020 2019
20204 20194

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR ARETTT

Modern Farming (Note i) B (R ) (e 7Ei) 310,426 310,426
ADH Companies (Note ii) ADHZ &) (Kt i) 1,012,031 1,060,840
1,322,457 1,371,266
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18. GOODWILL (continued)

The Group's goodwill of RMB310,426,000 arose from
acquisition of Modern Farming (Group) Co., Ltd. (“Modern
Farming”) in 2009 (the “2009 Goodwill"). Accordingly, for the
purpose of impairment testing, the 2009 Goodwill has been
allocated to the dairy farming business of Modern Farming
and its subsidiaries at the point of acquisition, being the group
of CGUs engaged in dairy farming operations (the “Modern
Farming CGU") and represent the lowest level within
the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes.

The recoverable amount of the Modern Farming CGU has
been determined based on a value in use calculation. That
calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial
budgets of five years approved by the management and a pre-
tax discount rate of 12.5% (2019: 12.3%). Cash flows beyond
the budgeted period are extrapolated using a 2.5% (2019:
2.5%) growth rate. Other key assumptions for the value in use
calculation include the estimated future market price of raw
milk, the estimated average daily milk yield at each lactation
cycle and the estimated feed costs per kg of raw milk. Such
assumptions are based on the unit's past performance and
management’s expectations for the market development.
Management believes that any reasonably possible change
in any of these assumptions would not cause the aggregate
carrying amount of the Modern Farming CGU to exceed the
aggregate recoverable amount of the Modern Farming CGU.

The Group's goodwill of RMB1,225,460,000 arose from
acquisition of the Asia Dairy Holdings and Asia Dairy Holdings
Il (the “ADH Companies”) in 2015 (the “2015 Goodwill").
For the purpose of impairment testing, the 2015 Goodwill has
been allocated to the ADH Companies, being the group of
CGUs engaged in dairy farming operations (the “ADH CGU")
and represent the lowest level within the Group at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.

The recoverable amount of the ADH CGU has been
determined based on a value in use calculation. That
calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial
budgets of five years approved by the management and a pre-
tax discount rate of 12.5% (2019: 12.3%). Cash flows beyond
the budgeted period are extrapolated using a 2.5% (2019:
2.5%) growth rate. Other key assumptions for the value in use
calculation include the estimated future market price of raw
milk, the estimated average daily milk yield at each lactation
cycle and estimated feed costs per kg of raw milk. Such
assumptions are based on the unit's past performance and
management’s expectations for the market development.

Due to increase of the feed costs and decrease of the
milk yield, an impairment loss of RMB48,809,000 (2019:
RMB27,323,000) was recognised in the year, being the excess
of the carrying amount of the ADH CGU over the recoverable
amount of RMB2,630,478,000 (2019: RMB2,514,830,000)
determined based on the above value in use calculation.

18. ﬁ%(ﬁa)

AEENEESEAARY310,426,000
JL + ER2009F BB IR A (RE) B R
AR ([BAKE(EE)]) mEE([2009F
BWE]) - At - #ETRER S - 2009F
HMECBABRRKEGEER) RERKER
BEENFEEEENIBSEEEMAR
WHB AR ((RRAKEEERSELE
MO MEEEES  WAREBRRLA
HER B MEEEENREKTE -

BRBEERRESELEMHAIKRE S
HEREHBENEET  TUKERE
HENTFHMEEE BKE - RABRSR
ETEBEL - FHATAE X A12.5%(2019
F:12.3%) - BEHRUIME S REME
Fi2.5% (20194 : 2.5%) K IE R EHEHE - 51
BEABENEMEZBIBEMGBETARR
ERDTE SWILBNHTEHERE
MERSTRERDEFEABEKRAN - 25
E“E%#zﬁumuﬁ%ﬁ&aﬁﬁﬁ
m%%@%ﬁ%o%ﬁ% 5 ZERE

EimEﬁAﬁk@K@ B A
§Q§MEiF$$um%ﬁﬁﬁtﬂﬁ
Al Bl REAAEE o
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RISEMTBREEBNRSELEGER
(ADHRGELER)) - 1 AAEEAM
WEEIE B M E R E N KEKF -

ADHIR S ELBMNHNATIKRE € FEIZRRBE
HEBEEETE  YUEEEBHED
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FABENEMEIERIBIEGSRELER
BIPHE SWMILPNETFHERED
ERTTREBDGEAREREN - Z5®
BRNERZEMMUERBREEEEY ™
BERRHTEE -
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19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 19. REFE QAR

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARBET T

Cost of investments in associates REEZ R BRI E KA 198,938 156,040

Share of post-acquisition profits and DRI N &
other comprehensive income HinzmU A 90,922 59,352
289,860 215,392

REBERBE R RRERFFNT -

Details of the Group's interests in associates are as follows:

Place of Proportion of
Name of company establishment ownership interest Voting rights Principal activities
NEEH RIS BRRERRLY REE IERH
31/12/2020 311202019 31/12/2020 31/12/2019
20205 219F 2020 195
12A31H 12A318 12A31H 12A31A
% % % %
HeFei Mengniu Modern Farming Dairy The PRC 49.09 49.09 49.00 4900  Liquid milk
Products Co., Ltd. ("Feidong") e producing
AERFRABEANRERAR(ER)) EERED
Moder Farming (Bengbu) Co., Ltd. The PRC 49.09 49.09 49.00 4900  Liquid milk
("Bengbu") hE producing
RRYME (ER)ERAF (HE]) EERED
Jiangyin Dairy Energy Environment The PRC 29.45 29.45 30.00 3000 Power generation
Technology Co., Ltd e EREE
("Jiangyin Dairy Energy") (Note)
TEMERANRARLE (IRYRE)
(R
Note: On 23 August 2019, Modern Farming and Jiangsu Agriculture MizE :  R20195F8H23H - MK (KE)HEAF
Environment Energy Technology Co., Ltd., an entity 1¢$&%&:§E.7Efﬁ AEEMNEET
designated by CITIC Environment Investment Group Co., Eﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁiﬁﬁﬁ T?fﬁﬁﬁﬂ@%{
Ltd., entered into an agreement in relation to the formation e uT_LTﬁ M BRBEGER)EF

of Jiangyin Dairy Energy, pursuant to which Modern Farming ﬁfIF%WﬁE3O%Hﬁ7f§ c RAFE - BR

holds 30% equity interest of Jiangyin Dairy Energy. During
the current year, Modern Farming has contributed cash of
RMB42,898,000 as capital injection in Jiangyin Dairy Energy.
Jiangyin Dairy Energy acquired the entire equity interests
in Modern Energy (Wuhe) Co., Ltd. (“Wuhe Energy”) and
Modern Energy (Hefei) Co., Ltd. (“"Hefei Energy”), then
wholly-owned subsidiaries of Modern Farming, in January
2020. Further details of the transaction are set out in Note 36.

WEEE)TEER S ARKA42,898,000
TC o ERIIRRHEERTE < SIRKEER
20204F 1 R IR R BEIR (FUM) AR A &)
(TEmER ) RBERERER)BRA
Al (TEIREER]) M2 S AR HE (39 AR R K
¥EE)ERNZENBRAR) - BAX
%E',\UE ﬁﬂi‘ %@EABTEEE:%) ©
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FOR THE YEAR E

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)
Summarised financial information of material
associates

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the
Group's material associates is set out below. The summarised
financial information below represents amounts shown in the

associate’s financial statements prepared in accordance with
IFRSs.

All of these associates are accounted for using the equity
method in these consolidated financial statements.

AR e B 1% R M R

NDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ 2020512431 H IEFE

19. REAE RN TINER @
ERBENTNBEERESE

TXHINAKEEERBERBNHBHER
BE - UTHBENSE R L RRIRES
R RE R RN ERRATERE -

RZFEAMBHERA - MBEZFHERT
HERERAAR -

Feidong JER
2020 2019
20205 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETF T ARBTTT
Current assets RENEE 80,463 82,680
Non-current assets FRBEE 149,987 161,360
Current liabilities mEBEE 41,991 68,875
Non-current liabilities IEREBEE 11,295 11,954
Revenue YA 278,026 286,457
Profit and total comprehensive income for 4 i@ #1) & 2 [H WA 48 58
the year 13,953 22,861
Adjustments due to the difference between W& B HEALERERH T
the carrying value and fair value of ERHERAEEQ T EZE
the Group's remaining interests in ERGHH AR
Feidong on the date of disposal (1,094) (2,018)
12,859 20,843
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19. REEE RN FIH R @
BE 3R )
Ll B ER B E BN AR A SRR ERD
REE A REENEEESNE

19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Feidong (continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information
to the carrying amount of the interest in the associate
recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

2020 2019
20205 20194
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARMF T ARBTT
Net assets of Feidong fERFEE 177,164 163,211

Proportion of Modern Farming's WRBE(RE) RIERE
ownership interest in Feidong ERERESLLD 50% 50%

The Group's share of net assets of AEBDEIERFEE
Feidong 88,582 81,606
Goodwill kS 251 251
Fair value adjustments NFEFHE 830 1,377
89,663 83,234
Bengbu 23

2020 2019
20205 20194
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARMF T ARETTT
Current assets MENVE E 293,724 265,424
Non-current assets EMENEE 146,580 167,302
Current liabilities mEBEE 122,809 164,304
Non-current liabilities FmBAE 10,917 13,488

L B
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19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 19. REFE QRN ERE ™
Bengbu (continued) SR ()
2020 2019
20205 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETTT
Revenue WA 842,279 748,188
Profit and total comprehensive income for & Wim ) & 2 E A B 58
the year 51,644 49,139
Adjustments due to the difference between R HE HEIRSEREEREHT
the carrying value and fair value of the REERMREEREDTE M
Group's remaining interests in Bengbu on  ZZBE KA
the date of disposal (2,444) (1,024)
49,200 48,115
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information B R E R B BN AR S B S IR R FERR Y
to the carrying amount of the interest in the associate RS R RIERAREESR
recognised in the consolidated financial statements:
2020 2019
20205 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT
Net assets of Bengbu iR FEE 306,578 254,934
Proportion of Modern Farming’s ownership  ZRAHEE (S E) R IR H)
interest in Bengbu WA R ) 50% 50%
The Group's share of net asset of Bengbu ~ AEE S (HIFIRFEE 153,289 127,467
Goodwill BES 33 33
Fair value adjustments NEFE 3,436 4,658
156,758 132,158

T



China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. * HEIRAKEZERBRAF

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B 55 ¥R R B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ 20205 12 A31H IFF/E

19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 19. REtE AR NER @
Information of an associate that is not individually ERINIEERNEE ATER
material
Jiangyin Dairy Energy STRe 4 EE
2020 2019
2020 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFR ARETT

The Group's share of profit of Jiangyin REEFEEIRMEERT
Dairy Energy 541 -

Carrying amount of the Group's interests in N5 [E )T FLEHY

Jiangyin Dairy Energy R AREE 43,439 -
20. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE 20. RAFEFAHMEEZEBAN
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE EmITA
INCOME
2020 2019
2020% 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

Unguoted equity investments RMEERTE 5,080 3,959
The above unlisted equity investments represent the Group's LilgE EiEsRIE B R AN R B A R B A L L
equity interest in private entities established in the PRC. ABRBHERKRE BREZRHEEZERE
The Directors have elected to designate these investments BIAERRZENEE  BRESZSER
in equity instruments at FVTOCI as they believe that the TEHREEEREATEFAAEMEERK
investments will not be sold for trading purpose. A e
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21. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS

A — Nature of activities
The biological assets of the Group are dairy cows held to
produce raw milk.

The quantity of dairy cows owned by the Group at end of the
reporting period is shown below. The Group's milkable cows
are dairy cows held for milk production. Heifers and calves
are those dairy cows that have not reached the age that can
produce milk.

21. EYEE

A-EBHE
REBNEYEEREEELERRINI
q:o

UTRAEENREMREFOILTHE -
AEENNFREREPNISF - NFFR
INEEEARRE D FEROILS

2020 2019
20204 20194

heads heads

L] BE]

Milkable cows e 136,203 135,185
Heifers and calves IR RN 111,168 98,433
Total dairy cows FLA-HEET 247,371 233,618

The Group is exposed to fair value risks arising from changes
in price of raw milk. The Group does not anticipate that
the price of the raw milk will decline significantly in the
foreseeable future and the Directors are of the view that there
is no available derivative or other contracts which the Group
can enter into to manage the risk of a decline in the price of
the raw milk.

In general, the heifers are inseminated with semen when
heifers reached approximately 14 months old. After an
approximately nine months’ pregnancy term, a calf is born
and the dairy cow begins to produce raw milk and the
lactation period begins. A milkable cow is typically milked
for approximately 340 days before approximately 60 days dry
period.

AEBEEAXRHHEREBHEROAFE
R - BASKEEG - £ R AR R
DERTERNETK - EFTRR - AEEY
A AOTAE T ASKEMAIART I A 48
REZRBDHER THRORER -

—RIERT - DEFEREENTOEA KR
ETRE - HNEANZHBRE - N
£ AR ERE RIS o 4
FBEGEPNLZ40K - 2 1BEAKIOKRE
I -
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21 o BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued)

A — Nature of activities (continued)
When a heifer begins to produce raw milk, it is transferred

to the category of milkable cows based on the estimated fair

value on the date of transfer.

The Group is exposed to a number of risks related to its

biological assets. The Group is exposed to the following

operating risks:

Regulatory and environmental risks

The Group is subject to laws and regulations in the
location in which it operates plantation and breeding.
The Group has established environmental policies
and procedures aimed at compliance with local
environmental and other laws. Management performs
regular reviews to identify environmental risks and
to ensure that the systems in place are adequate to
manage these risks.

Climate, disease and other natural risks

The Group's biological assets are exposed to the risk
of damage from climatic changes, diseases and other
natural forces. The Group has extensive processes in
place aimed at monitoring and mitigating those risks,
including regular inspections and disease controls and
surveys and insurance.

B — Quantity of the agricultural produce of the
Group's biological assets

21. £EYEEw
A-EBME@
BN FRE R - ThIRE R B M
Bt A EEBEENFER -

AEEmBREEEMEERHENZERR °
A B IR IA T8 SRR -

ERRRERR
AEBEAETHERARESRELER
BEFTIEEAR KAR - ARER
HE ST EWIRENEMERD
REBREER - EEEETEHRR
BB BIRIRE R M EREA RG R
NERZEE R

Rix - KRR EME AR
AEENEYEERREXRIKEE
£t KREEMEARREBEETNA
2 AEBCBRERLAEZER
BREERF - BREESRE KK RIE
BT KRR o

B-AEKEMENEENBEXLEENRE

2020 2019
20205 20194
kg kg

F= T

Volume of milk sold

1,456,962,000 1,365,739,000
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21 o B|OLOG|CAL ASSETS (continued)

C — Value of dairy cows
The fair value less costs to sell of dairy cows at end of the

21. EYEEw
C-H4MmEER
WMEHROIFAFERBESK AT N

reporting period is set out below: N
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREFT
Milkable cows e 5,084,343 5,543,159
Heifers and calves /NEHE RN 2,016,900 1,916,200
Total dairy cows A4 4aEt 7,101,243 7,459,359
Heifers and Milkable
calves cows Total
NGERNF 4 st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREEF T AREF T ARBTT
Balance at 1 January 2019 R2019F1 A1 BB & 2,081,100 5,636,013 7,717,113
Feeding cost and other £ AR SR B At AR R A AR
related costs 1,388,057 = 1,388,057
Transfer EER (1,665,379) 1,665,379 -
Decrease due to disposal & B BUR (93,387) (513,203) (606,590)
Gain (loss) arising from FLERNFEEERILF
changes in fair value less SHE AN E A
costs to sell of dairy cows (E518) 205,809 (1,245,030) (1,039,221)
Balance at 31 December 2019 FA2019% 12431 B W& & 1,916,200 5,543,159 7,459,359
Feeding cost and other 8RB AR R B At AR R A AR
related costs 1,332,078 - 1,332,078
Transfer EER (1,680,627) 1,680,627 -
Decrease due to disposal & B BUR (108,330) (550,548) (658,878)
Gain (loss) arising from IR EESHIF
changes in fair value less SHE AN E R R
costs to sell of dairy cows (E18) 557,579 (1,588,895) (1,031,316)
Balance at 31 December 2020 722020512 A 31 H B &4 2,016,900 5,084,343 7,101,243
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21

e B

~180

-y

o BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued)

C — Value of dairy cows (continued)

The Group has engaged Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate
Appraisal And Advisory Limited, an independent firm of
professional valuers, to assist it in assessing the fair values
of the Group’s dairy cows. The independent valuer and
the management of the Group held meetings periodically
to discuss the valuation techniques and changes in market
information to ensure the valuation was performed properly.
The valuation techniques used in the determination of fair
values as well as the key inputs used in the valuation models
are disclosed in Note 40.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group's dairy cows in the
amount of RMB754,014,000 (2019: RMB838,666,000) were
pledged to banks to secure certain bank borrowings granted
to the Group (Note 29).

The aggregate gain or loss arising on initial recognition of
raw milk and from the changes in fair value less costs to sell of
dairy cows is analysed as follows:

21.

EYMEE@

C-A4MEE®
AEEDZEMEBITEETGHMFAER
AR (B EEGERAR) HHET EAER
ENRAFE - B EMERNEREIEE
TFHRITEER  WImEERNTEMEERE
g LBREEZEET - BT AYEA
HEFMMEERA AT 2R ASUIEEE
PBIFE40 ©

MN20205E 128318 AEB AR
754,014,0007T (20194 : A R %838,666,000
TR E R FIRIT - EAR T AEE
WE TIRITERAOEREIE29) -

AT NS ERRHDMALF A FEES
BIHERAELN A EE

2020 2019
2020 20195
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMF T AREFT
Gains arising on initial recognition of RUERIE N T ERHE
raw milk at fair value less costs to sell B AR IR HE R R 9 2 A
at the point of harvest Wz 2,277,414 1,938,360
Loss arising from changes in fair value IR TFEFESHFATHE
less costs to sell of dairy cows PN EE 4 B BT 1R (1,031,316) (1,039,221)
1,246,098 899,139




Annual Report 2020 « ZZZEFFH

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= A

B 75 2R MY &

wiN =

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 #( £ 2020512 A31H L F &

22. INVENTORIES 22. Z&
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT AR¥ETFT
Feeds Ak 1,108,020 1,032,634
Others EHAih 50,623 45,857
1,158,643 1,078,491

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

23. B E 5 MR H o FE WK IR B

ADVANCE PAYMENTS RFEAFHIER
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T AREFT
Trade receivables JEWE 5 8RR 639,768 550,205
Less: allowance for credit losses B EEBERE (8,483) (8,635)
631,285 541,570
Advance payments for feeds, gRE - MR R E A BR
materials and others 47,736 64,819
Input value added tax recoverable AT Y O] #E TR B E A 2,938 2,591
Receivables from disposal of property, LEME - BERZEN
plant and equipment FEWRIE 999 4,015
Receivables from disposal of subsidiaries B A R A FEUL IR
(Note 36) (P4 7E36) 7,406 -
Short-term loan receivables (Note) %S H e B A (T 5 E) 8,092 -
Others Hth 8,203 5,293
706,659 618,288

Note: On 18 September 2020, Modern Farming (Chabei) Co., Ltd.
(“Chabei"”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Modern Farming,
entered into a loan agreement with a third party under the
direction of local government, pursuant to which, Chabei
provided a loan of RMB8,000,000 to the third party. The loan
is unsecured and bears interest at 5.225% per annum and will

mature in 8 months.

Mizt :  P20209R188 - RRME(EE)H
2EMBARRKRMEERIL)BRAF
(T DM T R ER TEE=777]
SERGE B BRiEME=T7RHE
ARH#8,000,000TE K - ZEERS
BRI HRF N E5.225%:1 8 - AR

J\EA AEH -
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23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

ADVANCE PAYMENTS (continued)

As at 1 January 2019, trade receivables from contracts with
customers amounted to RMB697,756,000.

Trade receivables at the end of the reporting period
principally represent receivables from sales of raw milk. The
Group allows a credit period of 30 days to its customers.

The following is the aged analysis of trade receivables, net of
allowance for credit losses, presented based on the invoice
dates at the end of the reporting period, which approximated
the respective revenue recognition dates at the end of the
reporting period:

23. EWE SRR R HEMEWFRIELL
REAFE®
R2019F 1818 - KEFEFLPEYNEKE S
IR A AR ¥ 697,756,0007T °

s ER A BB ER 508 3 4 G B R
RN - AEEG T HEFOERAEE
5 -

RBERRRBEZ AR (RBREHREGHNR
AHER B HRRE) 250 B UE 5 iR R (F0kR
EEBERB NREDITIT

2020 2019
2020%F 20194
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETT

Trade receivables FEUE 5 8RN
— within 30 days - 30RHAA

631,285 541,570

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables are set out in Note 38.

24. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

JE Y E 5 AR AR I Bt R MR TRORUE RHA R 15
FOINIEESS ©

24. TEEMIA

Assets Liabilities
BE aE
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2020 2019 2020 2019
20204 20194 20204 20194
12A31H 12H31H 12A31H 12H31H
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET R ARETT ARBT ARET T
Interest rate swaps (Note i) FI| 42 25 (B 5ti) - 4,325 (52,264) (15,134)
Foreign currency forward HNERERE 4
contracts (Note ii) (fH T 11,145 53,505 - (140)
Foreign currency option HIE HRRE A K9
contracts (Note ii) (P =) - 31,713 (31,074) =
11,145 89,543 (83,338) (15,274)
Analysed as: Paiv=
Current & 11,145 89,543 (59,338) (15,274)
Non-current e ED - - (24,000) -
11,145 89,543 (83,338) (15,274)
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24. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)

Notes:

Major terms of the interest rate swaps are as follows:

Nominal amount

BREH

w3
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 #( £ 2020512 A31H L F &

24. TEEMIAmw

GEX

A gm BT BT

Swaps

=5

At 31 December 2020

R2020412A318

United States Dollars ("US$") 542,300,000
542,300,000% 7t ([ 7))
HK$1,500,000,000

1,500,000,000/%& 7T

At 31 December 2019
R2019F12H31H
US$300,000,000
300,000,0003< 7T,
HK$1,500,000,000
1,500,000,000/% 7T

td London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR")

Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate ("HIBOR")

The Group entered into several interest rate swaps contracts
with certain banks to hedge the risk of interest rate fluctuation
arising from certain bank loans at floating interest rate. The fair
value changes of the swaps were recognised as a deduction of

finance costs.

From LIBOR* to 0.66%-1.90%
B mBUERITRIER B E0.66%Z=1.90%
From HIBOR* to 2.59%-2.62%
BEBRITRERB E259%E2.62%

From LIBOR to 1.53%-1.54%
BfRBIRITREREZE1.53%E1.54%
From HIBOR to 2.59%-2.62%
BEBRITAEFREE259%E2.62%

* REIRITEER S (RBBITREER

=Y)

ERIRTAZERE (FRBBITREER

=Y

AEEERE TRITRIMLE TR H
BH - NERE TIRFE N RARTT
ERELNNEREBRER - FHHA

FEESEIARMBERMEKE -
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24. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 24. TEEMIAEw

(continued)
Notes: (continued) Mozt : (88
ii. Major items of the foreign currency forward contracts and the ii. HINEERHANKINERBRSHTEEA N
foreign currency option contracts are as follows: T
Nominal amount Forward exchange rates
EELH BHE=

At 31 December 2020

202012315
HK$1,230,390,000 US$0.1274 to US$0.1280: HK$1
1,230,390,0007% 7T 0.12743 7T £0.1280% 7T 4178 7T

At 31 December 2019

R2019F 12318

US$187,700,000 RMB6.4800 to RMB7.0000: US$1
187,700,000 7T AR#6.48007CE A R¥E7.00007T 54 155 7T
HK$1,230,390,000 US$0.1274 to US$0.1280: HK$1
1,230,390,000% 7T 0.12743£ 7T £0.1280F T 17 7T

Nominal amount Type Position  Prices

FEEH BR HRKR ER

At 31 December 2020

FR20209F12H31H
US$257,000,000* Call Long RMB6.7000 to RMB6.8790: US$1
257,000,0003<T* R e ARB67000TE AREE6.87907TH 1ETT
Put Short  RMB6.7000 to RMB6.8790: US$1
) KE  ARE67000TE ARE6.87907T K 13T
Call Short  RMB7.1000 to RMB7.3000: US$1
R KE ARY7.10007TE A RB7.30007T 51370
At 31 December 2019
R2019F12H31H
US$217,000,000* Call Long RMB6.7000 to RMB6.8900: US$1
217,000,0003 7T* i R ARB670007TE A REE6.89007T K 1ETT
Put Short  RMB6.7000 to RMB6.8900: US$1
] wKE ARM6.70007TE AR K6.89007T K13 TT
Call Short  RMB7.1000 to RMB7.3000: US$1
R wE  ARME7.1000TE A RE7.30007T 2 1% T
US$26,300,000* Call Long RMB6.8820: US$1
26,300,000 T* R e ARM68820TH1ETT
Put Short  RMB6.8800: US$1
] wKE  ARM6.88007TH 1% 7T
US$26,000,000 Call Long RMB5.8000: US$1
26,000,0003% 7T R R ARMES.8000TH1ZETT
E These are currency call/put option portfolios. * ZEREBRERGEREES -
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24. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

ii. Major items of the foreign currency forward contracts and the
foreign currency option contracts are as follows: (continued)

The Group entered into several foreign currency forward
contracts and foreign currency option contracts with certain
banks to hedge the currency risk arising from certain of its bank
loans denominated in US$ and HK$. The fair value changes of
the foreign currency forward contracts and the foreign currency
option contracts were recognised in other gains and losses.

iii.  The valuation techniques used in determination of fair values of

the interest rate swaps, foreign currency forwards and foreign
currency options are disclosed in Note 40.

25. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

24. TEEMIAmw

fsE (@)

i SMNEERBAORINEMBEAOTIERBEN
G

AEBEETRITICETINEERALN
RAOMEREA L - NEIHETIAEXTRE
TEHENRITEREENEERR - IMNE
EHMENRINEREASNN D FEZHRN
HAb Yo g KSR RERR o

i, EEA=EE - IMNEERMRIMNERELT
B A A A B E RIS B MY 240 ©

25 HttemEE

2020 2019
20205 20194
RMB’000 RMB‘000

ARBFR AR®ETT

Structured bank deposits HERMIRITER

50,000 -

The balances represented short-term deposits placed
within reputable banks in the PRC with variable interest
rate determined by reference to change in foreign currency
exchange rates and will mature on 29 March 2021. These
deposits are stated at FVTPL.

G BATETE B o 5 B BT AR AT 0
%o ABREDSENEELEDTMEE -
A 4570202193 29 B FIH © HEFRIEA
T A B -

J

T85=

[
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26. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK 26. CEHETERURIBITESR
BALANCES AND CASH B&

2020 2019

20205 20194

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETT

Pledged bank deposits EERBRITEN
Current (Note i) w2 (&£ 34,503 80,122
Non-current (Note ii) FEmED (P EE D) 122,706 -
157,209 80,122
Notes: B EE -
The current pledged bank deposits carry interest at prevailing i. RBEERRITERREFN F0.30%=
market rates ranging from 0.30% to 1.80% (31 December 2019: 1.80% (2019912 H318 : 0.30% %= 1.95%) &)
0.30% to 1.95%) per annum and represent deposits pledged WITISMNEGFE - WERERAZERER
for letter of credit and bills payable. EERNERFER -
ii. The non-current pledged bank deposits represent deposits ii. EMB B B IRITIFRIE R 2023F5 A 5
which will mature in May 2023 and carry interest at prevailing HEER - WIREF3.58%MRITHISH
market rates of 3.58% per annum and have been pledged for KB - BEERIRITIERNENR -

bank borrowings.
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PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK EEHRITEFRUARBITEHRK
BALANCES AND CASH (continued) iﬂ@g@
2020 2019
2020%F 20194
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET R ARETF T
Bank balances and cash RITEHRNMES
Bank balances and cash RITEHR LIRS
Cash on hand FHEE® 10 20
Bank balances RITHEER 1,144,337 961,074
1,144,347 961,094
Time deposits with original maturity [REEA A BB =E A8
over three months (Note i) TE BiTF s (B 5ED 41,215 67,653
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in HERERERMTEER
the consolidated statement of R EE YD
cash flows (Note ii) 1,103,132 893,441
Bank balances and cash RITEHRNES 1,144,347 961,094
Analysed as: DA
Current mE) 1,123,710 961,094
Non-current IERED 20,637 -
1,144,347 961,094

Notes:

M2020F 128318 » FARITHIRDH
HBB=EANTEHTRIZEF0.36%E
3.70% (20195128318 : 1.70%%E1.79%) &)
WITHIBFEETE -

Time deposits with original maturity over three months were
held within banks and carry interest at prevailing market rate
of 0.36% to 3.70% (31 December 2019: 1.70% to 1.79%) per
annum at 31 December 2020.

M2020F 128318 e RBEEEDE
BES RTHESRTFARITRAITMS
MEREEQ01%E1.50%(2019%F12/8318 :
0.30%Z2.64%) 5T BWREIHEH A =1& A X
VAR 8958 B E BRI 30

ii. Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash, cash at banks and ii.
short-term time deposits with original maturities of three
months or less which are held within banks and carry interest at
prevailing market rate of 0.01% to 1.50% (31 December 2019:
0.30% to 2.64%) per annum at 31 December 2020.
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26

27.

FOR SALE

On 31 December 2019, Modern Farming entered into two
share transfer agreements (the “Transfer Agreements”) with
Jiangyin Dairy Energy (an associate of the group), pursuant
to which Modern Farming agreed to sell, and Jiangyin Dairy
Energy agreed to acquire, the entire equity interests in Wuhe
Energy and Hefei Energy (Wuhe Energy and Hefei Energy are
collectively referred to as the “Two Energy Companies”),
the then wholly-owned subsidiaries of Modern Farming which
were spun off in July 2019 as further disclosed in Note 43 (iii),
at an aggregate cash consideration of RMB148,124,000.

. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK 26. CEHBITERURBITERER
BALANCES AND CASH (continued) REmw
Pledged bank deposits and bank balances and cash at 31 20209 20196 12 A31 AWM B B/ RTT
December 2020 and 2019 are denominated in US$, Euro GERARRITEHRIRESTINAET * BT
("EUR"), HK$ and RMB. RMB is not freely convertible in the (T&m]) - BT EARESE - ARKIEER
international market. The exchange rate of RMB is determined Bmis ETeeEmER ARMIEXTIH
by the government of the PRC and the remittance of these RERAEE  MZEESEPREERZA
funds out of the PRC is subject to exchange restrictions S B B AR RV EE H B BT ARER o
imposed by the government of the PRC.
Certain bank balances that are denominated in currencies NEBREEMNINGEEE I ESTENE
other than the functional currency of the relevant entities are TERITAEREINAT
set out below:
2020 2019
20204 20194F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥ T ARBTIT
us$ ET 134,071 58,893
EUR BT 255 909
HK$ BT 46,305 38,432
A DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD 27. 2 EABELHENHEATR

R2019512A8310 - MRKRE(EE) BT
e (RNEE 282 N BRI LM i
EEma((EREBRD @ B REOKE
(EE)RBLE r MIBRKEREWER
RHBER(EB) R AR R E R (I
ERERAREREE MERRAF] - 5
SERBE(EB)ERNEZENBAR)
B2 EARKE - HR2019F7 A 95 (R M &
(iE—TER) AeREEARARY
148,124,0007T °
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27. A DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD
FOR SALE (continued)

The assets and liabilities attributable to Wuhe Energy and
Hefei Energy, which are expected to be sold within twelve
months as at 31 December 2019, have been classified as a
disposal group held for sale and are presented separately
in the consolidated statement of financial position on 31
December 2019. The disposal was completed in January
2020. Further details of the transaction are set out in Note 36.

The major classes of assets and liabilities classified as held for
sale are as follows:

27.

TERFEHENEEAR @

RIAMREREAIEEREMEER A E B
R2019F12A3M AW+ —EAANEL)ES
HARBEHEMHEERIWR2019F 128
JMNBEFETBHRRAERADFEZS - BEH
EER2020F1AEK - BEERXRZHE—F
BRI FES6 o

NEARFELENEERBEIZERN

T

Wuhe Energy Hefei Energy Total
FIAREIR BIREER e
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’000

ARBTRT AR%TR AR®BTR

Property, plant and equipment M - BE KRB 49,723 20,477 70,200
Inventories TE 21 74 95
Trade and other receivables EUNE SR R EA
e FRIE 324 68 392
Bank balances and cash IRITHEB LIRS 365 398 763
50,433 21,017 71,450
Trade and other payables JERTE 5 BRI E A
JETFRIE (1,007) (1,189) (2,196)
18
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28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 28. ENEZRAREMENRE
The credit period granted by suppliers for trade purchases is HERE TRERINEEH —MRR120K
generally within 120 days. The following is an aged analysis of AR > AT RREmERRNENE SRR K
trade and bills payable at the end of the reporting period: JEREBREBRE DT -

2020 2019
20205 20194
RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

Trade payables JERHE 5 R
— within 60 days - 60K A 610,589 905,457
- beyond 60 days but within 120 days — HBiBO0KRBE R 120K AR 146,753 213,925
—beyond 120 days but within 360 days — EBiB 120K 1B 360K AR 44,539 18,536
- beyond 360 days but within 720 days — 360K B FR 720K AR 15,015 16,747
Bills payable (Note) e =5 () 15,659 2,841
832,555 1,157,506
Payable for acquisition of property, plant BB - BE MR EEN
and equipment KB 217,521 140,350
Accrued staff costs EBErE TR A 212,269 113,503
Advance payments from disposal of SR FIE
dairy cows 27,093 20,733
Others HAl 121,348 89,596
1,410,786 1,521,688
Note: Bills payable are with maturities within twelve months from Mzt ENERBERESEZTABE @A
the respective issuance dates. NEIE -

L Ty
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29. SRITER

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARET T

Bank borrowings: RITER
Unsecured g 5,281,002 5,320,114
Secured (Note) A () 361,324 218,360
5,642,326 5,538,474
Carrying amounts repayable: JEEZEREE
Within one year —FR 3,471,314 3,822,643
Between one to two years —FEWER 703,519 1,525,831
Between two to five years MEZRFNR 1,467,493 190,000
5,642,326 5,538,474
Less: Amounts due within one year shown & : R8BI B EIE 5~
under current liabilities —ER2IHFKIA 3,471,314 3,822,643
2,171,012 1,715,831
Note: Certain bank borrowings as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 MizE ©  R20204 2019612431 B A A TR T
were secured by biological assets and bank deposits owned BERERNEEEENEMEE RIRTTF
by the Group as set out in Note 21 and Note 26 respectively. R (D RIE B 3E21 R B 5E26) FEHE 3R o
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29. BANK BORROWINGS (continued) 29. BITER @

The bank borrowings comprise: RITIERBLE
2020 2019
20205 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFTT
Fixed-rate borrowings TE BB 2,230,939 1,449,411
Variable-rate borrowings FEER 3,411,387 4,089,063
5,642,326 5,538,474

In September 2017, the Company entered into a bank loan
arrangement with several banks, under which the Group was
allowed to borrow US$300,000,000 loan from the banks at
floating interest rate determined as LIBOR+1.9% per annum
and the upfront fee amounted to US$5,400,000 (equivalent
to RMB35,839,000). The Group withdrew US$170,000,000
(equivalent to RMB1,127,603,000) in 2017 and withdrew
US$130,000,000 (equivalent to RMB824,668,000) in 2018. The
borrowings were fully repaid during the current year and the
effective interest rate was 4.18% per annum.

In September 2018, the Company entered into a facility
agreement with several banks, under which the Group was
allowed to borrow HK$1,500,000,000 loan from the banks at
floating interest rate determined as HIBOR+1.7% per annum
and the upfront fee amounted to HK$27,000,000 (equivalent
to RMB24,187,000). The Group withdrew HK$1,500,000,000
(equivalent to RMB1,284,780,000) and partially repaid
HK$270,000,000 (equivalent to RMB243,000,000) in 2019, and
the effective interest rate is 5.17% per annum.

2017698 + RAREE FRITEILIRTT
BERLH - Bt AEEBEBRTEA
B 300,000,000 T * SFRBIIRTH
EFE+1.9%H)F B FI XK K A 205,400,000
Zt(HE N AR 35,839,0007T) #) A H31+
HEHE o AREERN 201742 E170,000,000
EZT(HHERAR,127,603,0007T) © I
720184 $2HX 130,000,000 7T (FEE M AR
#824,668,0007T) ° fERE RN FEEREE
2 BEBRFHNEAE418% °

201898 » ARRIEE FIRITFI A&
e B AEEEAEBRITEAER
1,500,000,000/8 7T + BFZEEBIRITRENR
B+1.7%H)Z 8 & & AE27,000,0007% 7T
(FRE R ARK24,187,0007T) K B B~ Z st
B o REE R 2019 12 H21,500,000,000/%8 7T
(FHER ARY1,284,780,0007T) & &80 B8
270,000,0007% 7T (48 & 7 A R # 243,000,000
7T) - BEBRFEFEE517% -

e A
~192°>

K5 ol
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29. BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

In June 2020, the Company entered into a facility agreement
with several banks, under which the Group was allowed
to borrow US$200,000,000 loan from the banks at floating
interest rate determined as LIBOR+1.65% per annum and
the upfront fee amounted to US$3,600,000 (equivalent
to RMB25,145,000). The Group withdrew US$200,000,000
(equivalent to RMB1,368,862,000) in 2020, and the effective
interest rate is 3.49% per annum.

Save as set out above, the effective interest rates of the
Group's bank borrowings equal to contractual interest rates.
The effective interest rates per annum are as follows:

29. RITER @

2020461 - mﬂﬁiéﬁi%ﬁEﬁJMﬂﬁ
Wk o Bt AEEEESRITEAER
200,000,000% 7T * BFZMBBITRIEHR
B +1.65%K))Z 8 F &= & A#3,600,0003 7T
(HEE N AR BE25,145,0007T) &Y BT B 35t
B o K& E 720204 #2E1200,000,000% 7T
(HEENARK1,368,862,0007T) © BERE
RE 53.49% o

B ERES - REEBTEROERAES
ABHIFIE « AT ABBERE -

2020 2019
20204 20194

Fixed-rate borrowings BER
Variable-rate borrowings /%mfa =

Interest rate of variable-rate borrowings are determined
based on the benchmark lending rate and loan prime rate
announced by the People’s Bank of China, the LIBOR and the
HIBOR.

The bank borrowings are denominated in the following

0.66%-5.00%
1.22%-5.17%

3.20%-5.00%
4.28%-5.17%

ERAE AE’J%'JT’TJ@TFEP BARRT - fm2
RITAEFERBBRITRAEFEAMOE
N %ﬁfwl‘i&%?&?ﬁ%?ﬁ@ﬁﬁ%:ﬁ °

RITEFATINEBHE -

currencies:
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETF T
Us$ e 1,570,957 2,083,136
HK$ BT 1,031,784 1,095,831
RMB AR 3,039,585 2,359,507
5,642,326 5,538,474
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30. OTHER BORROWINGS 30. HftfER
2020 2019
2020%F 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARET T

Carrying amounts payable: JEERRE S -
Within one year —F R
~Mengniu Entrusted Loan -R4ZRFEEK
(Note 42(d)) (P 5E42(dl)) - 1,001,330
— Borrowing from a financial - DREBER (D)
institution (Note) - 50,083
- 1,051,413
Less: Amounts due within one year shown & : —FAZIHAZKIERRH
under current liabilities BEETIIR - 1,051,413
Amounts due after one year —F BB BFRIE - -
Note: On 26 February 2019, the Group entered into a loan MizE :  M20196F2A26H « AEEE—EEH

agreement with a financial institution, pursuant to which the
Group borrowed RMB50,000,000 from the financial institution
which matured on 28 February 2020. The loan is unsecured
and bears a fixed interest rate of 5.00% per annum. The
borrowing was repaid upon expiry.

-y

BRI —HDERBE - Bt A%
[ (7 3% & B 8 15 A A R #50,000,000
JC © 202052828 B B8 - B AE
iR E5FEEFERE500%  BRR
BIHAREEE -
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31. LEASE LIABILITIES 31. HE&fE
2020 2019
2020 20194F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMEF T ARETTT
Lease liabilities payable: ENEESE
Within one year —FR 23,851 23,238
Within a period of more than one year —FA BN EBBAMER
but not exceeding two years HAR A 10,572 9,676
Within a period of more than two years MFELA FETBBRFH
but not exceeding five years HAfE 32,708 31,458
Within a period of more than five years HBiEhE M ERA 152,762 164,975
219,893 229,347
Less: Amount due for settlement within B RmENBEE TR
12 months shown under current 1218 A A& E /I
liabilities (23,851) (23,238)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months RIERBIBEE T 5K
shown under non-current liabilities 1218 A& 45 E 508 196,042 206,109

The lease liabilities are measured at the present value of
the lease payments that are not yet paid. The incremental
borrowing rates applied by the relevant group entities to
lease liabilities range from 4.65% to 5.20% (31 December
2019: from 5.13% to 5.20%) per annum as at 31 December
2020.

HEABRAINNBENFEENE -
20205 12A318 @ S EEEHAES
BEMERBEERFNENTEFL65%
£5.20%(2019F12A318 : N F5.13%%F
5.20%) °
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32. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

32. NEE

2020 2019

20204 20194

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T AREF T

Sales of raw milk HE R 198 189

As at 1 January 2019, contract liabilities amounted to

RMB232,000.

33. DEFERRED INCOME

R2019F1A1H > AHEBBEAARE

232,0007T °

33. EEWA

Arising from

government

grants

EXBBA@ME

RMB'000

ARBEFIT

Balance at 1 January 2019 R20195F1 A1 8 46k 152,689
Addition NE 24,019
Released to income BEWA (19,030)
Balance at 31 December 2019 R2019F12 A31 B 84564 157,678
Addition NE 46,315
Released to income BEIA (31,131)
Balance at 31 December 2020 FR20204F 12 A 31 B M 4S8R 172,862

Deferred income represents government grants obtained
in relation to the construction and acquisition of property,
plant and equipment. Government grants are included in
the consolidated statement of financial position as deferred

ELEWATERZRMBEYR - BFERRIEE
SOBFME - BUTMRER A MBI K
AFERLEW A - ARE R EER A A F
HIMIZEARVERAT AR o

income and credited to the profit or loss on a straight-line

basis over the useful lives of the related assets.
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34. SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM 34. RARUR KRG nER#E
AND RESERVES

Share capital B2
Number of Share
shares capital
BHEE [ &S
‘000 HK$'000
T FET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each FBROVETH EER
Authorised JETE
At 1 January 2019, 31 December 2019 201991818 ~ 20194 &
and 2020 202012 A 31H 10,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid EEITREZ
At 1 January 2019 20191 81H 6,131,407 613,141
Issue of ordinary shares (Note) BT E @ (M) 276,228 27,623
At 31 December 2019 2019%12A331H 6,407,635 640,764
Exercise of Management Options 1T E IR B I A
(Note 35(a)) (P 5E35(a)) 50,931 5,093
At 31 December 2020 72020128 31H 6,458,566 645,857
2020 2019
20204 20194F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T AREFIT
Presented as EXly= 555,535 551,007

~
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34. SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM
AND RESERVES (continued)

4. BAUR KRB RERHE®

Share premium &3]
Share premium
gvi =
RMB’000
ARBTFT
Balance at 1 January 2019 R2019F1 A1 B /&R 4,641,066
Issue of ordinary shares (Note) BITE BRI 304,315
At 31 December 2019 MR2019%F12A31H 4,945,381
Exercise of Management Options (Note 35(a)) 1710 E 3% FE B AR 4 (P 7E35(a)) 39,701
At 31 December 2020 2020 12H31H 4,985,082

Note:

e B

~198 >

As at 1 January 2019, the Group recorded trade receivables
of gross amount of RMB1,064,879,000 form certain
major distributors (the “Distributors”) with the security
of 318,697,354 ordinary shares of the Company (the
“Collaterals”) provided by five third-party companies
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “"Pledgers”).
On 18 July 2019, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement (the "Subscription Agreement”) with New
Hope Dairy Co., Ltd. (“New Hope"), pursuant to which the
Company has conditionally agreed to allot and issue, and
New Hope or its designated subsidiary has conditionally
agreed to subscribe, for 276,228,409 shares of the Company
(the “"Subscription Shares”) at a price of RMB1.1920 per
share (total consideration of RMB329,264,000). Included in
the Subscription Agreement, one of the condition precedent
was to sign a tripartite agreement between New Hope, the
Company and the Pledgers (the “Tripartite Agreement”),
pursuant to which New Hope or its designated subsidiary
would agree to purchase the Collaterals at a price of
RMB1.1920 per share (total consideration of RMB379,887,000).
On 6 August 2019, the Tripartite Agreement has been
entered into among New Hope, the Company and the
Pledgers.

G

R2019F1 818 » AEBEHESEETE
ZHEEm((oHE) EKRE SHRREEE
AR#1,064,879,0007T » Y hEHBE
ZREGMRINABE =257 (&
BADEF B R R T MA%318,697,354
RREE A ([ETE]) - R2019F7H18
B AREEFEBAEBRNDHERAF
((FHEDFTURERZ(RBHE]) -
Bt - ARREGHERERE REHT
mMHAELRHEIEETHHE R EIEHE
AERBARRERARE1.19207TH
276,228,409 i 5 ([RER D)) (B
B R ARM329,264,0007T) - &R
EOEP —E R GG AT EEASE
ARRIMERABEZ (=51
B B HAEREEEHBEAR
BEE SR ARE.19207TE 51K 1§
m (R B A ARE379,887,0007T) » K
2019 8R6H » MimEHANT NER
AZBBRIM = o
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34. SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM

AN D RES E RVES (continued)

Share premium (continued)

A MBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 #( £ 2020512 A31H L F &

34. BAUR KRB RER#E®

B9 5% (B )

Note:

(continued)

On 20 September 2019, all the conditions precedent
for the Subscription Agreement had been fulfilled or
waived, and a subsidiary of New Hope subscribed for the
Subscription Shares of HK$0.1 each of the Company at
a price of RMB1.1920 per ordinary share. An amount of
RMB304,315,000, being the excess of the cash consideration
of RMB329,264,000 over the par value of the ordinary
shares of HK$27,623,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB24,949,000), was credited to share premium. The
proceeds were intended to be used for the business
operations and repayment of borrowings of the Group. These
new shares rank pari passu with other shares in issue in all
respects. Due to the above transactions, New Hope and its
subsidiary together acquired a total of 9.28% equity interests
in the Company.

B aE -

€=

MR2019%F 98208 @ RIERERZAET
BROREHHEERSER R FHEN
ME AR AL @RARE1.1920T
REARAEROIBITHORERS -
e KRB ARE329,264,000 TR H & i
IR A {E27,623,0007% T (FEE R AR
24,949,0007T) H) 7 58 A R #304,315,000
TLET AR H(E - FTSRBRARANE
EH¥EREERERER - REHRG
BB EREMRNDER RS -
AR ERS  FIREREWNBAR—
HBUREE & AR R F)9.28 %A HE ©

Other reserve HAtbf#&
Other reserve
Hit ik
RMB’000
AREFT
Balance at 1 January 2019 20191 A1 8 /&5 979,953
Equity transactions related to interest EAREERNERR S ()
free loans (Note) (9,124)
At 31 December 2019 MR2019%12A318 970,829
Equity transactions related to interest FHRRERNERR S (M)
free loans (Note) (1,561)
At 31 December 2020 20205124318 969,268

Note:

The movement in other reserve for this year represented
the portion of the difference between nominal value and
amortised cost of interest-free loans granted by the Company
to Modern Farming, a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, which was recognised as owners’ contribution to
Modern Farming, and proportionally attributable to non-
controlling interests.

p

R

AEFHMREENEZDEARRETA
REFFREMBARRRKEGEE W
REERmMELHBENAZEZEL
7 BHERRERAYBRRWE(EER)
MERL - ARSI
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34. SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM 34. BRARUR KRB wEBR#E®=
AND RESERVES (continued)

Shares held under the Share Award Scheme

RERORBEFAENREG

Shares held under

the Share

Award Scheme

RIB R R E 8

BENRG

RMB’000

ARBTT

Balance at 1 January 2019 FR20194F1 B 1 H M 456k (85,720)
Purchase of ordinary shares for the share AR 17 SR EY AT 8188 B iR AR

award scheme (Note 35(b)) (B 5E35(b)) (31,127)
Reversal due to vesting of award shares BERIAR 1) 57 8 1T 4 [

(Note 35(b)) (PH7E35(b)) 59,835
Balance at 31 December 2019 R2019F12 A 31 BH B 4564 (57,012)
Purchase of ordinary shares for the share AR SR SIS B E Ak

award scheme (Note 35(b)) (B 5E35(b)) (19,892)
Reversal due to vesting of award shares RENIR D B M & )

(Note 35(b)) (B 7E35(b)) 29,560
Balance at 31 December 2020 7202012 A 31 B Ry &6k (47,344)
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35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(a)

Modern Farming Option Scheme

On 31 October 2010, the Company granted to two
directors and one senior management member of
Modern Farming a total of 87,412,507 share options
of the Company for nil consideration and with an
exercise price of HK$0.86 per share (the “Management
Options”) which would expire on 29 October 2020.
The following table discloses movements of the
Management Options during the current year.

35. RO NHNNRRS

(a)

BAYE(EE) BRESE
M2010F 108318 » ARBAZENRE
MERHE(EEMEZEER 45
i&aﬁﬁm\&ﬂj & 1£87,412,5071%

NRIEEE - TEEREM0.86/B T
((EEEBKRE] - K57102020%104

298 EIH - TRIWEESIEEHERER
REERE

Outstanding Outstanding

as at Granted Exercised as at

1 January during during 31 December

Category 2020 the year the year 2020
R2020F R2020F

1B18 12R318

£5 e RAT 6 FARH FATHE fef RAT6E
Management Options ERERRE 50,930,832 - (50,930,832) -
Outstanding Outstanding

as at Granted Exercised as at

1 January during during 31 December

Category 2019 the year the year 2019
20195 R2019%

1A18 128318

L2gl RIATTHE FRARMH FRTE AT
Management Options ERERBRE 50,930,832 = = 50,930,832

On 27 August 2020, 50,930,832 ordinary shares with par
value of HK$0.10 each of the Company were issued at a
price of HK$0.86 due to the exercise of the Management
Options, resulting in an increase of the share capital
of HK$5,093,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB4,528,000). An amount of HK$38,708,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB34,415,000), being the excess of
the cash consideration of HK$43,801,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB38,943,000) over the par value
of the ordinary shares of RMB4,528,000, was credited
to share premium. The amount previously recognised
in share options reserve of RMB5,286,000 in relation to
the 50,930,832 share options were transferred to share
premium.

M2020F8H27H - HRITEEIRE
B - AR RIREREE.105 T
#1750,930,832% & 2 0.86/F LAY T
AL - A% AEE AN5,093,0005% 7T (48
BN AREA4,528,0007T) - LK
f843,801,0008 7 (HBE R AR
38,943,000 ) BB EBREEBEAR
4,528,000 T &) & ¥E 38,708,000/ 7T
(FRERNHAER%34,415,0007T) 5t A
%17 @ B o %718 #850,930,83210 #F
KREERABERERBEHSEARE
5,286,000 8% 2 (8 {05 B ©

N
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35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 35. U XHARRZ @

(continued)
(b) Share Award Scheme (b) KPEEETE
()  Share Award Scheme | () R EEEEEN

On 9 September 2016 (the "Adoption Date 1),
the Company adopted a share award scheme
(the “Share Award Scheme |I”) to motivate
and award the contribution of certain members
of management and eligible employees of the
Group. Subject to any early termination as may
be determined by the Board, the Share Award
Scheme | is valid and effective for a period of
5 years commencing from the Adoption Date
I. The shares to be awarded under the Share
Award Scheme | will be acquired by the Company
through Dairy Fortune Limited (“Dairy Fortune”)
which is 100% owned by Dairy Fortune (PTC)
Limited (the "Trustee”) from the open market
by cash contributed by the Group under the
directions of the Company and will be held in
trust for the relevant selected participants until
such shares are vested. The maximum number
of Shares which may be purchased by the Dairy
Fortune is 55,000,000 Shares. The total contributed
amount shall be not more than HK$70,000,000.
During the year ended 31 December 2016 and
2017, based on the Company’s instructions, Dairy
Fortune purchased a total of 35,969,000 ordinary
shares (the “Award Shares |”) of the Company
from open market at a total consideration of
approximately HK$69,769,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB62,137,000).

R2016F9 A9R ([H4k B H#1) -
QA B — I8 R 1D S22 5T &
(TRt 28 B st 8i1)) LU & 22 B
TEEETEBEEXNERGE
BEENER -BRESZ 8
EEMEMREFLIEI - D
REGEIBREAT - BERW
HEAIRB AR - BIER D B
SIS EENRNBARRRIER
Dairy Fortune (PTC) Limited([ 3%
£ AJ)100%#5 #IDairy Fortune
Limited([Dairy Fortunel)i%
BARNAIETUAERTER
RENAFAMSE EWE - I#
DEFRAXBHEBEE2HEE
BE BEERE@ERNEES -
Dairy Fortune @] B A/ I {9

B PR A55,000,000R% i 1n - 42
EE SR HE®ET70,000,000%
T o BLE2016%F R2017F 124
NBLIEFE @ ZBRAQRIET -
Dairy FortuneE ¢ AR M35 LI
B84 5135,969,0000 AR & & @
(BRG]  BREDNA
69,769,000/ T (HHE R K AR
62,137,0007T) °

~o02 >

[ 2
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 %@i2020¢12ﬂ MNBIEFE

35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 35. U@ XWX S

(continued)

(b) Share Award Scheme (continued) (b) KRPEBEE @

()

Share Award Scheme | (continued)

Based on the trust arrangements among the
Company, the sole shareholder of the Trustee and
the Trustee, the Company is able to control the
Trustee and its subsidiary, Dairy Fortune, pursuant
to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements.
Therefore, the Group accounts for the Trustee
and Dairy Fortune as consolidated structured
entities. The ordinary shares of the Company held
by Dairy Fortune are accounted for as a debit
to the Group's reserve and are presented under
the account of “Shares held under the Share
Award Schemes” in the consolidated financial
statements.

On 21 April 2017 (the “Grant Date 1”), a total
of 35,969,000 Award Shares | (“Share Award 1")
were granted to the selected participants. Out of
the total shares granted, 6,637,000 Award Shares |
were granted to certain members of management
(the “Award Shares A"), which would vest in the
third anniversary of the Grant Date | provided that
certain performance and service conditions are
met. The remaining 29,332,000 Award Shares |
were granted to certain members of management
and eligible employees (the “Award Shares B"),
which would vest in the second anniversary of the
Grant Date | provided they are still employed by
the Group.

()

1 4 28 =1 211 ()

BIBAREF] - XEEANKE—RE
MEFEAZEOETELEE - AR
AR IR BB B s 5 E RIS 10
SRAR A BT SR Re IR I R FE
AR EF$E 2 F)Dairy Fortune °
Hit - REEEXFFE A KDairy
Fortune)\ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%z?é\%%g
B2 © Dairy FortunefT#FA R
LHX?\EE@J7%$E.r§ﬁ1E uE
WHIRRERE M BHRERNRIE
Bip B EIRFAENRG 1A
o

MR2017F4821B([E#HBH
1) - & #£35,969,0004% 2B A% 17|

(TRpEEmm )R TiRESHEE -

RETEERERMF + 6,637,000
BB ARt (SR BR MDA K
FETERERE RIEH EI
HINE=ZFARTERE - HAF

AR TRBEMRBIEMSE - ﬁ%T
29,332,0000% 82 Eh A% 15 1 ([ 52 B A%
BBHAIETETEEERER
HEREES  REHABHINE
“ERAFEE  HEEADZE

= =

/203‘
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35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

35. LR X NHNNRRZ

(b) Share Award Scheme (continued) B 47 5% B 5t 2
() Share Award Scheme | (continued) n BB EI@
The following table discloses movements of the TR IR EE R AR 15 S 2
Award Shares | during the reporting period: ok
Forfeited
Outstanding due to Outstanding
as at resignation Vested as at
1 January during during 31 December
Category 2020 the year the year 2020
72020 720205
1818 FR 12A31H
55 HATE  ERERR FARR e RATHE
Award Shares A RERDA 5,325,000 - (5,325,000) -
Award Shares B #ERB - - - -
5,325,000 - (5,325,000) -
Forfeited
Outstanding due to Outstanding
as at resignation Vested as at
1 January during during 31 December
Category 2019 the year the year 2019
R20195 20195
1A18 LA 12A318
gl AT BEERR ENRE R ARTTEE
Award Shares A R DA 5,325,000 = = 5,325,000
Award Shares B R B 22,423,000 (1,412,000) (21,011,000) -
27,748,000 (1,412,000) (21,011,000) 5,325,000

B e
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35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(b) Share Award Scheme (continued)

()

Share Award Scheme | (continued)

The fair values of Award Shares A and Award
Shares B determined at the date of grant
using Black-Scholes Model were HK$7,731,000
(equivalent to RMB6,843,000) and HK$36,265,000
(equivalent to RMB32,102,000) respectively.

The Group recognised a share award expense of
RMB559,000 (2019: RMB4,810,000) in respect of
the Share Award | during the current year. A total
number of 5,325,000 shares of Award Shares A
(2019: 21,011,000 shares of Award Shares B) were
vested to certain members of management (2019:
management and eligible employees) during the
current year, and the difference of RMB3,731,000
(2019: RMB13,234,000) between the RMB5,468,000
(2019: RMB23,063,000) share award reserve and
RMB9,199,000 (2019: RMB36,297,000) shares held
under the Share Award scheme | for the shares
vested was recognised to retained earnings.

35. RO XAHNNRRS

(b) MR EEEEE @

()

% 17 5 b 5t Bl )

HENAY (9 AR BB BN IR (9 B IR
HEFERAMKR - TR RER
EENAFEDRAT,731,000
7570 (R E A R #6,843,0007T)
12.36,265,0007% 7T (FHE R AR
32,102,0007T) ©

RAFE  AEBEREBERK
MERMROEBRIAAR
#559,0007C (20194 : AR#
4,810,0007T) ° & #£5,325,0004%
HEIAZID A(20194F : 21,011,000
R SE B AL 19 B) R A F E § %’%EA
BETEREKE (2019%F :
Br&E®RESR) Hﬁfﬁi&l@ﬂzﬁ
# A REES 468,0007T (20194
AR #£23,063,0007T) E8 51 77 57 8B
AR D IR IE AR 0 22 BT B 13 B WY
AR #9,199,0007T (20194 = A
R #36,297,00070) & 19 2 @ H =
a5 ARE3,731,0007T (2019
F 0 AR¥13,234,00070) MR E
BFWER o
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35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 35. U XHARRZ @

(continued)
(b) Share Award Scheme (continued) (b) KRMPEBEE @
() Share Award Scheme Il (I BRpEEEEEN

On 26 March 2018 (the "Adoption Date I1"),
the Company adopted a share award scheme
(the “Share Award Scheme I1”) to motivate
and award the contribution of certain members
of management and eligible employees of the
Group. Subject to any early termination as may
be determined by the Board, the Share Award
Scheme Il is valid and effective for a period of
10 years commencing from the Adoption Date
Il. The shares to be awarded under the Share
Award Scheme Il will be acquired by the Company
through Dairy Fortune from the open market
by cash contributed by the Group under the
directions of the Company and will be held in
trust for the relevant selected participants until
such shares are vested. The maximum number of
shares which may be purchased by the Trustee is
set at no more than 1% of the number of issued
ordinary shares of the Company at the preceding
annual general meeting. During the year ended
31 December 2018, based on the Company's
instructions, Dairy Fortune purchased a total
of 20,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company
from open market at a total consideration of
approximately HK$28,835,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB23,583,000). During the
year ended 31 December 2019 Dairy Fortune
purchased another 19,962,000 ordinary shares
from the open market at a total consideration
of approximately HK$22,924,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB20,405,000). During the current
year, Dairy Fortune purchased another 20,000,000
ordinary shares from the open market at a total
consideration of approximately HK$17,255,000
(equivalent to RMB15,763,000) and the number of
ordinary shares purchased by Dairy Fortune under
Share Award Scheme Il increased to 59,962,000
shares (the “Award Shares 11").

MR2018F3 8268 ([H4 B A
1)) - AR RN — B (D 12 E
SrEI((R S @t EIN) - UM
BRERAEEETERREKE
LEEREENER - RESE
AJREEE TE MR R AR ESN - IR
DEBEFENEHP+F - B
B HRNR AR o AR B D 528
STEINS EZB AN B ARR A
#iBDairy FortunelZFBZAN 12 A] 35
TUAREEFERMR SR ARM
15 U EE - WS AERE S R AR
BETLEERE  HEEHBH
BB - XFEAREARRD
HEERBEATSBBART
RE—EREBFAE LB %
ITEBEAEE 1% - H£2018
F12A31BLEFE  BEBAEARQ
BI#87R ' Dairy FortuneB #£2Q
F % U BE & 520,000,000
AARIEBE  BREY
£28,835,0008 70 (FER L
AR#23,583,0007T) - HZE
2019612 A31 8 IEFfE » Dairy
FortuneB M AR™ % LU iE%E
9N 9,962,000 F B Ax - BHRIE
#9/522,924,0008 7T FHE R LA
R #20,405,0007T) - RAFE -
Dairy Fortuneft A% _EUWHE
B 5020,000,0000% E @AY - 2K
B4 /417,255,000 7 (FHE R
# AR %15,763,0007T) * Dairy
FortunetRiEAX (1 BN FT 2N &
3 i AR BB 15 0 E 59,962,000
A& (s @R 1)) -

e
= 4
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35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 35. U@ XWX S

(continued)
(b) Share Award Scheme (continued)
(1 Share Award Scheme Il (continued)
(i)  Share Award Il-i

On 29 March 2019, a total number of
19,962,000 Award Shares Il (“Share
Award Il-i”) were granted to the selected
participants. Out of the total shares granted,
9,981,000 Award Shares Il vested on 21 April
2019 unconditionally (the "Award Shares
C"”). The remaining Award Shares Il of
9,981,000 were vested on 21 April 2019 with
one year lock-up period beginning from the
vesting date (the “Award Shares D").

(b) MR EEEEE @
Iy B seEst &
(1-)  B&17 22 @)II-i

MR2019F3H29H * & H
19,962,000 % 52 B A% 17 |
(TRBEBI-iZTEE
Sk - E’\Fﬁﬁ?ﬁﬂjﬂx{%
F o+ 9,981,000/% 2B I 1511
R2019F4 A 21 B &G
B((EBRMHC)) - T2
B A% 179,981,000/% 742019
FARNBRE  B5REHR
R —FREH((RER
#D)) °

The following table discloses movements TREFBERERMDCRE
of the Award Shares C and Award Shares D B AR 19 DA e &5 B FE ) &
during the reporting period: E
Outstanding Outstanding
as at Granted as at
1 January during  Vested during 31 December
Category 2019 the year the year 2019
20195 R20195
1A18 12A318
2Rl RIATTHE FARRI FRNEE AT
Award Shares C BRRINC - 9,981,000 (9,981,000) -
Award Shares D BBKRHD - 9,981,000 (9,981,000) -
- 19,962,000 (19,962,000) -

The fair values of Award Shares C and
Award Shares D determined at the date
of grant using Asian Option Model
were HK$12,484,000 (equivalent to
RMB10,709,000) and HK$11,698,000
(equivalent to RMB10,034,000), respectively.

HERMHCRERHD
IR B A TN
EEAETHAFED
B512,484,000 7T (FE
B AR®10,709,0007T) &
11,698,0007% 7T (A8 & 7 A
R #10,034,0007T) °
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35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(b) Share Award Scheme (continued)

(b) KBPEBEFE @

35. LRI RRZ @

——d

— 208 \‘

Share Award Scheme |l (continued)
(//—I) Share Award ll-i (continued)

The following assumptions were used to
calculate the fair values of the Award Shares

(I BHEBTEING@
(1-i) AR17 5E@I-i()
KANTEBRAERZBR
HCREZBEBRMHDH A F

C and Award Shares D: & :
Award Award
Shares C Shares D
RERHDC RERDD
Grant date share price B B EMARE HK$1.30 HK$1.30
1.308 7T 1.308 7T
Strike Price 1TfEE HK$1.30 HK$1.30
1.308 7T 1.308 7T
Risk-free interest rate #22 [5, f 61 =R 1.38% 1.44%
Remaining restrict period T 4 PR B 0.06 1.06
Expected volatility TR B 8 65.87% 43.20%
Dividend yield R Gt 0.00% 0.00%
Option value BREEE HK$0.05 HK$0.13
0.05% 7T 0.13%7T

Expected volatility was determined by using
the historical volatility of the Company’s
share price.

The variables and assumptions used in
computing the fair values of the award
shares are based on the best estimates of
the Directors. Changes in variables and
assumptions may result in changes in the
fair value of the Award Shares C and Award
Shares D.

The Group recognised a share award
expense of RMB20,743,000 in respect of the
Share Award ll-i during the year ended 31
December 2019. All of the Award Shares
C and Award Shares D were vested to
selected participants during the year ended
31 December 2019, and the difference
amount of RMB2,795,000 between the
RMB20,743,000 share award reserve and
RMB23,538,000 shares held under the Share
Award scheme Il for the shares vested was
recognised in retained earnings.

TEHIR IR TV A A QA K
EBRELIRIBETE -

\u #ﬁﬁbﬂxfﬂﬂ$@
E’J”E&fﬁi?&%&§$ﬁﬁ
REMGFAREE - BER
BRNEE A LG BT
B 1 C e BREN AR D DA F
BEHREZS -

HE2019F 128318 IEF
[ NEBERERID 1
Bh-im AR EE R A
AR #20,743,0007T ° &
2019128318 L&
B BRI GCREE
BROHDEBRBETSH
E BROBERBEARE
20,743,0007T £ 5 F7 87 /&
B& 0 1R & % A7 SR ED T B1145
AH AR 23,538,0007T %
MZENEZEBSBEARKE
2,795,000 C A (R B8 2 FI) e

D
7
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35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

35. LR XNHNNRRZ @

Share Award Scheme (continued) (b) KRPEBEE @
Share Award Scheme Il (continued) dvig-30 e 1IE)
(Il-i}) Share Award ll-ii (1l-ii) AR 17 22 @hll-ii
On 8 January 2020, a total number of 20201 H8R - &
20,000,000 Award Shares Il (“Share 20,000,0000% 2 By B 17 11
Award Il-ii") were granted to the selected ([RBERN-ii)ETEE
participants. If certain performance and SEE -MEEETERE
service conditions are met, out of the total MR R - BIRPTB &
shares granted, 10,000,000 Award Shares H A& H + 10,000,000/ 2
Il would be vested on 21 April 2020 (the AR 19 11 72 202054 A 21
“Award Shares E”), and the remaining ARE ((RBRAE]) Mk
10,000,000 Award Shares Il would be vested T~10,000,0004% #EEAZ 7 11
on 21 April 2020 with one year lock-up #2020 421 B R 8B -
period beginning from the vesting date (the EEEAHE—F2EH
“Award Shares F"). ([SRBRDF]) °
The following table discloses movements TREERBRMDEN R
of the Award Shares E and Award Shares F M AD FR s BRI Y B &) -
during the reporting period:
Outstanding Outstanding
as at Granted Forfeited Vested as at
1 January during during during 31 December
Category 2020 the year the year the year 2020
#2020 2020
1R18 12A318
Echal I RATEE FRERH FRRY FRER R AT R
Award Shares E REIRHE - 10,000,000 (40,599)  (9,959,401) -
Award Shares F KBRHF - 10,000,000 (40,599)  (9.959,401) -
- 20,000,000 (81,198)  (19,918,802) -

The fair values of Award Shares E and
Award Shares F determined at the date
of grant using Asian Option Model were
HK$10,993,000 (equivalent to RMB9,821,000)
and HK$10,089,000 (equivalent to
RMB?,013,000), respectively.

HEBRNERERBRMDF
REE B 8ERZMNR
HERAETHAFED
B 410,993,000 7T (F8E
RAR®9,821,0007T) &
10,089,000 7T (A8 & 1 A
R #9,013,0007T) °
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35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(b) Share Award Scheme (continued)

(1) Share Award Scheme |l (continued)
(//—I'I) Share Award ll-ii (continued)

=
210 \‘

K5 ol

The following assumptions were used to
calculate the fair values of the Award Shares

35. LRI RRZ @

(b) BB E @
(1)  B7 B &)
(11-ii) AR 17 SZB)II-ii (&)
HANULTRE&TEEE R
MERBEBBRHFHQF

E and Award Shares F: & :
Award Award
Shares E Shares F
RERBE RERF
Grant date share price B B EMARE HK$1.14 HK$1.14
1.14% 7T 1.14% 7T
Strike Price 1T1E(E HK$1.14 HK$1.14
1.14% 7T 1.14% 7T
Risk-free interest rate 47 2B 1) = 2.03% 1.77%
Remaining restrict period T 4 PR B 0.28 1.28
Expected volatility TEARK I8 30.26% 46.51%
Dividend yield i B 0.00% 0.00%
Option value BREEE HK$0.04 HK$0.13
0.04% 7T 0138 7T

Expected volatility was determined by using
the historical volatility of the Company’s
share price.

The variables and assumptions used in
computing the fair values of the award
shares are based on the best estimates of
the Directors. Changes in variables and
assumptions may result in changes in the
fair value of the Award Shares E and Award
Shares F.

The Group recognised a share award
expense of RMB18,759,000 in respect of
the Share Award lI-ii during the current
year. A total number of 19,918,802 shares
of Award Shares E and Award Shares F was
vested to selected participants during the
current period, and the difference amount of
RMB1,602,000 between the RMB18,75%,000
share award reserve and RMB20,361,000
shares held under the Share Award scheme
Il for the shares vested was recognised in
retained earnings.

EHIR IR VAR QA K
BRELIRIBETE -

BRHEEDBGHATE
M E R EREEE RN
ST AEE - RER
B30 BB W B A B
BRHEREBMRAFAT
EHRED -

RAFE - REBRRKRMD
2R R IR (0 1B R 2
ABANR¥18,759,0007T ° 7
NEIFE - £ 4£19,918,802
% S B AL D E N S B RS 10 F
FBERET2HE  KH
R 5 A R 18,759,000
JC E Tt P SR B AR 19 AR IR AR
HEREETEIIFEMARK
20,361,000 T i 17 2 R By =
o AR 1,602,0007T
RREE BAIFERR o
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35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 35. U A XK Z @

(continued)
(b) Share Award Scheme (continued)
(1 Share Award Scheme Il (continued)
(Il-iii) Share Award ll-iii

On 27 March 2020, a total number of
20,000,000 Award Shares Il (“Share Award
11-iii”) were granted to the selected
participants. If certain performance and
service conditions are met, out of the total
shares granted, 10,000,000 Award Shares Il
will be vested on 21 April 2021 (the “Award
Shares G"). The remaining Award Shares ||
of 10,000,000 will be vested on 21 April 2021
with one year lock-up period beginning from
the vesting date (the “Award Shares H").

The following table discloses movements
of the Award Shares G and Award Shares H
during the reporting period:

(b) MR EEEEE @
(I BRpEEEEIN@
(1l-iii) A& 17 ZE@)I1-iii

MR20203827H * & &
20,000,0000% 22 B J& 17 11
(TR&GEBN-iHi)FTFETE
SHIE o fhﬁé%?i%iﬁb
MARBAEHS - AR A R
H A% {5 F - 10,000,000/ 2&
B AR5 11745 72202144 A 21
AFE(RBRMG)) - #
T #ZEHR% 11110,000,000%
BR2021FE4A21BRE -
EFEBHHE—F2EH
([EE@BAH]) -

TRWE LB DGR
BB 15 H 3 35 & 1 P 1 8
& :

Outstanding Outstanding

as at Granted Forfeited as at

1 January during during 31 December

Category 2020 the year the year 2020
72020 72020

1A18 12A31H

55 e RATEE FARH FRARK fef RATHE
Award Shares G ZERING - 10,000,000 (680,000) 9,320,000
Award Shares H EERIHH - 10,000,000 (680,000) 9,320,000
- 20,000,000 (1,360,000) 18,640,000

The fair values of Award Shares G and
Award Shares H determined at the date
of grant using Asian Option Model were
HK$6,010,000 (equivalent to RMB5,459,000)
and HK$5,813,000 (equivalent to
RMB5,281,000), respectively.

HBEIRMDGREBERMDHH
I B HAfE A de M =C HR
EEAETHAFED
Bl A6,010,000 7T (B E
R AR¥S5,459,0007T) &
5,813,000 T (HHE N AR
#£5,281,0007T) °
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35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(b) Share Award Scheme (continued)

e B

=212

& 4

Share Award Scheme Il (continued)
(II-iii) Share Award ll-iii (continued)

The following assumptions were used to
calculate the fair values of the Award Shares
G and Award Shares H:

35. LR X NHNNRRZ

(b) KRB 8 @
I mBpEBTENG@
(1-iii) AR 17 ZER@)II-iii (%)
FANUTBRETERE R
BOREBBBRHDHEQF

& :
Award Award
Shares G Shares H

RBRAG RERADH

Grant date share price B HERRE
Strike Price (B
Risk-free interest rate o2 a1 B )
Remaining restrict period T 4 PR £
Expected volatility TR BRI
Dividend yield st &
Option value BIEEE

Expected volatility was determined by using
the historical volatility of the Company’s
share price.

The variables and assumptions used in
computing the fair values of the award
shares are based on the best estimates of
the Directors. Changes in variables and
assumptions may result in changes in the
fair value of the Award Shares G and Award
Shares H.

The Group recognised a share award
expense of RMB7,488,000 in respect of the
Share Award Il-iii during the current year.

HK$0.68 HK$0.68
0.687# 7T 0.687# 7T
HK$0.68 HK$0.48
0.687# 7T 0.687# 7T
0.62% 0.63%
1.07 2.07
49.34% 44.66%
0.00% 0.00%
HK$0.08 HK$0.10
0.08# 7T 0.10/ 7T

TEHIR IR TV A AR A K
BOELRIRETE °

Rt BERZB RO A FE
E’J“E&ﬁ?&%&§$m
REGFA/EE-BE
BRa& a%@f]ﬁ%é\.ﬁﬁlﬁ
F%JJH&T%G&;%@JHQ%H
EHIRE

RAFE  REBRBED
SEEN-iiFE R A (0 1B R X
A ANREET,488,0007T °
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35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(b) Share Award Scheme (continued)
The Group retained a total number of 5,510,525
vesting shares (2019: 10,592,774) as a consideration
of approximately HK$4,519,000 (equivalent to
RMB4,129,000) (2019: HK$12,499,000 (equivalent to
RMB10,722,000)) for paying the individual income tax on
behalf of those selected participants under Share Award
Scheme | and Il.

As described above, the ordinary shares of the
Company held by Dairy Fortune are accounted for as a
debit to the Group's reserve and are presented under
the account of “Shares held under the Share Award
Schemes” in the consolidated financial statements.

36. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

As disclosed in Note 27, the Group has disposed of its equity
interests in the Two Energy Companies to an associate
in January 2020. According to the Transfer Agreements,
Modern Farming has taken the following obligations after the
completion of the disposal of the Two Energy Companies:
(i) 20 years following the date of completion of the disposal,
Modern Farming or its subsidiaries will continuously supply
manure feed to the Two Energy Companies free of charge
and an annual minimum of total solid (“TS") content will
be maintained in the manure feed (“Commitment |"); (ii)
Modern Farming will ensure the Two Energy Companies have
a valid land use right which will be used for the operation of
the Two Energy Companies in compliance with the relevant
law until 31 December 2039 (“Commitment II”); and (iii) If any
of the following (a) and (b) occurs, (a) within 18 years following
the date of completion of the disposal, the TS content of
the feed falls below 80% of the annual minimum pursuant to
Commitment | above; (b) Modern Farming fails to ensure the
Commitment Il, Jiangyin Dairy Energy has the right to require
Modern Farming to buy back all the equity interest in the Two
Energy Companies (the “Option”). The price will be 130% of
the sum of the consideration under the Transfer Agreements
and any subsequent capital investment in respect of the Two
Energy Companies (with a cap of RMB43,600,000 for Wuhe
Energy and RMB27,210,000 for Hefei Energy).

35. LR XNNNRRZ

(b) MBS @

KElﬁE?FHxTﬁﬁED*Jr;‘JI&IIﬁ%%

E2HEEIMEARGSHRE - RE
& ,\5 510,5250% 55 B A% 15 (20194F :
10,592,7748%) 1E B E 494,519,0007%8
T (HENAREA4,129,0005T) (2019
F 112,499,000 L (FEE N AR
10,722,0007T)) ©

ZZDJ:\XFﬁL\ Dairy FortuneFTH AR
AIEBERARIAEREEFEERER -
WHIRRERE I SRR BRI 52E)
FFEIFEMRMDIET -

36. HEMHMBE AR

BN 27 PR SR - AERE R 2020F1 A
EERNMARRARNEET —HEER
A - RiFEEHE - BRREGER)RBE

BERARHEEETKEBDFAETIIER
(R EFEBETKZ BR20F R - BARME
(EIWEW% A RERBERMER
NERMER A B EhEENA
REFELEE(TS)EE (AL : ()R
1%#&%(%)%%6&1%@?? LR/ R H 22039
FIR2ANBHBERNEELHERAERAR
X [ BE VIR 7%@ (|—7¥K IID R (i) fiw) 2%
£ T35 (a) R (b)EMIIE m%%zémﬁ
ZElE18¢W%&*41%ETS§@EM:‘X7¥K§%I
NEEZERSEMS0% bR ME(ER)
ReeBITAEG - IRRMAEE EERFBRK
¥(EB)BEEMEERAR A RE(H
EE])  ERAERMEE T ZREREH
MEEER AR EMERIEAZES (BT
TRIAA R #43,600,0007T AR KA B EE TR LA
AR #27,210,0007C &FR) #8502 130% ©
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36. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

The management considered the liabilities of Modern
Farming arising from its obligations in respect of Commitment
I and Commitment Il are insignificant. As to the Option,
the Group engaged an independent valuer, Asia-Pacific
Consulting and Appraisal Limited, to assist it in assessing
the fair value, which is determined using the Binomial-Tree
Model. Based on the valuation performed, the management

36. HEH B QA w
ERERAEAKE(EE BREHARL IR
EABIEENESMEENEBBEMTEM -
BN S NEBEZBIL(AEMIART
HBABERATBTEAFE A FET
R NERIET - RIEFTETHME -
EMERABWSBELTEALN - At WER
4RA BTSRRI

considered the amount is not material and accordingly has

not been recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

31 January
2020
2020F1A31H
RMB’'000
ARBT T
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which REEHENEEREEDN .
control was lost:
Property, plant and equipment M - HERRE 69,798
Inventories & 93
Trade and other receivables and W E 5 BR R S EL A WK IR A B
advanced payments TR RIE 6,017
Bank balances and cash IRITHEER IR ® 6,734
Trade and other payables e B 5 BR AR I EL At e A~ 5RIE (6,699)
Tax payable J& R IR (99)
Net assets disposed of HEREEFE 75,844
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36. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

36. HEH B2 w

RMB'000
AREFIT
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries: HENB QRN :

Consideration received B E 140,718
Receivables from Jiangyin Dairy Energy (Note 23) 2K BT k2 #8E #9 & W 5038 (I 5123) 7,406
Net assets disposed of HEMEEFE (75,844)
Gain on disposal & e 72,280

Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HESEELNRERAFE .
Cash consideration HeRE 140,718
Less: bank balances and cash disposed of B BEHEMNRTESR MRS (6,734)
133,984

37. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to stakeholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group's
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes bank borrowings and other borrowings as disclosed
in Notes 29 and 30 respectively, net of bank balances and
cash and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital, share premium and reserves.

The Group's management reviews the capital structure
on a regular basis. As part of the review, the management
considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with
each class of capital. The Group will balance its overall capital
structure through the issues of new shares and the issue of
new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

37. EXERERE

AEBOESERE ERRAREN TS
MBS RS - AN ERBICE REA
BHANBEANERRRAEE - AR
BRERRETRTE -

AEENEARBEHERFR(BRERITE
AR N B A 8 R (9 Bl 3¢ 2R 1A Y RE 29} 30)
MR RITRER IR D) AR AR ARG
R (BRERTRA - B aERFHRE A
B o

AEENEEEE RS ERRE - (AR

AR BEREEEEREANARBEE
RFRHEE - AEEEBEITHARN M E

THEGREERE EHES X RSERE
AT -
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

L e —

/]

=

3. £ IT A

Categories of financial instruments TRMIRER
2020 2019
20205 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTF T ARBT T
Financial assets: SREE !
Financial assets at amortised cost KA EN S RE E 1,957,531 1,592,094
Equity instruments at FVTOCI BATEAEMEE
WAR R T A 5,080 3,959
Other financial assets Hih e & E 50,000 -
Derivative financial instruments PTESBIA
~ Interest rate swaps — & 42 B - 4,325
— Foreign currency forward contracts - HNEEIRERE A 11,145 53,505
— Foreign currency option contracts — SN ERRE S A - 31,713
Financial liabilities: cHAs:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost R ENESRBE 6,805,030 7,970,190
Derivative financial instruments TTESHIA
— Interest rate swaps — & 42 52,264 15,134
~ Foreign currency forward contracts - SMEERHIE A - 140
- Foreign currency option contracts — SN ERRES A 31,074 =

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include equity
instruments at FVTOCI, trade and other receivables, pledged
bank deposits, bank balances and cash, trade and other
payables, bank and other borrowings, other financial assets
and derivative financial instruments. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in the respective notes.

The risks associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are
set out below. The management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented
on a timely and effective manner.

216>

SREREENEERBER
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Market risk

(i)

Currency risk

The Group collects the sales of milk produced in RMB
and incurs most of the expenditures as well as capital
expenditures in RMB.

As at 31 December 2020, the major assets denominated
in foreign currency are bank balances disclosed in Note
26. The major liabilities denominated in foreign currency
are bank borrowings disclosed in Note 29.

The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by
performing regular reviews of the Group's net foreign
exchange exposures and may enter into foreign
currency forward contracts or foreign currency option
contracts, when necessary, to manage its foreign
exchange exposure.

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

2% (2019: 2%) is the sensitivity rate changes which
represented management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates.

The Group was primarily subject to foreign currency
risk from the movement of the exchange rates between
RMB against US$ and HK$. The sensitivity analysis
below includes US$ and HK$ denominated monetary
items that are not associated with a foreign currency
forward contract or a foreign currency option contract.
At the end of each reporting period, if the exchange
rate had been strengthen in RMB against US$ and HK$
by 2% and all other variables were held constant, the
Group's post-tax profit for each reporting period would
fluctuate as follow:

3. £ T AEmwm
cREREENEERBE®

™35 E R

i) SMEmE
AREOMESHEEMAELN
REBD X HEEARFAZHAARBE I
¥ o

2020512 A318 » AINEHESN T
BEEBWME26FTIERNIRITER o
LASNEEHERN = BB &AM 290
BHIRITER -

Z’SE.LﬂEHqugyhl:ﬂ AA/?%/E\ ’
FIRERT M INE EHIA KON B4
A m"j(ﬁuﬁﬁzz © BA E&%/Hﬂl\@@ﬁfz ©

SN B E AT

2% (20196 : 2%) B REFHR K
EEBHINEE RSB AI L Z B AT
filr o

AEETZEBRKEEARBEETR
B TTIE R E R IME R o AT BUR
EoiTE Bl EINEEIE OIMNE
HiEa N BRI ULET METTRHER
E¥IRE - REREHR - MARK
HETRBITTIE2% - fAA MR
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 38.

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)
Market risk (continued)
(i) Currency risk (continued)

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis (continued)

£®MIBEw

tREREENEERBE®

T 15 BB (®)
() SMNEEER @
GNEE SRR 50 AT ()

Increase Increase
(decrease) (decrease)
in post-tax in post-tax
profit profit
BRBERER B 118 5
BG4 IO D)
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R AREFT
US$ denominated assets and ENFEEERAER
liabilities against RMB AR
- bank balances - IRT1THKERR (2,681) (1,178)
- bank borrowings - RITER 18,569 1,179
HK$ denominated assets and BILTEEENBER
liabilities against RMB ARE
—bank balances - R17458 (926) (769)
Total st 14,962 (768)

For a 2% weakening of the RMB against US$ and HK$,
there would be an equal and opposite impact on the

post-tax profit.

AR ZETRABTIE2% » Rl
HRBMRENELRSHARNTE -
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Market risk (continued)

(ii)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk due
to fluctuations in the prevailing market interest rates
on bank balances, pledged bank deposits and bank
borrowings which carry interest at variable interest rates.

The Group's fair value interest rate risk relates primarily
to fixed-rate bank and other borrowings and lease
liabilities.

The Group manages its interest rate risk by performing
regular reviews of the Group's net interest rate
exposures and may enter into interest rate swap
contracts, when necessary, to manage its interest
rate exposure. As at 31 December 2020, seven (31
December 2019: seven) interest rate swap contracts had
been entered by the Group to mitigate its cash flow
interest rate risk.

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for variable
interest rate bank borrowings that are not associated
to an interest rate swap contract. Bank balances and
pledged bank deposits are excluded from the sensitivity
analysis since they are not considered sensitive to
fluctuation in interest rate. The analysis is prepared
assuming the variable interest rate bank borrowings
were outstanding for the whole year. A 50 (2019:
50) basis points increase or decrease represented
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in interest rates.

3. £ T AEmwm
tREREENEERBE®

T 45 & B (46)

(ii)

FIEE

AEBRRITHERS SERRITHER
FILF BN R BRITERNRITH
BREESMAIESRENER
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BRITREMEREBERE -
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Market risk (continued)
(i) Interest rate risk (continued)
Interest rate sensitivity analysis

At the end of reporting period, if interest rates had
been increased/decreased by 50 (2019: 50) basis
points and all other variables were held constant, the
Group's profit would have decreased/increased by
RMB4,085,000 (2019: RMB4,545,000) for the current year.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause
a financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an
obligation by the counterparties is arising from the carrying
amount of the respective recognised financial assets as stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position. The Group
does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to

cover its credit risks associated with its financial assets.

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of
credit limits and credit approvals. Before accepting any new
customer, the Group uses an internal credit scoring system
to assess the potential customer’s credit quality and defines
credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring attributed to
customers are reviewed twice a year. Other monitoring
procedures are in place to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
performs impairment assessment under ECL model on trade
balances individually. In this regard, the Directors consider

that the Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

3. 2T AEm

tREREENEERBE®

T 35 & B ()

(i) FIEEE
FIRGRRE DT
PR B - W B R 3 0,8 450
EIE 25 (20194 : SOMEEEE) - MATA
Ht B REEFIE - AEAEER
AEEHEHERD EMARE
4,085,0007T (20194 = A R #¥4,545,000
JT) °

EERRRBEFE
AEEHBREYF I RERTEEMEAE
BERGBERANGAEERRRESEM
BIRARAIINEAC RSB EENRE
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REZ

EP A RELHEWE SN
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers
(continued)

The Group has concentration of credit risk as approximately
85% (31 December 2019: 82%) and 10% (31 December 2019:
4%) of total trade receivables as at 31 December 2020 was

due from Customer A and Customer B, respectively.

Pledged bank deposits/bank balances

The credit risks on pledged bank deposits and bank balances
are limited because the counterparties are reputable banks
with high credit ratings assigned by international credit
agencies and/or authorised banks in the PRC.

Approximately 19%, 12% and 11% of total pledged bank
deposits and bank balances were deposited in China
Construction Bank, Agricultural Development Bank and
Cooperative Rabobank U.A. respectively as at 31 December
2020 (31 December 2019: 23% and 18% in Agricultural
Development Bank and China Construction Bank
respectively).

Other than the concentration of credit risks of trade
receivables, pledged bank deposits and bank balances
mentioned above, the Group does not have any other
significant concentration of credit risk.

3. £ T AEmwm

tREREENEERBE®

EER KR REN G @
EFEAAELREKE ZRH &)

AEBFEEERRBRETFNBER  REAR
2020F12A31EMEKRE ZERBEFLD
85% (2019512318 : 82%) & 10% (20194
12A318 1 4%) DR BERAEEREFAR
EFBRIFKIE o

EEHRITERRITHES
EEHRTERRBRITESRNEERRE
R RRARZET I AEREEREBET
REEFRNEERFHNRITRHHEN
RAERTT °

7R20205 128318 » £919% ~ 12% K 11%H)
BEEMRITERMIRITERD BITFRHE
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

e B

(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment comprises

the following categories:

Internal credit

3. 2T Emwm

tREREENEERBE®

= & EBg ROR B 57 30
REBANBEEFRREATER

rating Description Trade receivables Other financial assets
AEEE R #EA BWE 5 R HttSmEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default  Lifetime ECL - 12m ECL
and does not have any past-due amounts ~ not credit-impaired
KRR RHHFANRORBREE  BYEER 2HBHEEBE- 12EAREMREEER
1 B R IE mEERE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
credit risk since initial recognition through  not credit-impaired not credit-impaired
information developed internally or
external resources
&2+ 3@5Wﬁﬁéﬁﬁ%m%ﬁﬂﬁﬁl\ﬁﬁﬁﬁ?@ﬁ%ﬁﬁ SHEMEEEE- 2HEHEEEE-
R B V)46t A SREREZ 1 h0 EEERE BEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired
P BREETAREECDEERE HREREEEE - SHEHEERE-
EERE = ERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor Amount is written off ~ Amount is written off
is in severe financial difficulty and the
Group has no realistic prospect of
recovery
ki ﬂ%ﬁ?«ﬁfﬁﬁ)\ﬁﬁ)\%‘iimﬁﬁkliﬁ MR MEHTE

=22

AREEARFBRAIIE A K



Annual Report 2020 « ZZZEFFH

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B85 ¥R Y AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 #( £ 2020512 A31H L F &

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 38. TR T Ew
Financial risk management objectives and policies CRIEAKBEENBERBEK®
(continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) EE R B &R E 7 @)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the TRFAVASERBEREEBEET NS
Group's financial assets, which are subject to ECL assessment: MEEEEERR :
Internal 12mor Gross carrying Gross carrying
NOTES creditrating lifetime ECL amount 2020 amount 2019
12BAZ2HEN
M ABEENR  GEEB FE2E2020F REREN19F

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMBOO0  RMB'O0
ARBTR ARBTR ARETT ARETRL

Financial assets at amortised costs

REERAGTENEREE
Pledged bank deposits 26 N/A 12m ECL 157,209 80,122
BERRTER TR PEARSEEER
Bank balances 26 N/A 12m ECL 1,144,337 961,074
ichE 1R PEARBEEER
Other receivables 23 Lowrisk 12m ECL 24,700 9,308
EihEiEE (R P2EREHEEER
Loss Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) 4,671 29,371 4514 13,822
Bx PERAEEBR(ESHE)
Trade receivables (Note)
W ESER ()
- rawmilk 23 Lowrisk Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 631,285 541,570
- R (& PHEREEHR(REERE)
- liquid milk product 23 Loss Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) 8,483 639,768 8,635 550,205
- RENER VS PHRREEHR(EENE)
Note: For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified Mz : BEKZEZIEREFME  AEBEEHR
approach in IFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime BB IS RS RIS MY (b 7% -
ECL. The Group determines the expected credit losses for all REMEHREEBEBRIZHEEEHR - K
items individually since there are few numbers of customers SEEMNETMEHENEDREES
for trade receivables. B THEHREREBESERNEFHE
B

|
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3. 2T Emwm
tREREENEERBE®

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

15 B B B 5% R (B 34 (80

TRINTRBEECTEEEREKE HRN

REREREESEBRNE -

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL
that has been recognised for trade receivables under the
simplified approach.

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
>HEH TR
FEEE EEEER
(REEREE) (FERE) e
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBFT ARBTFT
As at 1 January 2019 720191810 - 857,739 857,739
Changes due to financial #2019F1 A1 HR
instruments recognised EEReRIESIEM
as at 1 January 2019: 2%
—Impairment losses reversed - B BRI {EEE
(Distributors) (2 8E7) - (160,451) (160,451)
- Impairment losses reversed - B EBIREEE
(others) (EAth) - (1,837) (1,837)
— Write-offs (Distributors) — W sE (2 8578) - (686,618) (686,618)
— Write-offs (others) — Ml (K tb) - (198) (198)
As at 31 December 2019 A2019F12831H - 8,635 8,635
Changes due to financial 20201 A1 AER
instruments recognised EER TR LA
as at 1 January 2020: 28
— Impairment losses reversed - B ORI E R (H )
(others) = (152) (152)
As at 31 December 2020 720205612A31H - 8,483 8,483

o

[ — =
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 38. €T Em
Financial risk management objectives and policies CRIEAKBEENBERBEK®
(continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) FEERB R R AN @
Changes in the loss allowance for trade receivables are mainly BWE SEFEREREESHTER :
due to:
31/12/2020 31/12/2019
2020%F12A31H 2019 12A31H
Decrease in lifetime ECL Decrease in lifetime ECL
2HAPEEBBRRD > HRBEEBHERD
Not credit- Credit- Not credit- Credit-
impaired impaired impaired impaired
BEERE FERE EEERE EERIE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TRT AR®BTR ARBTT AR¥TE

Settlement in full of DIEEEEEE

the Distributors with FREAEARE

a gross carrying 378,261,0007T

amount of

RMB378,261,000 - - - (160,451)
Settlement in full of BHEBAZEE

trade debtors with BEREEAEARE

a gross carrying 152,0007T (E )

amount of (2019%F : AR¥E

RMB152,000 (Others)  1,837,0007T)

(2019: RMB1,837,000) - (152) - (1,837)

5
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies TREREENEERBE®

(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

3. 2T Emwm

EE R &R EF @

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is B BRI BURER AE YR EM B EE B i
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial B FRIA R AR (MBS A BB R SR E
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. WERF  URFEER/E) - A& EEMH
when the debtor has been placed under liquidation or has FEWE SR o
entered into bankruptcy proceedings, whichever occurs
earlier.
The following tables show reconciliation of loss allowances TRIIRE R E AL E W TR B R EO
that has been recognised for other receivables. R e
Lifetime ECL
(credit-impaired)
HIEH
FEBE
(EERE)
RMB'000
AREFT
As at 1 January 2019 R2019F181H 3,569
Changes due to financial instruments recognised R2019F 1 H1ABRREEREmIE
as at 1 January 2019: SIBEEE)
- Write-offs — s (8)
- New financial assets originated - RENFEREE 953
As at 31 December 2019 A2019%F12H31H 4,514
Changes due to financial instruments recognised M2020F 1 AR BN E R TR T A
as at 1 January 2020: 5| B
- New financial assets originated -RENFERMEE 157
As at 31 December 2020 R2020612A31H 4,671

926

(SR
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Changes in the loss allowance for other receivables are mainly

3. £ T AEmwm
tREREENEERBE®

EER KR REN G @
Hib W TEEERENESH ETEHRN

due to:
31/12/2020 31/12/2019
Increase in Increase in
lifetime ECL lifetime ECL
Credit-impaired  Credit-impaired
2020%12H31H 2019 12A31H
2 HATE A S HATEER
BFEEE EEEE
EnEERE EINEERE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARETT
One debtor of other receivables —IEHE M B AR AKIEELD

defaulted 157 953

Liquidity risk REBE SR

The Group had net current liabilities of RMB1,881,191,000 as
at 31 December 2020 (31 December 2019: RMB3,537,886,000).
The Directors closely monitor the cash flows of the Group
and, upon maturity, would arrange the renewal and
refinancing of the borrowing facilities, when necessary, to
ensure the Group has sufficient funds to enable the Group
to meet its financial obligations. In addition, taking into
account, (i) the available credit facilities of approximately
RMB4,597,896,000 which remain unutilised as at 31
December 2020 (these credit facilities included an amount of
RMB1,300,000,000 from Inner Mongolia Mengniu, a subsidiary
of Mengniu, and the remaining credit facilities are from
licensed banks.); (i) the expected net cash inflows generated
from the Group's operations for the next twelve months, the
Directors are satisfied that the Group will be able to meet in
full its financial obligations as and when they fall due in the
foreseeable future. Accordingly, the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

REBM2020F 12831 B RSB EFEL
AR#1,881,191,0007T (2019412 A31 8 -
AR #3,537,886,0007T) © EEZRY)EEEA
EENREREMN - TR BB LT
HRTREETERLEREWMETE) U
BRAEERETRNEREASFELALEL
SN EB B ET o I - & E (i) 2020
FR2ANBMAIHBAEERENARKE
4,597,896,000 LW R B - ZEEEME
BREREBASTHEF EENIWNBRAFTHAR
#1,300,000,0007T * Fer{ERE R A
BT (VAR ZEAANEREEELENTE
HESRAFE  ESEMEAEEKENT
A RIEEIEE RN BITHMSET - At
FREVBBERDIRISFELEREERE -
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The Group finances their operations by using a combination
of borrowings and equity. Adequate lines of credit, including
a facility of RMB1,300,000,000 from Inner Mongolia Mengniu
are maintained to ensure necessary funds are available when
required. The Directors monitor the liquidity position of
the Group on a periodical basis to ensure the availability of
sufficient liquid funds to meet all obligations. With reference
to the existing unutilised facilities, the Directors consider
the liquidity and source of funds for the daily operation and

capital expenditure are sufficient.

The following table details the Group's remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the

Group can be required to pay.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at the end

of the reporting period.

In addition, the following table details the Group's liquidity
analysis for its derivative financial liabilities. The tables have
been drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual net
cash inflows and outflows on derivative financial liabilities that
settle on a net basis, and the undiscounted gross inflows and
outflows on those derivatives that require gross settlement.
When the amount payable is not fixed, the amount disclosed
has been determined by reference to the projected interest
rates as illustrated by the yield curves existing at the end of
the reporting period. The liquidity analysis for the Group's
derivative financial liabilities are prepared based on the
contractual maturities as the management consider that the
contractual maturities are essential for an understanding of

the timing of the cash flows of derivatives.

- B

208 >

- d

3. 2T AEm

tREREENEERBE®

REBESER@®
TEBEEEERERBEAEZEREES -
AERNEFERITNBUENES  BfF
ERAMHNEEE(BERERTERSNM
& ANFR#1,300,000,0007T) ° & S5 F HRES 52
AEBHRBESKTE - UERATIEGEH
HREBESRITMAEEREMR - KB2EBRERE
A& BERE HERERERFEIM
FRTRBESRESRIETRE °
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FEATEAE  ARERSBEHBERK
FEBH -
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

3. £ T AEmwm
tREREENEERBE®

(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) RENE & Bk
Total
Interest Within 181 days to 1-2 Over undiscounted  Carrying
rates 180 days 365 days years 2years  cashflows  amount
181X E RERRE
FlE  180RR 365KR  1E2f  BB2E  REAE REE
%  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR AR®TR ARMTR AR¥TR ARETR ARETR
As at 31 December 2020 #20206125318
Non-derivative financial FrELBEE
liabilities
Non-interest bearing T8 - 1,081,416 81,288 - - 1,162,704 1,162,704
Fixed interest rate bank ERRITER
borrowings 0.66-5.00 1,170,550 732,217 225,073 173,157 2,300,997 2,230,939
Variable interest rate bank FERITER
borrowings 1.22-5.00 276,749 1,450,987 268,640 1,578,299 3,574,675 3,411,387
Lease liabilities BERE 465520 14765 16306 20,248 292,512 343,831 219,893
2,543,480 2,280,798 513,961 2,043,968 7,382,207 7,024,923
Derivatives - net settlement ~ #T4£I 8 - Y FHEE
Interest rate swap contracts QES=E R ohe
outflow 19,045 18,002 10,948 4,400 52,395 52,264
Derivatives - gross settlement #74I8 - WAHLE
Foreign currency option MNEEESSD
contracts
= inflow -mA - 16,118 7,242 19,191 42,551 42,551
- outflow i - 40,373 11,249 22,003 73,625 73,625

229 -
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

3. 2T Emwm

tREREENEERBE®

Liquidity risk (continued) WENE & Ek
Total
Interest Within 181 days to 12 Over undiscounted  Carrying
rates  180days 365 days years 2years  cashflows amount
18KE RURES
ik 180K/ 365KA 1226 A2 MELE RaA
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETRT ARETT AR®TR ARETT ARETR
As at 31 December 2019 2019124318
Non-derivative financial FiEsBER
liabilities
Non-interest bearing T8 - 1,210,784 169519 - - 1,380,303 1,380,303
Fixed interest rate bank ERRTER
borrowings 3.20-5.00 589,116 838,221 60,641 - 1487978 1449411
Variable interest rate bank ERRTER
borrowings 4.28-5.17 206431 2315532 1,504,325 190,998 4217286 4,089,063
Other borrowings EftfER 479-480 1,059,803 = = - 1,059,803 1,051,413
Lease liabilities HEAR 5.13-5.20 17,762 16,523 20208 312,357 366850 229,347
308389 3339795 1585174 503,355 8512220 8,199,537
Derivatives - net settlement 74T A - L BH#E
Interest rate swap contracts ESEEi R oh
outflow 2,042 4,077 944 - 15,533 15,134
Derivatives - gross settlement #74 I8 - L#HHE
Foreign currency forward SMEEHEH
contracts
= inflow -mA - - 139,380 = 139,380 135,048
- outflow - - - 139,524 - 139,524 135,188
Note: The amounts included above for variable interest rate Mt - WIZBVA R AL AR & B R E E A A

borrowings are subject to change if changes in variable
interest rates differ from these estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of the reporting period.

REFAER - B LY BERBEN

EHREEMTR -
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39. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 39. Bt S 28 fiEL B ENYER
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities THRAMAEERMEZDMEEEBRNE
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non- B BRERASKIREES - ETHAE
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are EREERRERECKIRKRERNER
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be RAEEGERERNERTOBRRARERD
classified in the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows FIEENRERENZEZRE -

as cash flows from financing activities.

Foreign

currency

Amounts forward and

Bank Other due to Lease option

borrowings Medium-term  Corporate  borrowings ~ Mengniu ~ liabilities ~contracts
(Note 29) notes bonds  (Note 30) Group  (Note31)  (Note 24) Total

HEER

RTER HfefeR  ENRY  HERR REESY

(W9 wHRE  09EE (M0 RERE (M) (MR it
RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOO0  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOO0
AERTR  ARETR  ARMTR  ARBTR ARRTT  ARRTR  ARETR  ARETR

At 1 January 2019 RO19E1A18 4437502 621,880 1,087,568 1,001,111 143,048 29125 (345220 7465712
Financing cash flows HERSIE 768,398 (6285000 (1,102,213) 123 (150,000 (18,005) - (1130,197)
New leases entered I NVE) - = = = = = a7 = a0
Foreign exchange ANE 84,167 = = = = = = 84,167
Interest expenses FIERX 28407 6,620 14,645 50,179 6952 11,010 = 3813
Fair value adjustments NTERR - - - - - - (50,556) (50,556)
At 31 December 2019 20195124318 5538474 - - 1,051,413 - 29347 (85078 673415
Financing cash flows HERSIE 18,729 - - (1,058,634) - 21,11) 71,975 (983,041)
New leases entered/ Fiug/
lease modified BEXRE - - - - - 592 - 592
Foreign exchange SMNE (173,760) - - - - - - (173,760)
Interest expenses MERY 258,883 - - 7,221 - 11,065 - 277,169
Fair value adjustments NTERE - - - - - - 27,032 27,032
At 31 December 2020 20205128318 5,642,326 - - - - 219,893 19,929 5,882,148
Note: The cash flows from the interest rate swaps, foreign currency Mizk :  FkiEH] - INEREIS O RINEHRES
forward contracts and foreign currency option contracts, bank fx’] RITIER - PHARE - HMER
borrowings, medium-term notes, other borrowings, corporate REAMEFRENEFSENRENR S
bonds and amounts due to Mengniu Group make up the mEBKEFEHERERTHNERME
net amount of proceeds from borrowings, repayments of FIE - ERERRENFERFRE -

borrowings and interest paid in the consolidated statement
of cash flows.
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40. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value of the Group's biological assets, financial
assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair
value or fair value less cost to sell on a recurring basis
The Group’s biological assets are measured at fair value
less costs to sell, other financial assets, equity investment at
FVTOCI and derivative financial instruments are measured at
fair value at the end of each reporting period. The Directors
have set up a valuation team, which is headed up by the
chief financial officer of the Company, to determine the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value
measurements.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group
uses market observable data to the extent it is available.
Where Level 1 and Level 2 inputs are not available, the Group
engages third party qualified valuers to perform the valuation.
The valuation team works closely with the qualified external
valuers to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and
inputs to the model. The chief financial officer reports the
valuation team’s findings to the Directors semi-annually to
explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the assets
and liabilities.

232
i i 4

40. AFEFTE

BEEHERENUQAFERAFERHEE
HAGENAEEEYNEE  SHEE
REmEENATE
AEBNEYEERA FER LSRRG
B HMEREE  RAVEFARMEE
WA ERIRERITESRTARSRER
REAHEFE - EFEXLEERR - A
RRRPBRERE  UEBEEENGHER
i R R EFENEABUR -

BETEERBEN R FER - AKEERA
RMZR BRI - {HE —REE_HNE
ABBEAAR  AEEEZEF=TREMR
MERMETHE - AEEKESERIMNERG
BEEZAE  ARUETSENHETE
RBARE - AEMBEEELFREEER
HEEFNERABEEERABERFER
BHREA -
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40. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)
Fair value of the Group's biological assets, financial
assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair
value or fair value less cost to sell on a recurring basis
(continued)
The following table gives information about how the fair
values of these assets and liabilities are determined (in
particular, the valuation technique(s) and inputs used), as well
as the level of the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value
measurements are categorised (levels 2 and 3) based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements is
observable.

40. 2 FEFFEw
BEREMEEDAFER AT EREE
RAFENAEELEYEE  SRHEE
FemEBBEN A FE®

TREHEBEREQFEFENRAZRIEN
AEEREENNEEXFEENABNAYF
BRI RAERNBETEREARE) -
R HEEMRE DA FERRIKFE(FH
“R=BINER

Fair value hierarchy DNFERF
Fair value as at  Fair value as at
31 December 31 December Fair value
Assets/(liabilities) 2020 2019 hierarchy
120204 720194
12A3188 12A318/
BE /(8@ ~EE NEE NEELR
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBFIT
Biological assets EMEE 7,101,243 7,459,359 level 3
F=M
Derivative financial PTESMIA
instruments
— Interest rate swaps — FI| =45 2R - 4,325 level 2
E_&
~ Foreign currency forward - INEIRERE A 11,145 53,505 level 2
contracts FMR
~ Foreign currency option - INEEERRE S A - 31,713 level 2
contracts EFE_H
Other financial assets HtomEE
~ Structured bank deposits - BRI 50,000 = level 2
E_&
Equity instruments at FVTOCI BRAFEFAREMMEE
WAREZT A
- Unquoted equity - RREERRE 5,080 3,959 level 3
investments F=
Derivative financial PTEEMIA
instruments
— Interest rate swaps - M=Kz 5] (52,264) (15,134) level 2
E_&
— Foreign currency forward - INES IR ERA 4 - (140) level 2
contracts FR
~ Foreign currency option - INEERRE S A (31,074) = level 2
contracts FER
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40. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

Valuation techniques used in fair value measurements
The following table shows the valuation techniques used

f
=
|

L 20

in measuring level 2 and level 3 fair values, as well as the
significant unobservable inputs used in the valuation models:

TRIRET

40. A FEFEw

AT EFEFERNEKESZ
EF R RE=HATERERE
REEF A WRGEBRFTARNEANTA
B A8 ¢

Inter-relationship between
significant unobservable inputs and

-y

forward interest rates (from observable
interest rate at the end of reporting
period) and contracted interest rates,
discounted at a rate that reflects the
credit risk of various counterparties.

FRBeneg

ARRERENRBEEDNE(RE RS
HRBATBENZ) RAHM = -
BRBSEHFINEERRIONX
BH e

Type Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs fair value measurements
EXTTBEGARER
il HERE EXTUBRGARE ATEHEZENEERE
Foreign currency forward  Discounted cash flow N/A N/A
contracts Future cash flow are estimated basedon A TEm
INEREEAH forward exchange rates (from observable
forward exchange rates at the end of
reporting period) and contracted forward
rates, discounted at a rate that reflects
the credit risk of various counterparties.
FRReRE
ARRERENRBEREX(REHRE
HROTEZRIER) RANEHES
kit BRBSEUF HNEERRN
MEEH o
Foreign currency option ~ Garman-Kohlhagen model N/A N/A
contracts Garman-KohlhagenE&! TR Tam
HNEHRERD
Interest rate swaps Discounted cash flow N/A N/A
&I H Future cash flow are estimated basedon i@ TR



40. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

Valuation techniques used in fair value measurements

(continued)
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40. P EFTE®
ATEFEFERANKEES Z@®

Inter-relationship between
significant unobservable inputs and

Type Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs fair value measurements
EXFABRRAREA
ofid fhER%E EXFUBRGARE AYEFECENAERE
Structured bank deposits  Discounted cash flow N/A N/A
ERERTER Future cash flows are estimated basedon N TEm
forward exchange rates, discounted at a
rate that reflects the credit risk of various
counterparties.
BRATRE
ARRSREHRBEREX (Lt -
BRBMEEUFINEERRD
MERH
Unquoted equity Market approach Fair value is estimated based on value An increase in the discounted for lack
investments i of comparable listed companies and of liquidity would result in a smaller
RREERGRE discounted for lack of liquidity. percentage decrease in the fair value

APENRIALR EmAAMEREL
st RRREE A RS -

measurement of the unquoted equity

investments.
RBUTRHEREMAT SRR R EER

RERTHEBOLARD -
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40. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

Valuation techniques used in fair value measurements

(continued)

Type Valuation technique

4l fhER

Significant unobservable inputs

EXTTRRAARE

40. A FEFEw
AT EFEFERANEES Z@®

Inter-relationship between
significant unobservable inputs and
fair value measurements
EXTABERAREE
AVEFBZBHRERE

Heifers and calves The fair value of 14 months old heifers

NEHER M is determined by reference to the local
market selling price.

TOEAN N RTENREE TS
EEET -

The fair values of heifers and calves at age-
group less than 14 months are
determined by subtracting the estimated
feeding costs required to raise the cows
from their respective age at the end
of each reporting period to 14 months
plus the margins that would normally be
required by a raiser. Conversely, the fair
values of heifers at age group older than
14 months are determined by adding the
estimated feeding costs required to raise
the heifers from 14 months old to their
respective age at the end of each
reporting period plus the margins that
would normally be required. by a raiser.

R I8 A R SRR N AR R/
SHRTEDERERTERERER
ERESANFEHEEETREAMA
Wit ARRE - MEEH—RAEN
AMERE - ARt EARTEEAN
FRARI MR FEDEN LA
NEERTEEAREEEEBRNER
ERRNFHABN R RRKA - 11
BEA-RAANENET «

e B

~236 >

Average local market selling prices of the
heifers of 14 months old were estimated
at RMB20,500 per head at 31 December
2020 (2019: RMB21,100).

R2020F12A318 - TIRMEAEMEEH
THEHTHERRTATEARE
20,5007 (20195 = AR¥21,1007) °

Estimated average feeding costs per
head plus margin that would normally be
required by a raiser for heifers and calves
younger than 14 months old are
RMB17,463 at 31 December 2020 (2019:
RMB16,203); average estimated feeding
costs per head plus margin that would
normally be required by a raiser for
heifers older than 14 months old are
RMB17,694 at 31 December 2020 (2019:
RMB16,417).

R020F12A31R » 5+ RTEA N
BERMETE - SR TIRE
REMEER-RAENBEAARY
1746370 (20195 - AR¥16,2037T) :
R020512R318 - RARTTIEA
B NEHEME - BRE TR AER
AMERH-RAANERARET 694
TL(2019% : AR#16M77TT) °

An increase in the estimated local market
selling price used would result in a
smaller percentage increase in the fair
value measurement of the heifers and
calves, and vice versa.

RN EN TR ERENAER &
ERMEATERE RSN -
RZIR9%

Anincrease in the estimated feeding costs
plus the margin that would normally
be required by a raiser used would result
ina much smaller percentage increase/
decrease in the fair value measurement
of the heifers and calves older/younger
than 14 months old, and vice versa.

R AR AMEE B —RAAER
B MBEHAR/ M+ EEA SN
B R ATEENE LI
n/Bd - RZMR
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40. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)
Valuation techniques used in fair value measurements

(continued)

40. P EFTE®
ATEFEFERANKEES Z@®

Inter-relationship between
significant unobservable inputs and

Type Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs fair value measurements
EXFABRRAREA

ofid fhER%E EXFUBRGARE AYEFECENAERE

Milkable cows The fair values of milkable cows are The estimated feed costs per kg of raw milk - An increase in the estimated feed costs

kS determined by using the multi-period used in the valuation process are per kg of raw milk used would result in

RMB1.77 for the year ended 31
December 2020 (2019: RMB1.77), based
on the historical average feed costs

excess earnings method, which is based
on the discounted future cash flows to be
generated by such milkable cows.

MEATEEBFERASBRBNEEER
BaEENTEENERARESTE)
Er-

per kg of raw milk after taking into
consideration of inflation.
HENNF12A3NBILEE - RERRT
RANGATRHAME ARKABA
REBITIT(BE0195 : ARE1LTT
) ERGATRANMEL T4
BRAT RASHRER -

A milkable cow could have as many as six
lactation cycles. Estimated average daily
milk yield at each lactation cycle ranges
from 29.1 kg to 31.3kg for the year ended
31 December 2020 (2019: 27.9kg to
30.1kg), depending on the number of the
lactation cycles and the individual
physical condition.

A AL - #Z2020F128318
IERER - R BN G TIERE
MENTFOARTEINIRTEE01
E L 79RTENIRF) - RRIAK
BIARIERI F BARRTE o

a smaller percentage decrease in the fair
value measurement of the milkable cows,
and vice versa.

FRANE AT RED G AR AL A
BUNF AT EFENB MR -
2R

Anincrease in the estimated daily milk yield
per head used would result in a smaller
percentage increase in the fair value
measurement of the milkable cows, and
vice versa.

FRMEE B8R 8 AN M EH
DERTEFENENLAIRS - R
M e
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40. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 40. AT EFTEw
Valuation techniques used in fair value measurements AR EFEEANGEEL @

(continued)

Inter-relationship between
significant unobservable inputs and

Type Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs fair value measurements
EXTABERAREE
L fhES%E EXFUBRGARE AYEFEZENAERE

Estimated local future market price for raw ~ An increase in the estimated average
milk is RMBA.13 per kg at 31 December ~ selling price of raw milk used would
2020 (2019: RMB4.04 per kg). result in a much higher percentage

20205128318 + [BE EARERY  increase in the fair value measurement
mEASLT AREL13T(2019%F : of the milkable cows, and vice versa.
R ARE404TT) o FRMRE G T EBE TSR

ERTEFSOBALFIEM - k27
Ko

Discount rate for estimated future cash flow An increase in the estimated discount

used is 12.50% at 31 December 2020 rate used would result in a slightly

(2019: 12.30%). smaller percentage decrease in the fair
RONF12A318 AR RRRAER  value measurement of the milkable cows,

ERBRER1250%(2019F : and vice versa.

12.30%) ° FRMHERRE N SHN AT E

TEMBUNMEDITR - K2R
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40. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

40. P EFTE®
E=RMAFEFTENGER

Equity

instruments

at FVTOCI

BEAFEFA

Hih2mWKRAK

fEZTH

RMB'000

ARETIT

Balance at 1 January 2019 FR20194F1 A1 H #4564 2,508
Total gains in OCI REMEEA S =B 5 1,451
At 31 December 2019 M2019512A318 3,959
Total gains in OCI REMEEB AR K EE 1121
At 31 December 2020 7202012 A831H 5,080

The reconciliations from the beginning balances to the
ending balances for fair value measurements of the biological
assets are disclosed in Note 21.

Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
that are not measured at fair value on a recurring
basis

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost in
the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair
values. Such fair values have been determined in accordance
with general accepted pricing model based on discounted
cash flow analysis.

EMEERHEFERBMNEHRENRES

A S B AR R T

5F21 o

VI REFEEUQAFEFTENERE
EREBMEENAFE

EERREEMBEREANRBHRATTEN
TREENTRABENRAERE QA FER
o BRARATFEDNREEBEINEERN

WERBERRES

= E A
MED

FETE -
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41. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 41. EFREE

2020 2019
20205 20194F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT

Capital expenditure contracted but not HBEBEYE - BB MRE

provided for in respect of acquisition of EETAEREHRRER
property, plant and equipment BEARME 20,238 21,474

42. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@) Names and relationship with related parties are as
follows:

A shareholder who directly and
indirectly held 57.69% of the
Company's issued share capital

Mengniu

Jiangyin Dairy Energy  An associate of the Group

(b) Other than as disclosed elsewhere in the financial
statements, at the end of the reporting period, the
Group had the following balances with related parties:

(a)

42. BRI RS

AT 7 Ra B 75 % 78 I B BR gt 75 9 A
% :

B BEEMEEFEEAQT
2 21T I AN 57.69%H) IR
S

LR Hae REB 2B &R A

SREA AR EAM A I REESN - R
WERK - AERERREYTH T4&
B

Amounts due from W E
2020 2019
2020% 20194
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETIT
Mengniu Group S45HE

Trade receivable — raw milk FEWE 5 BRFR — R

Within 30 days based on REZHF30RAR
invoice date 533,750 446,239
Other receivable H fib e s IE - 243
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42. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

42. BEBEHE R Z @

(b) Other than as disclosed elsewhere in the financial (b) BREFBHREREMITOMBFEZEEN R
statements, at the end of the reporting period, the WERR - NEBEEER S A T4
Group had the following balances with related parties: B8R (8
(continued)

Amounts due to A RIE
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARMEF T AREFTT
Jiangyin Dairy Energy LR Hae
Trade payables JERTE R 1,354 -

(c) Other than as disclosed elsewhere in the financial (c) BMUBHFREMIBOAMBPESEN @ R
statements, during the current year, the Group had the RNERE - REEEBAE A LATR
following transactions with related parties: 2

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETTT
Mengniu Group B L
Sales of raw milk HHE RRH) 4,939,178 4,702,150
Others Efh - 2,311
Disposal of equipment HERE - 440
Purchases of liquid milk (Note) IR AR (M) 10,000 -
Jiangyin Dairy Energy AN g
Purchases of power and utilities R R R 2 AR 15,117 =
The sales prices were based on mutually agreed terms. HEEBEEEERHERBEBRRK
Note: During the current year, the Group purchased liquid Mzt : RAFE  AEEBEFEHIK

milk of RMB10,000,000 from Mengniu Group for
donation purpose.

BB R AE I A R 10,000,0007T LA A

RIBHE -
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42. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(d)

42. BB R @

Other borrowings (d) HAsER
During the current year, the Group entered into the RAEE - REBEBABTIZUT
following transactions with related parties: 5 :
Drawdown Repayment As at
As at during during 31 December
Category 1 January 2020 the year the year 2020
R2020F 120205
E:F] 1518 ERRE FRARE 128318
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥TR AR¥TR ARBTR ARBTR
Mengniu Entrusted Loan (Note i) SHZFAER(E) 1,001,330 6,818 (1,008,148) -
Drawdown Repayment As at
As at during during 31 December
Category 1 January 2019 the year the year 2019
120195 R2019%
Rl 1818 FREE EAMR 12A31H
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTR ARBTR ARBTT
Mengniu Entrusted Loan (Note i) FERTER (M) 1,001,111 1,953,364 (1,953,145) 1,001,330
Mengniu Advance (Note ii SR (M) = 155,477 (155,477) =
Notes: BT

The Group entered into several entrusted loan
agreements with Mengniu Group and Agricultural
Bank of China ("ABC") since 2017, pursuant to which,
Mengniu Group provided loans to the Group through
ABC. All the borrowings had been fully repaid during
the current year. The Group recognised interest expense
of RMB6,818,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020
(2019: RMB42,364,000).

AEEBA017FRESFEELTEEE
SRIT([FERBERTIIVLZHETLERR
B SASEEERFEEERITRH
AEERBRER - MBERERFREHR
B8 - REBBEREZE2020F128318 1
FEMFERZ ARS6,818,0007T (2019
F . AR¥EA2,364,0007T) ©
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42. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(d)

Other borrowings (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(e)

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group
entered into several advance payment agreements with
Mengniu Group, pursuant to which, Mengniu Group
agreed to pay in advance RMB150,000,000 to the Group
and the advance payment is limited to be used in the
Group's dairy cow raising business (the "Mengniu
Advance”), which bear interest at a fixed rate of 4.800%
per annum. The Mengniu Advance had been settled
during the year ended 31 December 2019. The Group
recognised interest expense of RMB5,478,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2019.

42. R R Z @
(d) HfER@

BeE - (D)

i, REE2019F 128318 IEFE » K
SEHRFFEEI VS THEMREA
e Bt S4AEERERALSE
[E 78 1 A B #150,000,0007T » F& 1+
FIEERNAEAESENFRAEE
B REBAFRE] - 1£4.800%H) &
FEFEMEFEBEREE2019F12
ABNBLLFELEE - HZE2019F12
A31HLEFE ' NEB#ERFEFH
X AR#5,478,0007T ©

Compensation of key management personnel (e) EEEBEABNHMH
The emoluments of key management during the LTREEZEEERAB RS HRH
reporting period are as follows: &
2020 2019
20204 20194F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMF T ARETTT
Salaries and other benefits e kEMmEF 10,444 10,970
Performance related bonuses FIEMATEAT 76,842 5,520
Recognition of equity-settled share  FERILIREL H B IRE R
option and share award payments i1 SE @ ET BT 3K 10,722 11,805
Retirement benefits scheme RIREFFT B
contributions 656 926
98,664 29,221

P
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

W

A MBRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ 20205 12 A31H IFF/E

43. SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31 December

43. B~ F]
R20204F K% 2019512 A31H » &N A #I M

FRUARME A mHERRAR ()

2020 and 2019 are as follows: BARIFEMOT :
Place of incorporation/  Fully paid capital/
Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital Equity interest attributable to the Company Principal activities
WEATER AMEL/AIBE  BHERA/AREX ARaARERE IERK
2020 2019
2020% 2019
Directly ~Indirectly ~ Directly Indirectly
L 3 B# B
% % % %
Advanced Dairy Company (Luxembourg) Limited  Luxembourg US$138,500,000  100.00 - 100.00 = Investment holding
Advanced Dairy Company (Luxembourg) Limited ~ BZR2 138,500,000 7T RERR
Aquitair The Republic of Ireland US$472,307,046 - 100.00 = 10000 Investment holding
Aquitair FRALAE 123070465 T REBR
Modern Farming (Note i) The PRC RMB3,216,037,950 - 98.18 = 9818 Production of milk
R () (3 i ABRH3.216037.95070 EEL
Asia Dairy Holdings The Cayman Islands US§20  100.00 - 10000 = Investment holding
Asia Dairy Holdings RERE NET REERK
Asia Dairy Holdings Il The Cayman lslands Us§20  100.00 - 100.00 = Investment holding
Asia Dairy Holdings I REkS NET REER
Asia Dairy Trading and Holdings Ltd. Hong Kong HKS5 - 100,00 - 10000 Investment holding
Asia Dairy Trading and Holdings Ltd. &4 SET REBR
Asia Dairy Trading and Holdings Il Ltd. Hong Kong HKS4 - 100,00 - 10000 Investment holding
Asia Dairy Trading and Holdings Il Ltd. &k 487 RESRK
Strong Alliance Investment Holdings Ltd. The British Virgin Islands US§100,000  100.00 - 10000 = Investment holding
Strong Alliance Investment Holdings Ltd. ABRIRS 100,00057T REERK
Well Alliance Investment Holdings Ltd. Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100.00 - 10000 Investment holding
Well Alliance Investment Holdings Ltd. £33 10,0005 7 RERR
Maanshan Modern Farming Dairy Prodluct Sales ~ The PRC RMB20,350,000 - 100.00 = 10000 Sales of milk
Co,, Ltd. (Note i) P AR 20,350,000 HEH



Annual Report 2020 « ZZZEFFH

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 %@i2020¢12ﬂ MNBIEFE

43. SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 43. B‘HE/L\\EI(*E)
Place of incorporation/  Fully paid capital/
Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital  Equity interest attributable to the Company ~ Principal activities
WELAAR AMEY/RIBE  BHERA/RER ARARERE IERK
2020 2019
20205 W19%

Directly ~Indirectly ~ Directly Indirectly
3 & Bi i

% % % %
Shanghe (Note ii The PRC RMBS850,000,000 - 98.18 = 98.18  Breeding dairy cows and
7 (ki H AR 850,000,007 production of mik
HEMF REEH)
Modem Farming (Helingeer) Co,, Ltd. (Note i)~ The PRC RMB93,670,400 - 98.18 - 98.18  Breeding dairy cows and
THRERRUERRAR (W) H AR 936704007 production of mik
AR REEF)
Saibei (Note ii The PRC RMB30,000,000 - 98.18 = 98.18  Breeding dairy cows and
5 (i) ‘:F AR 300000007 production of mik
HENG REEH]
Modern Farming (Zhangjikou) Co., Ltd. (Note i)~ The PRC RMB430,000,000 - 98.18 = 98.18  Breeding dairy cows and
RRBE (RO BRAA (K * AR 430,000,007 production of mik
HEMY
Moder Farming (Wenshang) Co,, Ltd. Note i)~ The PRC RMB55,000,000 - 98.18 - 98.18  Breeding dairy cows and
X ERRARERA R (k) G AR 55,000,007 production of milk
HENEREEL
Moden Farming (Shangzhi) Co,, Ltd. (Note i)~ The PRC RMB55,000,000 - 98.18 S 98.18  Breeding dairy cows and
AR RAAR AR () H AR 55,000,007 production of milk
AENG REEH]
Hongya Moden Farming Co,, Ltd. (Note i The PRC RMB10,000,000 - 98.18 - 98.18  Breeding dairy cows and
EERRHSERA ) EF AR 10,000,007 production of milk
HENEREEL]
Maodern Farming (Chabei) Co., Ltd. (Note ii The PRC RMB100,000,000 - 98.18 - 98.18  Breeding dairy cows and
RHE (B 1) AR AR (i) ‘T‘ AR 100,000,0007C production of milk
ARG REESH)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ 20205 12 A31H IFF/E

43. SUBS'DIARIES (continued)

43. fiB A T w

Place of incorporation/  Fully paid capital/

Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital  Equity interest attributable to the Company ~ Principal activities
WELREE HMAL/ R  CHERE/HMER ARAEERE ITEHR
2020 2019
20205 019
Directly ~Indirectly ~ Directly Indirectly
Ef % E# ik
% % % %
Modern Farming (Baoji) Co., Ltd. (Note i) The PRC RMBA60,000,000 - 98.18 = 98.18  Breeding dairy cows and
R (ER) AR AR (i) H AR 60,000,007 production of milk
HENEREEF]
Moder Farming (Tongshan) Co, Ltd. Notei) ~ The PRC RMB30,000,000 - 98.18 - 98.18  Breeding dairy cows and
BB (RIL) IR AR (i) Gilei AR 30,000,007 production of mik
AR REEF
Modern Farming (Tongliao) Co., Ltd. (Note i) The PRC RMB30,000,000 - 98.18 = 98.18  Breeding dairy cows and
RRBE RE) AR AR () H AR30,000,0007 production of mik
HENSREEF]
Modern Farming (Chabei) Hengsheng Co,, Ltd. ~ The PRC RMB29,000,000 - 98.18 = 98.18  Breeding dairy cows and
(Note i) P AR 29,000,000 production of milk
RRUE (B EEER A0 ) HENEREEF]
Modern Farming (Wuhe) Co,, Ltd. (Note i) The PRC RMB10,000,000 - 98.18 - 98.18  Breeding dairy cows and
BB (L) AR AR (i) G AR 10,000,007 production of milk
WENFREEF]
Modern Farming Anhui (Note ii) The PRC RMB45,000,000 - 99.00 o 9900 Sales of milk
B R (i) EF AR 45,000,000 HEH
Modern Farming (Shuangcheng) Co, Ltd. The PRC RIMB20,000,000 - 98.18 - 98.18  Breeding dairy cows and
(Note i) ki 20,000,000 production of milk
RARIE (S5 AR A7 (W) ARNEREEF
Modern Farming Shanghe Feeding Co,, Ltd. The PRC RMB10,000,000 - 98.18 o 9818 Production of fodder
(Note i) H AR 10,000,007 SRR

BRURHARHBRARHE)

"6
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 #( £ 2020512 A31H L F &

43. SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 43. B‘HE/L\\EI(*E)
Place of incorporation/  Fully paid capital/
Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital  Equity interest attributable to the Company ~ Principal activities
WELAAR AMEY/RIBE  BHERA/RER ARARERE IERK
2020 2019
20205 W19%

Directly ~Indirectly ~ Directly Indirectly
3 & Bi i

% % % %

China Modern Dairy I Ltd. The Cayman lslands Usr00  100.00 - 100.00 = Investment holding
China Modern Dairy I Ltd. REHS 100%7 RESK
China Modern Dairy Il Ltd. The British Virgin Islands US$1.00 - 100.00 - 10000 Investment holding
China Modern Dairy Il Ltd. AERAHE 1057 RABR
China Leading Dairy Ltd. Hong Kong HK$1.00 - 100,00 - 10000 Investment holding
hEERImERAA Bt 10037 REBR
Modern Farming (Bengbu) Dairy Product Sales  The PRC RMB5,000,000 - 99.00 - 99.00  Sales of milk

Co,, Ltd. (Note i) ® AR 5,000,000 BEED
AR (R AR EEERAR ()
Modern Farming (Saibei) Dairy Product Sales The PRC RMB5,000,000 - 99.00 = 9900 Sales of milk

Co,, Ltd. (Note i EF ARIE5,000,0007T HELD
RRNE & AREEERAR ()
Modern Farming (Hefei) Co., Ltd. (Note ii) The PRC RMB40,000,000 - 98.18 - 98.18  Breeding dairy cows and
ARAE (B AR A (W) HE AR 40,000,007 production of milk

AR REEL)

Nanchang Modem Farming Co,, Ltd. (Note i)~ The PRC RMB5,000,000 - 50.07 = 5007 Sales of milk
BERRHEBRAR () # ARE5,000,0007T HELD
Chengdu Modern Farming Dairy Products Sales ~ The PRC RMB1,000,000 - N/A = N/A Sales of milk

Co,, Ltd. (Note ii &iv) 3 AR 10000007 TER MNEE  EEH)
BARR Y mE ERRD A (i Riv)
Wuhan Modern Farming Dairy Products Sales ~ The PRC RMB1,000,000 - 68.73 = 6873 Salesof milk

Co,, Ltd. (Note i) G ARH1,000,0007C HEL

RERRUEARHERRAR M)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ 20205 12 A31H IFF/E

43. SUBS'DIARIES (continued)

43. fiB A T w

Place of incorporation/  Fully paid capital/
Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital  Equity interest attributable to the Company ~ Principal activities
WEAAAR AMEL/RUEE  BHRREA/RER ARARERE IERE
2020 2019
2020% 019F
Directly ~Indirectly ~ Directly  Indirectly
E& [} Bk &
% % % %
Modern Farming (Shenzhen) Sales Company The PRC RMB1,000,000 - N/A = N/A Sales of milk
(Note i &) hE ARH1,0000007 TR TER  BEHD
BB HE R BRA R (i Riv)
Modern Farming (Jinan) Dairy Products Sales The PRC RMB1,000,000 - 73.63 = 7363 Salesof milk
Co, Ltd. (Note1i) f ARE1,0000007C BEFD
RRBR (BB A RHERRAA Kk
Wuhe Energy (Note il The PRC RMB10,000,000 - N/A - 98.18  Power generation
T e (Bakii) G AR#10000,0007 TER RERR
Hefei Energy (Note il The PRC RIMB10,000,000 - N/A - 98.18  Power generation
AR (i) el 10,000,007 ki LEER
Zhangjiakou Muneng Energy Co., Ltd The PRC RIB10,000,000 - 98.18 - N/A~ Power generation
(Note i &) q: ARH10000,0007 TER  EER
Zhangjiakou Muneng Energy Co,, Ltd (P &iifkv)
Zhangjiakou Baita Energy Co,, Ltd (Note ii&v) ~ The PRC RMB10,000,000 - 98.18 - N/A Power generation
Zhangjiakou Baita Energy Co, Ltd (i&iify) & AEE10,0000007 MER  EERR
Zhangjiakou Hengsheng Energy Co,, Ltd The PRC RMB1,000,000 - 98.18 - N/A~ Power generation
(Note it &v) H ARE1,0000007T NER  HENR
Zhangjiakou Hengsheng Energy Co., Ltd
(Hikiiky)
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43. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Notes:

The entity was established in the PRC and became a sino-
foreign investment enterprise.

These entities were established in the PRC as domestic
companies and owned by Modern Farming.

Wuhe Energy and Hefei Energy was established in July 2019
by injecting certain assets and liabilities spun off from Modern
Farming (Wuhe) Co., Ltd. and Modern Farming (Hefei) Co., Ltd.
and were disposed of to an associate of the Group in January
2020 (Note 36).

Modern Farming (Shenzhen) Sales Company was deregistered
in April 2019. Chengdu Modern Farming Dairy Products Sales
Co., Ltd was deregistered in August 2019.

These entities were established in July 2020 by injecting
certain assets and liabilities spun off from Modern Farming
(Zhangjiakou) Co., Ltd., Modern Farming (Chabei) Co., Ltd. and
Modern Farming (Chabei) Hengsheng Co., Ltd., respectively.

43. fiB A T w
gt -

BEREFBEKY  WRABTIMNEE B

i ZEERETEMNKY  ERERRR - H
BRBEGEEES -

i. BEEAHIFRABEEN) BRAA
FERBEGBE)BRARMENETE
ENEE  AARERNMAEEERRK201947
AR 20204 1 B & T AN & B — R B
BN A (HFE36) °

v.  BARBEHECRIDARARN2019547
BN - RBRAKEARBEEERA
RIF20196F8 A BUSH LM -

v.  BBOIEABAIFRABRECRRD)A
RAFE - BREEXEILDARITARAR
HEERIDEFEFERAFMFNE TEE
RAfE  ZSERR202057 KL
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ 20205 12 A31H IFF/E

44. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY-OWNED 44. BEERFEZEREZNIFZEN
SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL BRRINFER
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned TREGNEBERFERERNTEEIESR
subsidiary of the Group that have material non-controlling BT R A RS
interests:

Place of Proportion of
incorporation and ownership interests and
principal place of voting rights held by Profit for the year allocated to Accumulated
Name of subsidiary business non-controlling interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
AR 3L 3 B IR FERRER
(i) NGEL: IREXBA FEfARRERRRELS  FEEFZRESNFARN PHEZY 5
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
2020% 2019F 20205 219F 20205 20195

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARETT  ARBTR  ARETR

Modern Farming The PRC

AR (RE) T 1.82% 1.82% 13,351 8074 141,448 126,111
Summarised financial information in respect of the Group's FRREEENFERERNASEN B R
subsidiary that has material non-controlling interests is set BB ERI 20T - TXHBERHERE
out below. The summarised financial information below SEARFEEINESE

represents amounts before intragroup eliminations.

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

Current assets MENVE E 3,341,565 3,043,245
Non-current assets EMENEE 12,173,126 12,514,778
Current liabilities nBBE (4,663,511) (5,508,174)
Non-current liabilities FERBEE (3,078,643) (3,118,536)
Equity attributable to owners of N/NCIEZ Z DNy

the Company 7,758,316 6,917,094
Non-controlling interests FEFE I = 14,221 14,219
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44. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY-OWNED

SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)

BARNFBw®

44. ERERFEZERESHNIFZEK

Year ended Year ended

31/12/2020 31/12/2019

HZ20205 EHZ=2019F

12A31BLFEE 12A3BLEFE

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR®TR AREF T

Revenue A 6,020,247 5,514,210

Expenses X 5,287,979 5,070,686
Profit attributable to owners of KAREE ARRGEF

the Company 732,266 442,830

Profit attributable to the non-controlling FE1E AR 2 A Vs A

interests 2 694

Net cash inflow from operating activities KBRS R AR 1,944,037 1,652,017

Net cash outflow from investing activities REEEIA R R (815,466) (961,247)

Net cash outflow from financing activities BMEEBR S ML FEE (948,599) (525,476)

Net cash inflow REMNEHE 179,972 165,294
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45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 45. AR RNM BRI KRR & E
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
Information about the financial position of the Company at RBERMREBBARAATTBARAHER B
the end of the reporting period includes: ¥E
2020 2019
2020F 20194F
RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARBETT

NON-CURRENT ASSETS EMBEE
Investments in subsidiaries HERKIB AR 6,682,567 6,574,731
Amounts due from subsidiaries I EIEINGIE 2,323,991 3,045,771
9,006,558 9,620,502
CURRENT ASSETS MEEE
Prepayments and other receivables TR FRIE K EoAth FE U FR IR 777 583
Bank balances and cash RITEHRERS 156,267 172,917
Derivative financial instruments PTEERmIA 11,145 85,207
168,189 258,707
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEaE
Other payables H b FETFRIE 7,960 2,142
Amounts due to subsidiaries JFEAST B B A B ZRIE 22,873 24,251
Bank borrowings — within one year RITEBER - —FR 1,031,784 2,083,136
Derivative financial instruments PTHESRTA 58,191 15,274
1,120,808 2,124,803
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES mENBEFRE (952,619) (1,866,096)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #&ERRBIBE 8,053,939 7,754,406
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BAR N
Share capital % 555,535 551,007
Reserves Fe 6,191,785 6,107,568
TOTAL EQUITY B 6,747,320 6,658,575
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBEE
Bank borrowings RITE K 1,285,028 1,095,831
Derivative financial instruments PTEemIA 21,591 -
8,053,939 7,754,406
LU Minfang GAO Lina
E &K =SB
Director Director
BEFE BFE

2>
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45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

w3

45. KRR AR R Tk K @

Movements in equity EREE
Share Share
Share Share Other options award  Accumulated
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total
EhE

k& R#EE  Ethf e RORERE ZithE gt

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTL  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  AR%TR  ARETR

Balance at 1 January 2019 R09E1R1BfES 526,058 4,641,066 1,382,199 5286 23,163 (100,163 6,477,609

Loss and total comprehensive FRBERZERTAE

expense for the year = = = = = (114,016) (114,016)
Reversal duetovestngof award ~ ERBIRHEEMEE

shares - - - - (43,806) (16,029) (59,835)
Recognition of equity-settled share- R ERRELE LRI

based payment transactions SULRESY = = = = 25,553 = 25,553

Ordinary shares issued BETLAR 24,949 304,315 - - - - 309,264

Balance at 31 December 2019 RO9E12ANBMES 551,007 4945381 1,382,199 5,286 4910 (230,208) 6,658,575

Profit and total comprehensive ERETIRRER L

income for the year - - - - - 52,556 52,556
Reversal duetovestng of award ~~ EREIR(HEEMAE

shares - - - - (24,227) (5,333) (29,560)
Recognition of equity-settled share- R ERRELE LRI

based payment transactions SULRESY - - - - 26,806 - 26,806

Exercise of Management Options ~ {1E S B ERRIE 4,528 39,701 - (5,286) - - 38,943

Balance at 31 December 2020 RANE12ANBMES 555,535 4,985,082 1,382,199 - 7489 (182,985) 6,747,320

~
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46. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 46. SEHIREE
The Group had the following significant events after the REBNREPNEFEEUTEKREIE :

reporting period:

(@ On 27 January 2021, an aggregate of 650,000,000
new shares have been successfully placed to certain
independent third parties at the placing price of
HK$2.40 per share and the net proceeds from the
placing amounted to approximately HK$1,552 million.
The Company intends to apply the net proceeds
from the placing on infrastructure development and
herd expansion, potential mergers and acquisitions
and general working capital. After completion of the
placing, Mengniu directly and indirectly held 52.41% of
the Company's issued share capital.

(b)  On 22 March 2021, the Company entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with certain sellers (the “Sellers”)
and Inner Mongolia Fuyuan International Industrial
(Group) Co. Ltd. (the "Fuyuan”), pursuant to which
the Sellers agreed to sell, and the Company agreed
to purchase, the entire equity interests in Fuyuan at a
total consideration of RMB3,480,000,000, which shall be
satisfied by a combination of cash and allotment and

R20219F1 8278 » 4 650,000,000
BRI B RN IR B A% 2. 4078 0 )&
TRIYIEF=FEE  EEZTEMSEXR
TEFEEA1,552B &8 7T ° NARETE
BERESEMERIBFEARERE
RARMBRERERIE  BEMHER
—REEES RMEBEENE 5
TEELEERBEAEEDEITRA
52.41% o

M2021F3A22H » ARREEFEHEH
([BAFDEREhEREBRESE(KEH)
BRABIIERDIILEERZ B
- BEFRELE AARFRERE
BEERNEHRE  BRREAARK
3,480,000,0007C * ZEREHEME
HEBSTUEAR S AT NEIT
RABBROEATAZNT - LiZ 5

issue of shares of the Company under two settlement B ETRBIET ARG ERBER
scenarios. The above transaction constituted a major 5 WERARRIBER2021F3 A4
and connected transaction of the Company under the 228 ) A EREEAM -

Listing Rules and has been published in the Company's
announcement dated 22 March 2021.

e
=254 >
& 4



The following is a summary of the published audited consolidated
financial statement of China Modern Dairy Holdings Limited and its
subsidiaries for the respective years.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBHE

AT RFERABEZERERARREME AR
REAFENE N REEXREMBHRRAOM
Eo

RESULTS ¥E
For the year ended 31 December BE12H31HILFE
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
20205 20195 20184 20175 20165
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETT ARETRT ARETT ARETR
Revenue WA 6,020,247 5,514,210 4,956,811 4,783,801 4,862,311
Profit/(loss) before finance costs BRERE RN R BB A
and tax R/ (B8) 1,103,028 727,208 (167,038) (666,479) (416,409)
Finance costs BEMA (318,624) (376,795) (338,622) (328,395) (368,582)
Profit/(loss) before tax BRAER/ (BB) 784,404 350,413 (505,660) (994,874) (784,991)
Income tax expense SRR (639) (556) (513) 27 (504)
Profit/(loss) for the year FREF/ (B8) 783,765 349,857 (506,173) (994,847) (785,495)
Profit/(loss) for the year NTEHEAER
attributable to: A/ (EE) -
Owners of the Company ARAHERA 770,010 341,270 (494,088) (975,116) (742,103)
Non-controlling interests JEERE R 13,755 8,587 (10,085) (19,731) (43,392)
783,765 349,857 (506,173) (994,847) (785,495)
Earnings/(loss) per share (RMB) SREAN/ (FR)(ARE)
Basic (cents) R (%) 12.07 5.54 (8.15) (16.19) (13.99)
Diluted (cents) BE(%) 12.04 5.52 (8.15) (16.19) (13.99)

5
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As at 31 December R12H31H
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
20205 20195 201845 20175 2016F
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR
Assets and liabilities EERER
Property, plant and equipment nE - BERSE 3,317,719 3,455,068 3,920,685 4,698,736 5,075,030
Right-of-use assets FREEE 303,849 320,161 - - -
Land use rights TR - = 117,220 125,802 126,679
Goodwill HE 1,322,457 1,371,266 1,398,589 1,424,539 1,424,539
Interest in associates N AENGIE 289,860 215,392 180,913 - 1,887
Equity instruments at FVTOCI BAHEAREE
WARERTA 5,080 3,959 2,508 - -
Pledged bank deposits BEREATER 122,706 = = = =
Bank balances FI1E% 20,637 - - - -
Available-for-sale equity investment A ERERE - = = 12,934 24,955
Biological assets EMEE 7,101,243 7,459,359 7,717,113 7,751,070 7,602,959
Net current liabilities THEETE (1,881,191) (3,537,886) (3,883,813) (3,181,917) (4,272,464)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERTHAR 10,602,360 9,287,319 9,453,215 10,831,164 9,983,585
Non-current liabilities ERBAE (2,563,916) (2,079,618) (2,899,082) (3,742,735) (2,860,689)
NET ASSETS BEFE 8,038,444 7,207,701 6,554,133 7,088,429 7,122,89
Capital and reserves BEXRG#E
Share capital A 555,535 551,007 526,058 526,058 452959
Share premium and reserves RiDEEREE 7,341,388 6,530,510 5,919,237 6,443,064 6,568,554
Equity attributable to owners of NS 2 NG
the Company % 7,896,923 7,081,517 6,445,295 6,969,122 7,021,513
Non-controlling interests FRRER 141,521 126,184 108,838 119,307 101,383
TOTAL EQUITY aER 8,038,444 7,207,701 6,554,133 7,088,429 7,122,896

o>
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